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Corporate Information
NEIEHR
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Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob
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Corporate Profile
AR

The Company is a research-driven and market-oriented biopharmaceutical
company with 30 years’ experience in the pharmaceutical industry in
China.

With solid infrastructures in drug development, clinical development,
regulatory, manufacturing, sales and marketing, the Group has
established extensive partnerships with around 30 international companies
and currently markets over 25 proprietary, generic and licensed-in
pharmaceutical products in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan.

The Group focuses on several key therapeutic areas such as cardiovascular
health, woman’s health, paediatrics, rare diseases, oncology, dermatology,
and obstetrics. It maintains a strong and carefully curated project
pipeline under different development stages stemming from both internal
research and development as well as from the licensing of development,
commercialisation, and manufacturing rights from various United States,
European and Japanese companies.

The Group carries out its sales and distribution activities in Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and Mainland China through Hong Kong and Taiwan offices
and branch offices in Chongging, Guangzhou, Shanghai and Beijing with
direct and channel sales network covering most of the provinces and
cities in Mainland China, marketing both domestic self-developed and
generic products and overseas licensed-in products. Zhaoke Hefei is
currently operating the manufacturing plant of the Group located in Hefei,
Anhui Province of the PRC, comprising four GMP-compliant workshops
for the production of topical gel, lyophilised powder for injection, small
volume parenteral solutions and eye gel. Zhaoke Guangzhou is currently
operating the manufacturing site in Nansha District, Guangzhou of the PRC
which include a complete range of solid dosage production lines for the
development and manufacturing of tablets and capsules.

The mission of the Group is to become a successful biopharmaceutical

group in Asia providing innovative products to fight diseases and improve
health and quality of life.
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Currently, the Group has the following products in markets:

Corporate Profile
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Country Mainland
of origin China Taiwan Medical application
FR it FEIRM 88 BEAR
Proprietary products:
EREM :
* Livaracine® PRC v Blood clots and deep vein thrombosis
(iEE®) H MR R R ER AR AR ML
* Nadroparin Calcium PRC v Blood clots and deep vein thrombosis
Injection
AR5 THR H MR R R ERARAR M A2
(IEE®)
* Slounase® PRC v Hemostasis
(Gr%8%) HE ol
Socazolimab Injection PRC v Recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer
RREMNEFULEIR T EEMEREEERE
(BERE®)
Yallaferon® PRC 4 Viral infection
(LER®) HE WERERR
Licensed-in products:
SIEEmM :
Adasuve® USA 4 Agitation associated with schizophrenia
or bipolar I disorder in adults
(Adasuve®) xH PR RG89 B S AR R R 1A /0 AE
B3
* Bredinin® Japan v Immunosuppression in renal
transplantation
(hRa%Ee) B MHIBEBENER R E
Centraxal® Plus Spain v v/ Acute otitis media with tympanostomy
tubes
{Centraxal® Plus) FIF HERREENSMEREL
Dicoflor® Italy Probiotics
{Dicoflor®) BAM R
Ferplex® Spain 4 Iron deficiency anemia
GEE®) (i %7g HREIEE M
Intrarosa® Canada Vulvovaginal atrophy
{Intrarosa®) meEX SN EELE
Lutrate Spain Prostate cancer
{Lutrate) FIRF gl
Mictonorm® Germany 4 Urinary incontinence
(BEHS) 2k FRRZE
Natulan® Germany v Stage III and IV Hodgkin’s disease
(FBR®) 2 E-RENBEFT SR
Nitric Oxide for USA v Hypoxic respiratory failure associated
Inhalation with pulmonary hypertension
—SERARAERE £S5 HRE B IR = B IEE T R EE
Omacor® Norway Omega-3-acid ethyl esters
{Omacor®) i Omega-3% 7 B
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Corporate Profile

NI
Market
w5
Country Mainland Hong
of origin China Kong Macau Taiwan Medical application
RRit FEIR B 15! A BEAZ
Readyfusor™ Germany 4 Post-operative pain management
(Readyfusor™) = MiEEmER
Sancuso® USA v Chemotherapy induced nausea and
vomiting
(EmEFe) xH L BERT S| R BRE O R IR
* Teglutik® Spain v v v v Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
(REFIE®) AT W ZE R R
* Trittico® Italy v v 4 Insomnia/Depression
(HFFIR®) BARM KR EE
VSL#3® Italy v 4 v/ Probiotics
(VSL#3®) BEAH wER
Zanidip® Italy v v Hypertension
(BEY®) BEAF = [0 B
Zingo® Hong Kong v v 4 Topical local analgesics
(Zingo®) e R B
Generic products:
hREm
* Apremilast Tablets PRC v Plaque psoriasis
KA (ERLES)  $E SR RE A
* Azilsartan Tablets PRC v Hypertension
I iE R (EETe) e =M
* Fondaparinux Sodium  PRC v Deep vein thrombosis
Injection
TSN T 5T H RED BRI
(855
Sodium Phenylbutyrate PRC v Urea cycle disorders
Granules
RKTENEN(RAHTS) PE RERREE
* Treprostinil Injection PRC v Pulmonary arterial hypertension

EhATSIERTSTR i
(Wikm®)

* In the NRDL
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Financial Highlighfs L
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2024 2023 Change
—EopgE —E-=4F HE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
T Fi T
Revenue Wz 1,399,969 1,053,034 +32.9%
Gross profit EH) 753,355 551,311 +36.6%
Profit attributable to the owners of the A RIHA AEIGEF
Company 93,099 16,698 +457.5%
Equity attributable to the owners of the ZAARIHA AEGEZR
Company 1,651,799 2,038,955 -19.0%
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
Earnings per share BREF
Basic E=N 2.84 +456.7%
Diluted e 2.84 +456.7%
Dividend per share EARAE
Interim il 0.8
Final RER 1.0
Total et 1.8 150.0%
Dividend payout ratio AR BORAT L& 63.4%
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Financial Highlights
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REVENUE (HK$'000)
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RESULTS

Revenue Wozs

Cost of sales HERAK

Gross profit EF

Other income HipA

Other gains and losses, net HihsREEFE
Selling and distribution expenses HERDEER
Administrative expenses THER

(Provision for)/Reversal of expected
credit losses, net

BHEEEREE)/REFE

Research and development expenses  HiZERFHEER
Profit from operations EERET
Finance costs BIRA

Share of results of associates AEBENTER
Profit before taxation BRBLATE T
Taxation o

Profit for the year KEERF
Attributable to: THIATRELS -
Owners of the Company ADREBA
Non-controlling interests FeE iR

FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets FEREEE

Current assets MENEE

Current liabilities nEEE

Net current assets MEEEFE

Non-current liabilities FREaE

Net assets BEFE

Equity attributable to the owners RATHEE AEEER
of the Company

Non-controlling interests FRRER

Total equity s

Five-Year Financial Summary

2024
—E2=-mE
HK$'000

THx

1,399,969
(646,614)

753,355

62,450
(22,542)
(387,292)
(195,298)

(13,702)
(83,829)

113,142
(14,190)
(839)

98,113
(29,501)

68,612

93,099
(24,487)

68,612

2024
—B-mE
HK$'000

THx

1,833,281
784,585
(771,254)

13,331
(297,706)
1,548,906

1,651,799
(102,893)

1,548,906

REPREE ~

ES

For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020
—T-=f B S ZTZ-F i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TEL FHT FHT
1,053,034 1,233,148 1,266,157 1,216,716
(501,723) (462,393) (459,873) (435,650)
551,311 770,755 806,284 781,066
77,257 73,734 102,323 150,587
5,977 (54,427) 2,067,799 (57,588)
(304,296) (346,467) (366,439) (279,947)
(188,612) (198,413) (297,265) (237,721)
(1,280) 263 (90,284) (1,180)
(96,804) (168,885) (243,835) (203,294)
43,553 76,560 1,978,583 151,923
(11,898) (7,595) (5,722) (6,472)
(870) (1,104) (3,495) (11,414)
30,785 67,861 1,969,366 134,037
(10,836) (22,026) (9,482) (55,503)
19,949 45,835 1,959,884 78,534
16,698 51,284 1,987,176 129,316
3,251 (5,449) (27,292) (50,782)
19,949 45,835 1,959,884 78,534
B AR R
As at 31 December
W+=A=t+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-=F —E-CF B —E-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TET FHT FHT
2,234,040 2,130,394 2,673,578 2,013,825
656,627 651,634 963,320 1,239,096
(648,818) (650,104) (922,580) (944,049)
7,809 1,530 40,740 295,047
(281,251) (289,400) (323,156) (193,494)
1,960,598 1,842,524 2,391,162 2,115,378
2,038,955 1,924,107 2,464,578 2,149,795
(78,357) (81,583) (73,416) (34,417)
1,960,598 1,842,524 2,391,162 2,115,378
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Dear Shareholders,

I am delighted to present the annual report for 2024 on behalf of the
Company and the Board.

In 2024, the Chinese pharmaceutical industry was marked by rapid
growth and significant innovation. This progress was driven by an
aging population with increasing medical needs and strong government
support for healthcare innovations. While the market grows, propelled
by breakthroughs in biologics and Al-driven drug discovery, it also faces
challenges such as pricing reforms, VBP policies, and global geopolitical
issues like trade tensions. Meanwhile, the agility of the NMPA in aligning
with international standards and expediting approval processes has
accelerated the availability of advanced therapies, especially in oncology
and rare diseases.

In such a dynamic and challenging environment, 2024 marked a
transformative year for the Group. Through resilient implementation
efforts, the Group achieved a profit attributable to the Shareholders of
HK$93.1 million in 2024, a remarkable increase from HK$16.7 million
in the prior year, after overcoming challenges. Basic earnings per share
surged to HK15.81 cents, up from HK2.84 cents in 2023, reflecting the
strength of our strategic execution. To reward Shareholders for their
steadfast support, the Board has recommended a final dividend of HK2.5
cents per share, which, combined with the interim dividend of HK2.0 cents
per share, brings the total dividend for the year to HK4.5 cents per share,
a 150% increase over 1.8 HK cents in 2023. Subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, the final dividend will be paid on 16
June 2025.

These results were driven by a historical revenue milestone of nearly
HK$1.4 billion in 2024, representing 32.9% year-on-year growth. This
impressive performance reflects our ability to navigate transitional
challenges in recent years, including the expiration of legacy licensed
product agreements and the time required to scale newly launched
products. Having emerged decisively from this adjustment period, our
growth is now underpinned by a balanced and resilient portfolio, with
strong contributions from licensed-in, in-house, and high-quality generic
products. This success underscores the strategic value of our diversified
approach, which positions us for sustained momentum.

In addition to our strategic sales initiatives, our manufacturing capabilities
are also critical to our success. A cornerstone of these capabilities is our
state-of-the-art Nansha manufacturing facilities, established since 2015,
which represent a significant investment in our production infrastructure.
These facilities, equipped with advanced production lines for a diverse
range of drug formulations, uphold the highest standards of quality and
efficiency. Alongside our Hefei sites, the progressive development of the
Nansha facility has further bolstered our product portfolio. By 2024, this
investment began to bear fruit, with an array of marketable products
emerging and starting to contribute meaningfully to our revenue.
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Our drug development pipeline continues to advance, focusing on
major therapeutic areas such as cardiovascular health, women's health,
paediatrics, rare diseases, dermatology, obstetrics, and oncology. During
the Reporting Year, we obtained approvals for 2 new products. Building on
this momentum, subsequent to the Reporting Year, we received approval
for Ciprofloxacin Hydrochloride and Fluocinolone Acetonide Ear Drops,
further strengthening our market presence and expanding our product
offerings. Currently, the CDE is reviewing the ANDA/NDA of 4 projects,
including Prasterone and PD-L1 for Small Cell Lung Cancer, reflecting
significant progress in our pipeline. Our R&D strategy focuses on delivering
innovative treatments while ensuring marketability and profitability,
and we also eliminate unsuitable projects to optimise our resources and
efforts, positioning us for sustained growth. As part of this process, HK$19
million has been recognised as non-recurring impairment charges in the
Reporting Year.

As part of our long-standing plan to streamline asset efficiency and
restructure non-core holdings, the resumption of land assets in Nansha
under the December 2024 compensation agreement, aligned with
government urban planning initiatives, will allow us to free up capital once
the compensation is received, thereby enhancing our future cash flow and
supporting our core pharmaceutical priorities.

In the journey of Al-driven innovation applications, we have collaborated
with Auransa Inc., a U.S.-based Al-driven pharmaceutical company
dedicated to developing precision medicines in areas of significant unmet
need, to manufacture its AU409, a novel, Al-derived drug, targeting
advanced hepatocellular carcinoma, at our facility in China under stringent
U.S. FDA standards. We are also conducting its Phase I clinical trial, with
the first patient enrolled at Hong Kong's Queen Mary Hospital in July
2024. The trial is expected to conclude by the second quarter of 2025,
and the results will support China’s new drug registration thereof. This
collaboration marks the beginning of a new approach to drug discovery,
and we will further strengthen our cooperation with Auransa Inc. in the
field of Al

Amid industry complexities, we are committed to leveraging domestic R&D
expertise and forming strategic partnerships to provide affordable, high-
quality therapies. This ensures that we effectively navigate the industry's
challenges and contribute meaningfully to improving patient outcomes and
supporting China's efforts in advancing life sciences.

In conclusion, despite the ongoing challenges, we remain committed to
long-term growth through cost optimisation and maintaining high-quality
standards. By focusing on sustainability, supply chain resilience, and
continuous technology improvement, we are well-positioned to navigate
the evolving industry landscape.
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHE

Our dedication to improving patient outcomes and supporting the
advancement of life sciences remains unwavering, while we diligently
strive to deliver decent returns to our shareholders. In this regard, I would
like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to our dedicated employees, loyal
customers, valued business partners, and supportive Shareholders for
their continued trust and confidence.

Yours sincerely,

Lee Siu Fong
Chairman
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue and Profit

The Group recorded revenue of HK$1,399,969,000 for the Reporting
Year, representing a substantial increase of 32.9% compared to the prior
year’s revenue of HK$1,053,034,000. Licensed-in products continued to
deliver strong results, with sales amounting to HK$553,237,000 (2023:
HK$467,276,000), contributing 39.5% (2023: 44.4%) of the Group’s
total revenue. Proprietary and generic products also demonstrated strong
momentum, with combined sales totalling HK$846,732,000 (2023:
HK$585,758,000), accounting for 60.5% (2023: 55.6%) of the Group’s
revenue.

Licensed-in products delivered notable growth, with Bredinin® achieving
a 24.5% increase in sales to HK$133.8 million and Teglutik® recording a
remarkable sales growth of 143.4%, reaching HK$20.7 million. Trittico®
also demonstrated significant progress, with sales surging 137.8% to
HK$120.7 million, while Ferplex remained a key contributor with sales of
HK$185.8 million, despite a year-on-year decline of 9.3%.

In-house products excelled, with Nadroparin Calcium Injection ((Z#E%E®), a
VBP product, achieving an outstanding 130.4% growth, with sales reaching
HK$192.7 million. Yallaferon rebounded strongly with a 12.8% increase,
recording sales of HK$254.8 million. Generic products also performed well,
with total sales increasing 59.9% to HK$255.6 million, led by Treprostinil
Injection’s (WEFAI®) robust growth of 62.3%, achieving sales of HK$184.4
million.

The Group achieved a record-high revenue during the Reporting Year,
showcasing its resilience and adaptability in addressing transitional
challenges from prior years. These include the expiration of legacy
licensed-in product agreements, and the time required to scale newly
launched products. Through strategic execution, a commitment to
innovation, and the optimisation of its product portfolio, the Group has
not only overcome these hurdles but also delivered impressive results that
position it for long-term growth and success.

During the Reporting Year, the Group achieved a gross profit of
HK$753,355,000, representing a substantial increase of 36.6% compared
to HK$551,311,000 in the prior year. The gross profit margin improved
to 53.8%, up from 52.4% in 2023, reflecting enhanced profitability and
operational efficiencies. The increase in gross profit was achieved despite
ongoing challenges, including pressures on supply costs and the continued
inclusion of products under the VBP programme, which typically carry
lower profit margins. These results highlight the Group’s ability to adapt
and optimise its operations to deliver improved financial performance
while navigating a competitive market environment.
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The Group spent a total of HK$193,085,000 on R&D activities,
representing 13.8% of annual revenue (2023: HK$219,849,000 or 20.9%
of revenue). Of this amount, HK$83,829,000 (2023: HK$96,804,000) was
recognised as expenses, while HK$109,256,000 (2023: HK$123,045,000)
was capitalised as intangible assets. The reduction in R&D expenditure
reflects the Group’s strategic focus on balancing investment in innovation
with financial discipline. Key R&D activities included the development of
new drugs across major therapeutic areas such as cardiovascular health,
women’s health, paediatrics, rare diseases, dermatology, and obstetrics,
with oncology handled by a dedicated R&D arm. Although overall R&D
spending has decreased, the Group remains firmly dedicated to long-
term growth by channeling investments into high-potential projects. This
focused approach enables the Group to drive innovation while safeguarding
a strong and stable financial position for future endeavours.

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses amounted to
HK$387,292,000 during the Reporting Year, reflecting an increase of
HK$82,996,000 or 27.3% compared to the previous year, where expenses
totalled HK$304,296,000. The selling expenses to revenue ratio improved
to 27.7% compared to 28.9% in the prior year, demonstrating the Group’s
efficient allocation of resources. This increase in expenses was mainly
attributable to expanded efforts for the launch and promotion of new
products, alongside investments in strengthening distribution channels and
executing brand-building initiatives for selected products.

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s administrative expenses totalled
HK$195,298,000, representing an increase of HK$6,686,000 or 3.5%
compared to the previous year, where expenses were HK$188,612,000.
The Group remains committed to operating its business efficiently and
effectively, implementing cost-saving measures to enhance operational
performance and profitability while carefully managing expenditure.

The net profit attributable to the owners of the Company in 2024 was
HK$93,099,000, a substantial improvement from HK$16,698,000 in
2023, despite several factors impacting the overall result. These included
a provision for the diminution in value of the land use rights in Nansha
under resumption, amounting to HK$6,705,000, a provision for losses
related to a financial guarantee issued for an associate amounting to
HK$12,967,000, and an impairment loss of HK$19,195,000 recognised in
relation to the elimination of certain R&D projects during the Reporting
Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Manufacturing Facilities and Production
Capability

The Group’s manufacturing facilities have achieved significant
advancements in production capabilities and efficiency. At the Hefei site,
previous equipment upgrades have enabled the facility to focus on critical
inspections, including U.S. FDA site inspections and Good Manufacturing
Practice (GMP) compliance for specific products. During the Reporting
Year, a new pre-filled production line became operational, significantly
boosting capacity for VBP products, namely Fondaparinux Sodium
Injection (32#%®) and Nadroparin Calcium Injection ((Z#&®). The Hefei
facility recorded a remarkable 34% increase in total production volume in
2024 compared to the prior year, including an impressive 77% surge in
pre-filled syringe production volume. This growth was driven by production
mode optimisation, improved yields, and efficient equipment maintenance.
Meanwhile, the Nansha site successfully scaled up production of Azilsartan
Tablets (# £ ¥ ®) and advanced validation batch production for Fentanyl
aerosol inhalation, following the success of its Phase II clinical trial. Both
manufacturing sites remain steadfast in their commitment to enhancing
production by improving yields, conserving energy, reducing costs,
and boosting efficiency to meet the demands of an evolving market
environment.

Drug Development

The Group currently maintains a strong and carefully curated project
pipeline, spanning early- to late-stage development, with a focus on
selecting and advancing high-potential opportunities.

Major Therapeutic Areas

The Group is currently developing several assets across major therapeutic
areas, including cardiovascular health, women’s health, paediatrics, rare
diseases, dermatology, and obstetrics, which includes late-stage programs
such as (1) the NDA for Intrarosa® in the treatment of vulvovaginal
atrophy (VVA); (2) ANDA for Sugammadex Sodium Injection; and (3)
ANDA for Melphalan Hydrochloride for Injection. Additionally, the Group is
pursuing R&D projects in rare diseases, such as Neridronate Sodium for
Osteogenesis imperfecta and Anfibatide for Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic
Purpura, as well as in oncology pain management with a Fentanyl drug-
device combination.
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Oncology Pipeline

China Oncology Focus Limited ("COF”), a 65% owned subsidiary of the
Group, serves as the Group’s R&D arm and is a clinical development stage
company specialising in oncology, with a particular focus on immuno-
oncology. COF has successfully built a robust pipeline of oncology assets,
comprising 6 innovative assets and 4 generics, developed through a
combination of internal R&D efforts and licensing agreements, including
Socazolimab, which was licensed-in Socazolimab and has since been fully
acquired during the Reporting Year.

Following the conditional approval of Socazolimab Injection ( & & & ©),
an anti-PD-L1 antibody used for treating recurrent or metastatic cervical
cancer in the prior year, COF submitted an indication expansion application
to the NMPA on 28 June 2024. This submission is based on results from
a Phase III multicenter, randomised, double-blinded, placebo-controlled
clinical trial of Socazolimab combined with chemotherapy for the first-line
treatment of extensive-stage small-cell lung cancer (ES-SCLC).

Moreover, COF is advancing multiple programs, including late-stage trials
for osteosarcoma, early-phase trials for glioblastoma, mid- to early-phase
evaluations for ovarian, small-cell lung, and pancreatic cancers, and
combination trials for melanoma using an oncolytic virus. These efforts
reflect COF’s commitment to addressing critical needs in oncology through
innovative solutions.

AI-Driven Drug Discovery

In addition, the Group is embarking on a groundbreaking journey in Al-
driven drug discovery, partnering with Auransa Inc. to manufacture
AU409, an Al-derived drug targeting advanced hepatocellular carcinoma,
at its China facility under U.S. FDA standards. Furthermore, the Group
is conducting the Phase I clinical trial for AU409, which began in July
2024 and is expected to conclude by the second quarter of 2025. This
collaboration marks a new era in Al-driven drug discovery, with plans to
deepen cooperation with Auransa Inc. in this field.

New Products Approval

During the year under review and up to date, the Group obtained 3
registration certificate approvals from NMPA.

Levocarnitine Injection
In February 2024, Levocarnitine Injection (5ml: 1g) has obtained drug

registration approval granted by the NMPA and is deemed to have passed
the consistency evaluation of quality and efficacy of generic drugs.

Epinastine Hydrochloride Tablets
In May 2024, Epinastine Hydrochloride Tablets (20mg) has obtained drug

registration approval granted by the NMPA and is deemed to have passed
the consistency evaluation of quality and efficacy of generic drugs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Ciprofloxacin Hydrochloride and Fluocinolone Acetonide
Ear Drops

In January 2025, Ciprofloxacin Hydrochloride and Fluocinolone Acetonide
Ear Drops has obtained drug registration approval granted by the NMPA
and are indicated for the treatment of acute otitis externa ("AOE”) and
acute otitis media with tympanostomy tubes ("AOMT").

Sales and Marketing

In response to the growing competition within the business environment,
the Group has focused on strengthening its sales and marketing
capabilities. Recognising the critical importance of market access, the
Group has invested in equipping its market access team with the skills
and expertise needed to navigate the complex healthcare environment
in mainland China. These proactive efforts have started yielding positive
results, contributing to the successful inclusion of key products in major
programs like the NRDL and VBP. The Group’s products Treprostinil
Injection (A HEM®), Teglutik®, and Trittico® were included in the updated
NRDL in the prior year, with Treprostinil Injection (A EF®) emerging as
a key revenue driver, and Trittico® and Teglutik® showing strong growth.
Notably, Treprostinil Injection (FiE®) and Teglutik® reflect the Group’s
emphasis on addressing rare diseases in recent years, further supporting
a well-balanced and diversified product portfolio. This shift has not only
enhanced the Group’s market position but also expanded its offerings to
meet unmet medical needs.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has also achieved procurement platform
listings in most of the provinces for two key new products: Socazolimab
Injection ( & % 4 ®) and the Adapalene and Clindamycin Combination Gel
(23 %®), which are expected to drive future growth.

To date, a total of 10 products from the Group have been successfully
included in the updated NRDL, with 2 also featured in the VBP program.
This highlights the Group’s ongoing commitment to broadening market
access and enhancing patient affordability.

Corporate Development

On 27 December 2024, the Group finalised the resumption of land use
rights for a parcel in Nansha District, Guangzhou, designated for medical
and sanitary purposes. The total compensation of RMB89.2 million
(approximately HK$94.6 million) was calculated based on the land’s
original acquisition cost and an idle land levy. While the resumption
is expected to result in an estimated impairment of approximately
HK$6.7 million recognised in the Reporting Year, the land was still under
construction and did not impact the Group’s operations. Importantly, the
proceeds from this resumption will release valuable capital upon receipt,
bolstering future cash flow and enabling the Group to prioritise and
strengthen its core pharmaceutical initiatives.

IR E R M

RAVESBERBEER

RZZZHF—A  BEAYPERSRBERISRE RS
EERE AL - ARAESEINEL  URESR
RERBEZMEREX -

HEREH

REHSEHREABMIINGET  AREEMARIFEE
KEiEe ) c AEBESEMSEANEEZN EAMS
- INE] S iﬁ%g&%&ﬂ?ﬁﬂ/ﬁﬂﬂﬁ;ﬁ LARA AR B A3
BHOBEREPAEZWN - SLAR EFEEE’]I{’EEE‘%
AIERIH KIWEEZ R ETEEREMNABRERAR
ﬁ&ﬁuu%%ﬁ%‘]wi%ﬁﬁ% $%’E<|§|Eﬁ)§uuﬁﬁl 3l
BEFRCRIER®) - (REFLE®) RCHIFIEROIN EF
?T%ZWAE’%EH& SREEM B 8% 0 AT Y B E s RCNIR
MOVTEK AT EWZRE ] - MCREFTES) RHFEFIE®)
RIZIMAER - BFIENE - thI7 BRI F5RGH
EROR(REFTEC)RMAEEAFHEERRNER
T E—PXRHREZTTENERES - LEET
BRREAEENTSHA - B HEEEMEENER
FRERA -

RBEFE - AREINE ARKEBHER (R RER
EFUE SRS BRI B E R (R
RONMARBAADORBE AR - BHERNAK
AUERT T ¢

BEEAAL  AEERE HHERDKIEMAZ
RE R BT B 8% - AMRFERMAZRERTE - RE
REFERATSAEARRDBEBEE N T ENHE
B

EFERE

R-Z-—WF+=—A=+tH  AEEEEREEMT
F R — 8 i (5 EE A BB A £ ) B i (E A
T o ¥ {E 4% AR 1689,200,0007T(4194,600,000%
T ERZ LA RKERARBEE LB ETE -
BERBDTHEHSERNREFEERGRED
6,700,000/%71 WZTHANAER TEHEREEH

o BERTERIGZKBIITEI M S RIS A ENE &
§ZK MEERIIBE TR - FEASE T EERITRMAE
RO BERES) o

Annual Report 2024 3§

17



18

Management Discussion and Analysis
k’rfinjnﬁﬂ& Tﬁ

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Net Profit Attributable to the
Owners of the Company

The Group’s revenue increased from HK$1,053,034,000 in 2023 to
HK$1,399,969,000 in 2024, representing an increase of HK$346,935,000
or 32.9%. During the Reporting Year, sales of proprietary and generic
products increased by 44.6% and sales of licensed-in products increased
by 18.4%.
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2023 Change
Revenue Wz —E=F BE
HK$'000
FH&T
Proprietary and generic products R R EER 585,758 +44.6%
Licensed-in products SIEEM 467,276 +18.4%
Total st 1,053,034 +32.9%

Net profit attributable to the owners of the Company increased by 457.5%
from HK$16,698,000 in 2023 to HK$93,099,000 in 2024.

Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit margin for the Reporting Year increased by 1.4 percentage
points from 52.4% in 2023 to 53.8% in 2024, reflecting enhanced
profitability and operational efficiencies. The increase in gross profit was
achieved despite ongoing challenges, including pressures on supply costs
and the continued inclusion of products under the VBP programme, which
typically carry lower profit margins.

Other Income

Other income was HK$62,450,000 for the Reporting Year, a decrease of
19.2% or HK$14,807,000 as compared to the same period in last year.
Other income included development grants from local government, rental
and utilities income, milestone income and research and development
service income. Compared to the year 2023, the decreased level of
government and development grants counterbalanced the milestone
income earned. As a result, the overall level of other income for the
Reporting Year dropped.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Gains and Losses, Net

Other gains and losses recorded a net loss of HK$22,542,000 for the
Reporting Year, shifting from a net gain of HK$5,977,000 in 2023. This
decrease was primarily driven by the absence of one-time gain of HK$41.6
million from the disposal of intangible assets in 2023, and the marked
increase in the impairment losses provision of HK$25.9 million on right-
of-use assets and intangible assets. Although there were improvements
in foreign exchange gains and reduced fair value losses, these positive
factors were insufficient to offset the overall unfavorable outcome during
the Reporting Year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses amounted to
HK$387,292,000 during the Reporting Year, reflecting an increase of
HK$82,996,000 or 27.3% compared to the previous year’s total of
HK$304,296,000. The selling expenses to revenue ratio improved to
27.7% compared to 28.9% in the prior year, demonstrating the Group’s
efficient allocation of resources. This increase in expenses was mainly
attributable to expanded efforts to launch and promote new products,
alongside investments in strengthening distribution channels and executing
brand-building initiatives for selected products.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses for the Reporting Year totalled HK$195,298,000,
representing an increase of HK$6,686,000 or 3.5% compared to the
previous year’s total of HK$188,612,000. The Group remains committed to
operating its business efficiently and effectively, implementing cost-saving
measures to enhance operational performance and profitability while
carefully managing expenditure.

Research and Development Expenses

R&D expenses for the Reporting Year decreased by HK$12,975,000
compared to the corresponding year to HK$83,829,000, and accounted
for 6.0% of the Group’s revenue, decreased by 3.2 percentage points
from the prior year’s 9.2%. Together with the capitalised R&D costs of
HK$109,256,000 (2023: HK$123,045,000), total amount spent in R&D
activities during the Reporting Year was HK$193,085,000, decreased by
HK$26,764,000 or 12.2% compared to the corresponding year.

Taxation

Income tax expense for the Reporting Year increased by HK$18,665,000
compared to the same period last year to HK$29,501,000. The Group’s
effective tax rate was decreased by 5.1 percentage points from
approximately 35.2% in the prior year to 30.1% for the Reporting Year.
Less impairment losses on assets with no tax impact with higher utilisation
of unrecognised tax loss led to the decrease in effective rate in the
Reporting Year.
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Investments Held

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s investment portfolio amounted to
approximately HK$285,214,000 (31 December 2023: HK$699,451,000) as
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position under various
categories including:

BB A NIRRT S R A

BX

- interests in associates which are accounted for by using equity —
method;

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"); and - BRATESRERIENMKEEE &

- financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income — AV EFBEMEERZEIIENETIEEE -
("FVTOCI").

FAEPBRRARTZRENEHERAFRT OGS
TSR IR

Changes in respective items in the consolidated statement of financial
position have been disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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Details of the significant investments in the portfolio under financial assets
as at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

20
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cost as at as at assets as at year 2024
31 December 31 December 31 December Increase/
Description of investment 2024 2024 2024 (Decrease)
hAREE
R-ZEZME
R-ZBZMOF R-ZBZOF +TZHA=+—H#® TECNFEAN
+T=ZA=+—H#® +ZA=+—8® REGEEHAE ATFEEE
REFE B RE R AFEE BB 20, O 4)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
ZKO (Note 1) 2,321,626 165,831 6.3% (380,028)
JERHREF(PIFEL)
Other financial assets at FVTOCI 682,285 103,992 4.0% (40,097)
Hip iz NP ESEREM 2B EIIRNM S EE
Total financial assets at FVTOCI 3,003,911 269,823 10.3% (420,125)
RATHEFEBEMEEWRY RN S EERE
Financial assets at FVTPL 57,078 11,185 0.4% (379)
RATEFBBERIIRNI G EE
Total financial assets 3,060,989 281,008 10.7% (420,504)

MIGEERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Note:

1. ZKO is an ophthalmic pharmaceutical company principally engaged in the
research and development, manufacturing and commercialisation of therapies
that address significant unmet medical needs. The Group directly held
138,192,000 shares of ZKO, representing 25.3% of the total issued shares
of ZKO as at 31 December 2024. During the Reporting Year, the Group did
not receive any dividend income from ZKO. The Group takes a longer-term
view on this investment and will closely monitor the progress of the clinical
development programs of ZKO.

The Group will closely monitor the performance of its investment portfolio,
continue to invest strategically, and explore opportunities to monetise
some of the existing investments if suitable market opportunities arise.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
investment as at 31 December 2024.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s principal sources of working capital in the current year
mainly included cash flow generated from operating activities and bank
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current ratio (current assets divided
by current liabilities) was 1.02 (31 December 2023: 1.01). As at 31
December 2024, the Group had net cash position of HK$2,980,000 (31
December 2023: net debt of HK$19,563,000) which represented by below:

IR E R M

B E -

1. KBRBARBERAR - TEREFENHRT - H
¥ BEREEL  WREANBEFRRO - Af
B E##56138,192,000 BIEBHR RIS - HER
ZoWFE+Z A=+ BERRBRME TR BEAN
25.3%  RIMEFERN - AKE L FE G IRBHRFHREUE
RSN - REEGIARESRQIEE  AHEY
ELFOERIAR B R AR P AT BIRER -

AREBHIERGEEANEE - BEEITRELE
& PRETHHBA SRS  DERSBBIRE
SRR -

B EXPIEE  AEBR _Z_NF+-_A=+—
BB ERRE -

mBEERUBER

AEERAFENTIRLEASRRTERBREEER
EENBRSRERRITER -

RZZE_WFE+—A=+—8  AEBORSLERGE
BEERULRBEE)AL.02(CE_=F+_/F=+—
A:1.01) R-ZE-_WE+-A=+—8 X&£EH
BUIR & R AR ON 52,980,000 L( —E-=F+ A
=+—8 : {&E%$%819,563,00087T) * FIRIAT ¢

2024 2023

Net cash/(debt) position Be(EK)FEMRR —EBoME —T-=
HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTH R 216,845 171,000
Pledged deposits [RESEEES N - 2,192
Less: Bank borrowings and overdrafts B RITERREY (213,865) (192,755)
2,980 (19,563)

The calculation of Group’s gearing ratio based on the net borrowings (after
deducting cash and bank balances) to equity attributable to the owners of
the Company was Nil as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 0.01).

Taking into consideration the existing financial resources available to
the Group, it is believed that the Group should have adequate financial
resources to meet its operation and development requirements in the
future.

AEEERNEFFENIRES RRITERE) HAQA
BEANEEERATENEERREXN S -_NF+=A
=+—HAARZ(ZE=_=F+=A=+—H:0.01)°

KEBAHAEBEERNREVHERR - HEAKE
BEFMUBEERARN B RELERBRTAMNAT -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s wm Mo

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury policies.
The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing
credit evaluations of the financial conditions of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the management of the Group closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and commitments can meet its funding requirements.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Currently, the Group earns revenue and incurs costs mainly in Renminbi,
Hong Kong Dollars, European Union Euro, Japanese Yen, New Taiwan
Dollars, Thai Baht and United States Dollars. The Directors believe that
the Group does not have foreign exchange problems in meeting its foreign
exchange requirements. The Group will continue to monitor closely its
foreign currency exposure and to consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure when necessary.

Pledge of Assets

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Employee Information

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 1,022 (31 December 2023: 1,057)
employees working in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Taiwan and Thailand.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated on the performance
of individual employees and based on the trends of salaries in various
regions, which will be reviewed regularly every year. Apart from
mandatory provident fund scheme, retirement benefit scheme and medical
insurance, share options may also award to employees according to the
assessment of individual performance.

PROSPECT

The Group is navigating a dynamic and competitive landscape as China’s
pharmaceutical industry undergoes significant transformation. A primary
challenge stems from the integration of lower-margin products into the
national reimbursement scheme and the VBP program, necessitating a
meticulous and adaptive operational strategy. Moreover, rising operating
costs and inflationary pressures continue to heighten operational
complexities. These challenges underscore the importance of strategic
management, cost efficiency, and innovation in maintaining a competitive
edge. Encouragingly, increasing sales volumes and advancements
in manufacturing efficiency are expected to alleviate some of these
pressures.

In response, the Group remains steadfast in its commitment to
implementing rigorous cost-control measures and enhancing operational
efficiency across its value chain. With particular emphasis on sales and
R&D functions, the Group aligns with industry-wide trends by prioritising
lean operations to counter VBP-driven margin compression. It is also
accelerating innovation in areas such as biologics and digital health
solutions, including AI-driven drug discovery, to capitalise on China’s
broader push for pharmaceutical innovation.

While maintaining a cautious outlook, the Group is resolute in its
objectives and optimistic about its long-term sustainability and value
creation for the Shareholders. The Group is also actively working to
enhance profitability by refining its product mix and optimising resources
efficiency. By leveraging strategic initiatives, embracing innovation, and
upholding its commitment to sustainability, the Group is poised to deliver
enhanced value and reward its shareholders for their continued trust and
support.

HrIE u—JLnHH& Tﬁ
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

EENTEAEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lee Siu Fong

Chairman, chairman of nomination committee and member of
management committee, aged 68

Ms. Lee Siu Fong joined the Group in April 1997 and has since been
responsible for the Group’s financial affairs. She is an entrepreneur and
had since 1992 established and run several companies with primary
responsibility in financial affairs. She is the sister of Ms. Leelalertsuphakun
Wanee and Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee

Managing Director, Chief Marketing & Sales Officer, member of
remuneration committee and chairman of management committee,
aged 71

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee joined the Group in April 1997. She was
appointed the Chief Marketing & Sales Officer in September 2003 and has
been responsible for the Group’s sales and marketing activities since then.
She is a non-executive director of ZKO. She is the sister of Ms. Lee Siu
Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Li Xiaoyi
Senior adviser, aged 62, PhD

Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds a PhD in Pharmacology from the University of Illinois at
Chicago and was a postdoctoral fellow with Parke-Davis Research Division
of Warner-Lambert company in the United States. He is an Honorary
Fellow and Adjunct Professor at the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He was appointed as a member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Anhui Province in China in January
2018. He is the founder of the Group and has been responsible for the
daily operations and research and development of the Group since 1994
to April 2021. He was re-designated as a non-executive director of the
Company and commenced serving as a senior adviser to the Company on
29 April 2021. He is also the chairman and executive director of ZKO.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

James Charles Gale
Aged 75

Mr. James Charles Gale joined the Board on 2 January 2022. He obtained
a master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of
Chicago. He is the co-founder and managing director of Signet Healthcare
Management LLC (“Signet”), a private equity firm based in New York
City. Founded in 1998, the firm provides growth equity to commercial-
stage life sciences companies. He serves on the board of directors of a
number of Signet portfolio companies including Ascendia Pharmaceuticals
Inc, Bionpharma Inc (Chairman), Chr. Olesen Synthesis A/S, Juno
Pharmaceuticals Inc, Pharmaceutics International, Inc and Pharma Nobis
LLC. He is also on the board of two public companies: Knight Therapeutics
Inc (TSX: GUD) and Hyloris Pharmaceuticals SA (Euronext: HYL).

Huang Zuie-Chin
Aged 59

Mr. Huang Zuie-Chin joined the Board on 2 July 2024. He has over 35
years’ experience in the life science and investment industry together with
20 years’ experience in the pharmaceutical and biotech industry holding
senior roles in business development, sales, marketing and research and
development. In 2011, he joined Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers China as
a managing partner and focuses on the firm’s life science practice. He is
also the founding managing partner of Panacea Healthcare Venture Capital,
including Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund I, L.P., Panacea Venture
Healthcare Fund II, L.P. and Panacea Opportunity Fund I, L.P., which are
venture capitals focusing on investments in innovative and transformative
early and growth stage healthcare and life sciences companies worldwide.
He received a Master of Business Administration (MBA) from the Stanford
Graduate School of Business and a Bachelor of Science degree in chemical
engineering from the University of California, Berkeley. He is also a non-
executive director of Kindstar Globalgene Technology, Inc. (stock code:
9960), which is listed company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and a director of Connect Biopharma Holdings Limited, which is listed on
Nasdaq Global Market (ticker symbol: CNTB).
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENTEANEBRER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Chan Yau Ching, Bob

Chairman of audit committee, member of remuneration committee
and member of nomination committee, aged 62, PhD, MBA, BBA,
CFA, MHKSI

Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob joined the independent Board on 14 January
2002. He has extensive experience in corporate development and financial
management of high-growth companies. He had been a finance professor,
researcher and consultant. He had also served directorship at various
listed and privately held companies in Hong Kong and in the United States.
He was appointed as the independent non-executive director of Hangzhou
Huaxing Chuangye Communication Technology Co., Ltd., which is a listed
company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from December 2018 to
November 2020. Currently, he is the managing director of KBR Capital
Limited, a company engaged in advising clients on management and
investment activities in China and Hong Kong. He is also the independent
non-executive director of China High Speed Transmission Equipment
Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 0658) and Daisho Microline Holdings Limited
(stock code: 0567), which are listed companies on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He does not have any relationship with any Director,
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

Cheang Yee Wah, Eva
Member of audit committee, aged 50, CFA, CPA

Ms. Cheang Yee Wah, Eva joined the independent Board on 17 May
2023. She is a company secretary of Founder Holdings Limited, a listed
company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0418),
since 2018. She received a Bachelor of Business Administration from
The University of Hong Kong and Master of Finance (Corporate Finance)
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a Chartered Financial
Analysts Charterholder, a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute. She has over 20 years’ experience in
financial management, including 10 years of experience in accounting,
finance, audit and corporate finance with an international audit firm and
listed companies in Hong Kong. She does not have any relationship with
any Director, substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the
Company.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

Tsim Wah Keung, Karl

Chairman of remuneration committee, member of audit committee
and member of nomination committee, aged 66, PhD, MPhil, BSc

Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl joined the independent Board on 20 September
2004. He currently serves as Chair Professor of Life Science at the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree and a Master degree in Biochemistry from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong, and a Doctorate in Molecular Neurobiology from the
University of Cambridge. He has published numerous articles in biological
sciences and traditional Chinese medicines. He also serves in several local
committees in advising the development of traditional Chinese medicine as
health food products. He does not have any relationship with any Director,
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chow Yiu Ming
Group Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary, aged 51

Mr. Chow Yiu Ming joined the Company in October 2014 and is responsible
for the accounting and corporate finance functions of the Group. He has
over 25 years of experience in accounting, auditing, financial management
and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Company, he had held several
senior positions with listed and private companies in Hong Kong. He is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He holds
a Bachelor of Business Administration degree, majoring in Accounting
and Finance, from the University of Hong Kong and a Master of Science
in Professional Accountancy degree from the University of London. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Fortune Sun (China)
Holdings Limited which is a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0352).
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENTEANEBRER

Jiao Zhongyu

Group Deputy General Manager & General Manager of the Risk
Control Centre, aged 55

Mr. Jiao Zhongyu was appointed as the legal adviser of PRC investment
by the Group in 1999 in his capacity as a practising lawyer in PRC. He
has been appointed as the director of Zhaoke Hefei since 2010 and has
extensive experience in the government affair and legal affairs. In 2012,
he has been appointed as the Chief Officer of the enterprise development
department thereof and responsible for the Group’s strategic planning and
development. The Group established the risk control centre in 2020 and
he has been appointed as the General Manager. He is responsible for the
daily operations of the Group’s legal department and the compliance and
audit department.

Tsui Victor Kailok

Chief Manufacturing Officer, Licensed Professional Engineer, aged
58, P.E. MSc

Mr. Victor Tsui graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnics University
and University of Wisconsin with a master degree in Engineering. Before
joining the Group, he worked for various pharmaceuticals companies in
the United States for over 25 years and was responsible for production
management. He joined the Group in 2009 as Chief Operating Officer of
Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“"PPI”, an associated company of
the Group). He has been appointed as Chief Manufacturing Officer of the
Group since 2012 to oversee the Group’s manufacturing operations. He
has also been appointed as director of PPI since 22 March 2013.

Yang Zhonggqiang

Executive Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, aged 50

Mr. Yang Zhongqgiang holds a master’s degree in Pharmaceutical
Engineering from Shandong University and has a practicing pharmacist
certification. He has been working for the Group for more than 20
years, and has been working in the Department of Research and
Development of New Drugs and Quality Department of Zhaoke Hefei. He
has extensive experience in the research and development of new drug,
project management and quality management. He had served as the
quality authorised person of Zhaoke Hefei since 2012 to oversee the its
drug quality management and protection works. In 2017, he has been
appointed as the Executive Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Hefei.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

Zhang Zeyun

General Manager of the Group Commercial Operations Centre, aged
44

Mr. Zhang joined the Group in October 2018 and is responsible for
the business management of the Group’s direct sales team in China.
He graduated from Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine with a
bachelor degree in Chinese Medicine. Before joining the Group, he worked
for several multinational pharmaceutical and healthcare companies in
China for over 15 years and was responsible for sales and market access
management. In March 2019, he was appointed as Commercial Operations
Director of the Group, and is responsible for the commercial operations
of the Group and the daily operations management of Zhaoke Lian Fa,
such as rationalise marketing format innovation, responsible for the Group
market access department, establish non-medical market sales team, and
responsible for overall operations management of the oncology products
marketing team. He is currently served as General Manager of the Group
Commercial Operations Centre ("GCOC"), responsible for the development
and management of the GCOC.

Fang Ling

Corporate Culture and Public Relations Director of the Group, aged
56

Ms. Fang Ling graduated from Anhui College of Traditional Chinese
Medicine (currently known as Anhui University of Traditional Chinese
Medicine) with a major in traditional Chinese medicine in 1992, and
received her Master of Business Administration in pharmaceutical
management degree from Business School, Renmin University of China in
2004. Before she joined the Group in March 1999, she had served Anhui
Province Shucheng County Chengguan Town Hospital Division during 1993
to 1998 as a Chinese medicine practitioner. She had been serving for the
Group for over 20 years in various positions. She has been appointed
Corporate Culture and Public Relations Director of the Group in April 2019
and also serves as the chief supervisor of the Beijing branch of Zhaoke
Hefei and the special assistant of the Chairman, and is responsible for
the external affairs such as brand building and public relations for the
Group, and internal affairs such as corporate culture development, brand
development plan, corporate promotion strategy formulation, preparation
and organisation. She is also responsible for the management of Lee’s
Pharm internet-based official account for corporate promotion, official
website, management and operation of the internal newsletter “Zhaoke
Communication”, as well as the management of the daily operations of the
Beijing branch of Zhaoke Hefei.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENTEANEBRER

Chen Yueshen
Director of Administration in China, aged 66

Mr. Chen Yueshen had been serving for the Group for more than 20 years
in various positions such as the director and Deputy General Manager
of Zhaoke Hefei, Chief Operating Officer of the Group and the Deputy
General Manager of Zhaoke Guangzhou. He was responsible for the daily
operations of Zhaoke Hefei, including being responsible for the production
and quality management of Zhaoke Hefei. He has extensive experience in
quality management systems and GMP production. In November 2018, he
was appointed as the Director of Administration in China and is responsible
for the Group’s administrative matters in China.

Wong Sze Ka
Director, R&D of the Group, aged 42

Dr. Wong Sze Ka graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
PhD in Pharmacology, after which he conducted postdoctoral research
on vascular regeneration at the University of Frankfurt in Germany. He
has been involved in project management in the Group for over 8 years,
including personnel and product management. He has participated in
numerous drug research and development efforts and review of research
results, and spearheaded his team in launching several new products for
the Group, including Socazolimab Injection, INOmax® Nitric Oxide for
Inhalation.

Yin Lei
Associate Director, R&D of the Group, aged 52

Mr. Yin Lei holds a bachelor’s degree from the Anhui University of Chinese
Medicine. He is also a licensed pharmacist. He joined the Group in 2014
and is responsible for the research and development of new drugs. He
has been engaged in drug research and development for over 20 years
and has led to many successful cases in the field of small molecule drugs,
peptide drugs and biochemical drugs. He had served as the Deputy
General Manager of Zhaoke Guangzhou. In 2019, he was appointed as
Associate Director, R&D of the Group and is fully responsible for the
research and development of new drugs of the Group.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

Xia Hongling

Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co.
Limited, aged 60

Ms. Xia Hongling holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
the Renmin University of China and has the qualification of accountant
in China. Before joining the Group, she had been responsible for the
accounting and finance function with a large state-owned manufacturing
enterprise for over 10 years. She joined the Group in 1997 and held
various positions in accounting and supply chain department in Zhaoke
Hefei for over 20 years. She has extensive experience in accounting,
finance and logistics management in pharmaceutical industry. She was
appointed as Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Hefei since 2017 and
further as the General Manager of the Shanghai branch of Zhaoke Hefei
since 2020.

Zhong Chengping

Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou)
Limited, aged 56

Ms. Zhong Chengping graduated from China Pharmaceutical University
with a Bachelor of Science degree and a licensed pharmacist qualification
certificate. Before joining the Group, she worked in many domestic
pharmaceutical companies, including Shanghai Jinke Quanjiao
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Jiuhua Huayuan Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Puji Pharmaceutical Technology Development Co.,
Ltd., etc. She has nearly 30 years of experience in quality and project
management and other aspects. She joined the Group since 2012 as
a quality manager. In 2019, she was appointed as the quality director
and quality attorney of Zhaoke Hefei. In 2021, she was appointed as the
Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Guangzhou.

CONSULTANT

Professor Sabino Iliceto
Scientific Director of the Company

Professor Sabino Iliceto was appointed as the Scientific Director of the
Company with effect from 1 February 2022. He provides consultation
services on all research and development of the Group’s pipeline and
portfolio and supports on developing scientific and research projects and
clinical developments across the Group. He is highly regarded Italian
scientist in cardiology. He is currently the Professor of Cardiology and
Director of the School of Cardiology of the University of Padua, Italy. He is
also the director of Cardiology Unit and director of Cardiac, Thoracic and
Vascular Department of Padua University Hospital. He has a considerable
clinical experience as well as a long-standing tradition in planning and
organising scientific projects.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors submit their report with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENTAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of the Group are the developing, manufacturing and
sale and marketing of pharmaceutical products.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, as well as the outlook
for the Group’s business, are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement”
(pages 10 to 12) and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” (pages
13 to 23) sections. Particulars of significant events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December 2023,
if applicable, can also be found in the aforesaid sections and the notes
to the consolidated financial statements (pages 83 to 229). Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group can be found
in the section headed “Key Risks and Uncertainties” below. Description
of the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
section headed “Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers”.
Furthermore, principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Group and details regarding the Group’s compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are provided
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section (pages 55 to 65).

This discussion forms part of this report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in the financial statements on pages 75 to 229.

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “Final Dividend”) equivalent to HK$0.025 per
share (2023: HK$0.010 per share) in cash to the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company as at the
close of business on 2 June 2025. Together with the interim dividend
of HK$0.020 per share (2023: HK$0.008 per share) paid on 3 October
2024, total distribution of dividend by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 will be HK$0.045 per share (2023: HK$0.018 per share).
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Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company, it is expected that the Final Dividend will be paid on 16
June 2025.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 45
to the consolidated financial statements.

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Particulars of the Group’s principal associated companies are set out in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 79 to 80.
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to HK$666,110,000 (31 December 2023: HK$718,635,000).
This includes the Company’s share premium account in the amount of
HK$720,091,000 (31 December 2023: HK$720,091,000) at 31 December
2024, which may be distributable provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
HK$10,230,000 (2023: HK$1,705,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARES ISSUED, REPURCHASED AND
CANCELLED

There were no movement in either the authorised or issued share capital
of the Company during the year.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the 2012 Share Option Scheme and 2022 Share Option Scheme
disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below and note
37 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the owners of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the financial year
is as follows:

= Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 15.8% in aggregate for the Group’s total revenue for
the year (2023: 14.0%).

= Purchase from the Groups’ five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 56.8% in aggregate for the Group’s total purchases

for the year (2023: 58.5%).

= The largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately
14.7% of the Group’s total purchases for the year (2023: 18.5%).
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At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) or any shareholder of the Company (who,
to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the number of
issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the Group’s five major
customers and suppliers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the financial year. The Company has
also purchased and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the
year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Lee Siu Fong, Chairman
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Managing Director

Non-executive Directors

Li Xiaoyi
James Charles Gale
Huang Zuie-Chin (appointed with effect from 2 July 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chan Yau Ching, Bob
Cheang Yee Wah, Eva
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl

In accordance with Article 16.2 and 16.17 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Mr. James Charles Gale,
Mr. Huang Zuie-Chin and Mr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl will retire at the
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for
re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

Each of Ms. Lee Siu Fong ("Ms. Lee”) and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
("Ms. Leelalertsuphakun”) entered into a service contract both dated
14 January 2002 with the Company under which each of them has been
appointed to act as an executive Director on a continuous basis until
terminated by either party by giving to the other party not less than
three months’ notice in writing. During the year, the monthly salaries and
allowance for Ms. Lee and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun have been revised to
HK$641,322 and HK$691,257 respectively.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWmE

Dr. Li Xiaoyi (*Dr. Li”) is a non-executive Director and he serves as a
senior adviser to the Company. Dr. Li has a three-year service contract
with the Company from 29 April 2021. Director’s fee is HK$300,000 per
annum and bonus will not be paid for service as a non-executive director
and senior adviser to the Company. Director’s fee is determined by the
Board with reference to the market rate. The term of Dr. Li's appointment
is subject to retirement and re-election at the AGM in accordance with
the Company’s Articles of Association. Dr. Li has a three-year consulting
contract with the Company from 1 December 2021 for service as a senior
adviser to the Company and is entitled to a service fee of HK$100,000
per month. The consulting contract is renewed for 3 years from 1 October
2024 at a service fee of HK$200,000 per month.

In accordance with supplementary agreement dated 16 April 2017 signed
between the Company and each of Ms. Lee, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun and
Dr. Li (prior to his re-designation as a non-executive Director with effect
from 29 April 2021), employment terms of executive Directors have been
revised as follows:

1. Executive Directors are entitled to annual management bonus 1.5%
to 3.0% (determined based on the growth in net profits of the
Group) on the net profit of the Group for the preceding financial
year. Such sum of the management bonus will be shared between
all the executive Directors in such proportion with reference to their
monthly salary in the final month of the complete financial year.

2. The annual salary increment shall be equal to official inflation rate if
the growth in net profits of the Group is equal to or less than 15%,
or should the growth exceed 15%, the sum of the official inflation
rate and half of the positive difference between the growth in net
profits and the 15% threshold.

3. Each of executive Directors will be entitled to lump sum payment
upon retirement and monthly pension payment after retirement if
he/she has engaged in continuous service with the Company for
certain years.

In accordance with the supplemental agreement dated 20 December
2021 signed between the Company and each of Ms. Lee and Ms.
Leelalertsuphakun, employment terms of executive Directors have been
revised. The revised terms state that the annual salary increment shall be
equal to official inflation rate plus half of the positive difference between
the growth in net profits and the 15% threshold, which shall not be less
than 10% or more than 30% of their salary for the immediately preceding
calendar year.

Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl (*"Dr. Tsim”) was appointed on 20 September
2004 as an independent non-executive Director. Contract with Dr. Tsim
was renewed for three years from 20 September 2022. Director’s fees for
Dr. Tsim are HK$216,000 per annum and bonus will not be paid.

Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob had a three-year service contract with the
Company from 12 October 2007. The contract was renewed for three
years from 12 October 2022. Director’s fee is HK$216,000 per annum and
bonus will not be paid.
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Mr. James Charles Gale had a three-year service contract with the
Company from 2 January 2022. Director’s fee is HK$300,000 per annum
and bonus will not be paid.

Ms. Cheang Yee Wah, Eva has a three-year service contract with the
Company from 17 May 2023. Director’s fee is HK$216,000 per annum and
bonus will not be paid.

Mr. Huang Zuie-Chin had a three-year service contract with the Company
from 2 July 2024. Director’s fee is HK$300,000 per annum and bonus will
not be paid.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which the Directors had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND KEY PERSONNEL

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the key personnel are set
out on pages 24 to 31.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the management shareholders or substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules, or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as the interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests in Securities” below, at no time during the year
under review was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company
or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age or their
associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company and their associates had the following interests in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

EENRETHRAERESNER

RIZ-MFE+-A=+—R  FRAEERFRTTH
ABRIBENBEARARR REBBEE(EERES
RHERDIEXVER) 8B ) KA O hEREIATERL
BRBREEFRMEGPIEIS2RAFTENELM - 3
RERETAE BTTHAGARR R PR -

(a) Long position in Shares (a) RRGHIHFE
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name of director Nature of interest shares held Total shareholding
EEpnE EEME g BEREA wit  FRENESH
Lee Siu Fong Beneficial owner 875
PN EmAA
Interest held jointly with 1,600,000
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
s R H AR A R
Interest of a controlled 114,000,625 115,601,500 19.63%
corporation (Note 1)
—ER G EE e (fEEL)
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee Beneficial owner 7,602,500
ENod EREBA
Interest held jointly with 1,600,000
Lee Siu Fong
BN HERFE O ER
Interest of a controlled 114,000,625 123,203,125 20.92%
corporation (Note 1)
—ER G EBE e R (FFEL)
Li Xiaoyi Beneficial owner 42,815,266
FINR BnEEA
Family interest (Note 2) 16,000,000 58,815,266 9.99%
FKirtEz (MiE2)
Chan Yau Ching, Bob Beneficial owner 520,000 520,000 0.09%
RA IE EnEBA
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl Beneficial owner 300,000 300,000 0.05%
R BamlEE A
Huang Zuie-Chin Beneficial owner 500,000
i EEHEA
Interest of a controlled
corporation (Note 3) 29,500,000 30,000,000 5.09%

—RREH AR (HFE3)
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Notes: Pff5E

(1) 114,000,625 Shares are held through Huby Technology Limited (“"Huby (1) 114,000,625 fi& & ¥ J5 % i@ Huby Technology
Technology”). Huby Technology is an investment holding company Limited ( [ Huby Technology | ) # & - Huby
jointly owned by Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee. Technology 5 —HE &R AR » A/ NS LT RFME

e+ HRMS -

(2)  These Shares are held by High Knowledge Investments Limited which is (2) Z %5 AHigh Knowledge Investments LimitedF
wholly owned by Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s spouse, Ms. Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky (“Ms. Ao ZRARHFPRELNEEEKkLZE(TBLZE])
Lue”). The interest held by Ms. Lue is deemed to be part of the interest 2EHRE c BRLTRHAENEERBIES N RELTHIHD
of Dr. Li Xiaoyi. e o

(3) These Shares are held by Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund II, L.P. (3) %% P& 15 Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund II,
which is wholly owned by Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund II GP L.P.# & - #% A 7] 1 Panacea Venture Healthcare
Company, Ltd, which is wholly owned by Panacea Innovation Limited Fund II GP Company, Ltd & & # %4 - Panacea
which is wholly owned by Mr. Huang Zuie-Chin. Venture Healthcare Fund II GP Company, Ltd &

Panacea Innovation LimitedZ & # 7% - ifi Panacea
Innovation Limited 8| &EIRIB L E2EHE ©
(b) Long position in underlying shares - (b) RGBSR (7 RI4FE —

share options of the Company EREERE

Under the share option schemes of the Company, the following BERARNERESE - TIHEFRARER

Directors have personal interest in options to subscribe for the PRIEIRER R EARER - R TRENEIRE

Shares. Details of the share options granted to them are as follows: BT

Balance Balance
as at During the year as at Exercise
Exercisable 1 January £R 31 December price per
Name of director Date of grant period 2024 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2024 share
RIB-RE
R-2-m& t=A
-A-H =t+-A Bk
E=fE BREAH (i iofe3-3 R g P34 iofes- e
(Notes) HK$
CiE3) BT
Lee Siu Fong 31 March 2015 (1) 446,000 - - - 446,000 11.200
FINE —E-Af=A=1-A8
31 March 2016 (2) 587,000 - - - 587,000 5.754
—Z-"5=R=t-H
13 April 2017 3) 590,000 - - - 590,000 7.548
“E—+FmA+=8
13 April 2018 (4) 456,000 - - - 456,000 11.216
—Z-/\fmA+=H
15 April 2019 (5) 592,000 - - - 592,000 7.324
“Z-NEmATRA
15 April 2020 (6) 588,000 - - - 588,000 3.648
ZZ-TERATRA
21 April 2021 (7) 588,000 - - - 588,000 5.806
—E--EmAZ+—H
25 April 2022 (8) 588,000 - - - 588,000 2.076
ZZCCEMAZTEA
20 June 2024 9) - 588,000 - - 588,000 1.200
ZEMERAZTH
4,435,000 588,000 - - 5,023,000
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Balance Balance
as at During the year as at Exercise
Exercisable 1 January £R 31 December price per
Name of director Date of grant period 2024 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2024 share
RZZ-ME
RZB-ME +=R
-A-H =1-H 5k
EERE BREBH fiid iofeies R (g S fe e
(Notes) HK$
(BizE) B
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee 31 March 2015 (1) 446,000 - - - 446,000 11.200
TR “Z-1%=A=1-H
31 March 2016 (2) 587,000 - - - 587,000 5.754
B =
13 April 2017 (3) 590,000 - - - 590,000 7.548
“E—tFmA+=H
13 April 2018 (4) 456,000 - - - 456,000 11.216
—Z-)\fmA+=8H
15 April 2019 (5) 592,000 - - - 592,000 7.324
“Z-NEmATHA
15 April 2020 (6) 588,000 - - - 588,000 3.648
“Z-ZFMATHA
21 April 2021 (7) 588,000 - - - 588,000 5.806
—Z-—-4mA=t-A
25 April 2022 (8) 588,000 - - - 588,000 2.076
ZZZZEMAZTAA
20 June 2024 9) - 588,000 - - 588,000 1.200
ZE-MFRA=TH
4,435,000 588,000 - - 5,023,000
Li Xiaoyi 31 March 2015 (1) 446,000 - - - 446,000 11.200
FR “T-R%=ZA=1-H
31 March 2016 (2) 587,000 - - - 587,000 5.754
B =
13 April 2017 (3) 590,000 - - - 590,000 7.548
“E—+FmA+=H
13 April 2018 (4) 456,000 - - - 456,000 11.216
“T-)\fMA+=AH
15 April 2019 (5) 592,000 - - - 592,000 7.324
ZZ-NERATHRA
15 April 2020 (6) 588,000 - - - 588,000 3.648
“Z-ZF¥MA+AHA
21 April 2021 (7) 588,000 - - - 588,000 5.806
—Z-—4mA-t-A
20 June 2024 9) - 588,000 - - 588,000 1.200
ZZ-MERAZTA
3,847,000 588,000 - - 4,435,000
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Notes:

(1) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 September 2015 and 30
June 2016 respectively to 30 March 2025.

(2) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 September 2016 and 30
June 2017 respectively to 30 March 2026.

(3) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 13 October 2017 and 13 July
2018 respectively to 12 April 2027.

(4) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 13 October 2018 and 13 July
2019 respectively to 12 April 2028.

(5) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 15 October 2019 and 15 July
2020 respectively to 14 April 2029.

(6) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 15 October 2020 and 15 July
2021 respectively to 14 April 2030.

(7) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 21 October 2021 and 21 July
2022 respectively to 20 April 2031.

(8) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 25 October 2022 and 25 July

2023 respectively to 24 April 2032.

9) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 20 June 2025 and 20 December
2025 respectively to 19 June 2034.

(C) As at 31 December 2024, Dr. Li Xiaoyi had beneficial interest in (a)

12,740 ordinary shares in Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated;
and (b) 830 share options which can be converted into 830 ordinary
shares of Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated when exercised.

(d) As at 31 December 2024, Dr. Li Xiaoyi had beneficial interest in

15,502,800 share options which can be converted into 15,502,800
ordinary shares of ZKO, an associated corporation within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, when exercised. Dr. Li Xiaoyi
spouse’s, Ms. Lue, had beneficial interest in 166,666 ordinary
shares of ZKO. The interest held by Ms. Lue is deemed to be part
of the interest of Dr. Li Xiaoyi. Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds 65% of the equity
interest of Lee’s Healthcare Industry Investments Limited, which in
turn is the general partner of Lee’s Healthcare Industry Fund L.P. For
the purpose of the SFO, Dr. Li Xiaoyi is deemed to have an interest
in the 2,187,600 ordinary shares of ZKO held by Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Fund L.P.
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1) AFEERME - DHTHEH_F-AFAA=FTBER=-ZF
—ANERNACTAERE-Z-RF=A=1+HIETE

(2) HAFERME - DHATH_F-RFAA=ZFTBER=-ZF
—tERACTRARE S RF=A=1THIETE -

(3) AFEARMEL - DHATER_FT—tF+AT=AK=
—N\EFLtA+=ZARE-_ZT_tFNA+-ALETE -

4) HAFERME - DHATH_Z-NF+A+=AR=ZF
—NELAT=ZARE-_ZT-N\FUA+-ALETE -

(5) DAL SRR E—hE+A+RAR-_Z—
TrLATRERE-F-AEMAHIE LT -

(6) S FAKMHL - DHIA R
Tt AThARE-Z=

EFE+A+HEBR=%
A+ A T o

(7)  AFKBE - HRAIH-F_—FtA+—-RAR=-F
CoEtACH-BRRECE=-FEASTRALTE -

(8) KMt HRETR-Z-_—F+A-THAR=ZF
CEFEACTRARECT=CFMA S FIHE T
fit o

(9) HFEERME PRTE_T_HAFAA-TBER=T
—RFt AT HEE_Z=MF AT ABIEE -

(C) R=—Z-—m&+-A=+—8 /| BH1H(a)
12,7400 E 4 52 R A T LB : R (b)HEAT
155 A5 T 4 4 25 B30 L 4 5 x;ﬁﬁﬁﬁmi AR
8301 B IE T Bt

(d) »=z2-—mFE+=-A=+—8 =/BHELH
ErTfER Al $83 515,502,800 A JK BHR R} (3%
BHERBEROIEXVIIATE RBEEE) T
Ar15,502,8001 R ER R Bk o
?/J\ﬂ‘[ﬁiﬁ’]@ﬂﬁ%Eni(j:BA166,666Hx)EﬂEE
MEBRAEEER D AR HFENER
BEARTNRELTHHOER - TNRELH
A Lee's Healthcare Industry Investments
Limited #) 65% R # - ifi Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Investments Limited % Lee’s
Healthcare Industry Fund L.P. #) & & & %
A o IBRIBEFEFH REBE KL - =\ RETHER AR
Lee’s Healthcare Industry Fund L.P.3FE /)
2,187,600 K BHR B Z AR P A e ©
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(E) As at 31 December 2024, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee had
beneficial interest in (a) 23,557 ordinary shares of ZKO; and (b)
350,000 share options which can be converted into 350,000 ordinary
shares of ZKO when exercised.

(f) As at 31 December 2024, Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob, had beneficial
interest in 1,000 ordinary shares of ZKO. Ms. Chan Sau Lin, the
spouse of Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob, had beneficial interest in 1,000
ordinary shares of ZKO. The interest held by the spouse of Dr. Chan
Yau Ching, Bob, is deemed to be part of the interest of Dr. Chan Yau
Ching, Bob.

(g) As at 31 December 2024, Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl, had beneficial
interest in 34,323 ordinary shares of ZKO.

(h) Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had or deemed to have any interest or short positions
in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO that were required
to be entered into the register kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by all Shareholders of the
Company on 26 June 2002, the Company adopted a share options scheme
(the 2002 Share Option Scheme”). At the AGM held on 10 May 2012,
a new share option scheme of the Company (the “2012 Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted upon expiry of the 2002 Share Option Scheme.
At the AGM held on 19 May 2022, a new share option scheme of the
Company (the “2022 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted upon expiry
of the 2012 Share Option Scheme. The 2012 Share Option Scheme
expired on 9 May 2022. However, share options granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme before its expiry date will remain valid, subject to
the same terms and conditions.

2012 Share Option Scheme

(a) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the 2012 Share Option Scheme is to advance the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders by providing to
Eligible Persons of the 2012 Share Option Scheme (as defined
below) a performance incentive for continued and improved service
with the Group and by enhancing such persons’ contribution to
increase profits by encouraging capital accumulation and share
ownership.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= R ZEERZE AL A R A 7]

(e) wn=z=—msE+=A= + A - 2L (a)
23,557 RIRRI @R : R (b)TETTIER 88
#4350, Oooﬂﬁ)lzﬂﬁﬁﬂﬂtﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]%o 000178
MRl A E mim o
(f) w—=-—m&s+-A=+—8 BREH#LH
1,000k RIR Rl E Ak S B sl zs - BK
Eﬁimﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁiﬁlmmw%ﬂ@ﬂﬁ
BT S B S o RREBTRIERE0E
SR AR EH T EB S

(g) n=Z-—mE+=-A=+—R EERELH
34,323RIBHRBI L BB E Eaniles ©

(h)%iz%ﬁﬁ%%'\:;:m¢+—ﬁz+—
ARDEERRDITRABRBESSE A 08
%Aﬁmw¢@7&ﬁ@ﬂmhal@%iﬁ”
T HE 1501 MRk 1) RABRBRE () o kiR S
BEASARARTRBES KB EIEDE3521%
rﬁmﬁﬁﬁ RIRBIZETAENGARER

B AR SOA R -

R

REARRAZERRNR-_ZFZ_FRA - +NBRBH
EMRBR - ARRHRM—ABBET (=22 =F
MR E ) - Eé:%**ﬁﬁﬂJrEI;ﬁ%ﬁE’]Hx%iﬂﬁ
REL - ARFAR-FZ - FRREZ u/ﬁﬁﬂmﬁm—
EHBRE ([ 2 - FBRETE]) -
“HERATARBITHBRRAFA R L $’AEEA
T FREEER R ui%ﬂﬁ%iﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%éﬁg‘ (r=
S__FHEREED - CEBRES R E N
T _FRANBEER - %ﬂﬁ R=T— —FRRES
Em RS RE - T FREE R ERE
HHDAB R - ZAARERSK L ARIFARIR

——FBKREE
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(b) Participants of the Scheme

(c)

A committee of the Board comprising the two independent non-
executive Directors (the "Committee”) may, at its discretion, invite
the following persons (the “Eligible Persons of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme”) to participate in the 2012 Share Option Scheme:

i Employees - Persons who are employed by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, and who remain employed, and work in
excess of 20 hours per week;

ii. Executive Directors — Subject to the same requirement as
employees. Additionally, any grants of options to executive
directors require the approval of the independent directors
who make up the Committee, as well as compliance with
Rule 17.04 of the Listing Rules;

iii. Non-executive Directors, including independent nonexecutive
Directors - Persons who act as non-executive Directors
and who remain so engaged, in addition to compliance with
Rule 3.11 and Rule 17.04 of the Listing Rules; and

iv.  Advisers and consultants - Members from time to time of the
Company’s scientific advisory board and other persons as
long-term advisers or consultants to the Group in any country
where it operates. The scientific advisory board provides the
Company with guidance and evaluation on the development
progress of research project undertaken by the Group.

Maximum numbers available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme shall
be subject to a maximum limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on
10 May 2012, the date on which the 2012 Share Option Scheme is
conditionally adopted and approved by the Shareholders at the AGM,
which is 47,023,543 Shares.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the 2012 Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024 were Nil, representing
0% of the Company’s total number of issued shares as at the date
of this annual report. As at 31 December 2024, the number of
Shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the 2012 Share Option Scheme was 23,017,000
(31 December 2023: 24,367,000), representing 3.9% (31 December
2023: 4.1%) of the Shares in issue at the date of this annual report.

(b)

(c)
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BRNEEM3.9%(—E-_=F6+_A=+—08:
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(d) Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person of the

(e)

(f)

2012 Share Option Scheme

The total number of the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted (including those granted (whether
or not cancelled) under the 2012 Share Option Scheme) and to be
granted to any Eligible Persons of the 2012 Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to the date of the grant to such Eligible Person
of the 2012 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued
Shares from time to time (the “1 per cent. Limit of 2012 Share
Option Scheme”). Any further grant of options in excess of this 1
per cent. Limit of 2012 Share Option Scheme must be subject to
(i) separate Shareholders’ approval with that Eligible Persons of the
2012 Share Option Scheme and his close associates (or his associates
if the Eligible Person is a connected person) abstaining from voting
and (ii) the issue of a circular.

Time of exercise and vesting of the option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
2012 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as specified
by the Committee in relation to each such option in its terms of
grant provided that the period within which the option must be
exercised (that is, the final expiration date) shall not be earlier than
six months but not more than 10 years from its date of grant (subject
to earlier termination in accordance with the rules of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme).

The Committee may provide restrictions on how and when an option
during the period for which an option may be exercised, including,
if appropriate, a minimum period for which an option must be held
or a performance target, if any, which must be achieved before an
option can be exercised. The 2012 Share Option Scheme has not
specified any performance target that must be achieved before an
option can be exercised.

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the total vesting period of
options granted ranges from approximately 6 to 48 months.

Basis for determining the exercise price and
acceptance of offer

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares for five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares.

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, upon acceptance of the
option, the grantee of an option must pay HK$1 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.
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(9)

Remaining life of the Scheme

The 2012 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the date of adoption, i.e. 10 May 2012. The
2012 Share Option Scheme expired on 9 May 2022.

2022 Share Option Scheme

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the 2022 Share Option Scheme is to advance the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders by providing to
Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme (as defined
below) a performance incentive for continued and improved service
with the Group and by enhancing such persons’ contribution to
increase profits by encouraging capital accumulation and share
ownership.

Participants of the Scheme

The Board may at its discretion invite the following persons (the
“Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme”) to
participate in the 2022 Share Option Scheme:

i Employees - Any employee (whether full-time or part-time)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who has contributed
to the Group’s research and development, including but not
limited to project leader, project member, engineer and
technician;

ii. Staff and advisers - Any staff, adviser (professional or
otherwise), consultant, agent or business partner that the
Company deems important to provide support to the Group;

iii. Directors — Any director (including executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive directors) of the Group.

The Board would assess the Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share
Option Scheme based on factors such as their working experience,
industry knowledge and their past and/or expected contribution
to the development and success of the Group. For the basis of
determining the eligibility of employees, staff, advisers and Directors
as the Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the
Board would consider period of employment, responsibilities, time
commitment, knowledge in the industry and prevailing market
practice.

(9)

Report of the Directors

EREWE

=

RIS T AR

R FREBRE A RMAREI - —F
FEATR)ESTFRER - —T— _FRBMEFT
ZER-Z-_—_FHANBERW -

ZECCFEKRENE

(a)

(b)

FFEINBH

T FEREGENEN  RRZE

BREANZSERAL(EER TORMRIRE
BB R SR LS ) TRk B AR EIR Bk
SR - ARBBEE RTEE AT AR5 SE
BERRMEANEL TR - EMREARTREK
REF% o

AN SRAL

BEEgRBER MIAL( =2 BRE
HEIAERALTDSE T T — FRIRIERTE

i BE -HAKBENMEEERMNARFHN
HALAM B R RN EREE (T Bkt
B BEETNRREBLE  HEKE -
TR Al &

ii. BETIREM - ARG HEANEERES
BYENEMNET  BER(FEREMYE
B BRER - RIEBREBKBYE

i, BEE-ARENIMEE(RERT - IEH
TTRIBIIFITESR) °

EE AR ZHERZNE T - FREUE
EIEBERAL P TIERES  FTEMBIARB
ER/AEHRAEEEREKIDFIEER - 5t
ETREE BT BRMEERENE-_T_—
FREETEHAERALTERNELENE @ &S
SHEEEAY - BE - REKRE - TEABR

BRI ER -

Annual Report 2024 3§

®
&
o
v

45



46

Report of the Directors

—+

=

(o)

(d)
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Maximum numbers available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2022 Share Option Scheme shall
be subject to a maximum limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on
19 May 2022, the date on which the 2022 Share Option Scheme is
conditionally adopted and approved by the Shareholders at the AGM,
which is 58,883,534 Shares.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the 2022 Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024 were 55,869,534 (31
December 2023: 57,633,534), representing approximately 9.5% (31
December 2023: 9.8%) of the Company’s total number of issued
shares as at the date of this annual report. As at 31 December 2024,
the number of Shares in respect of which options had been granted
and remained outstanding under the 2022 Share Option Scheme
was 3,014,000 (31 December 2023: 1,250,000), representing 0.5%
(31 December 2023: 0.2%) of the Shares in issue at the date of this
annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Persons of
the 2022 Share Option Scheme

The total number of the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted (including those granted (whether
or not cancelled) under the 2022 Share Option Scheme) and to be
granted to any Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant to such
Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed
1% of the issued Shares from time to time (the “1 per cent. Limit
of the 2022 Share Option Scheme”). Any further grant of options
in excess of this 1 per cent. Limit of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
must be subject to (i) separate Shareholders’ approval with that
Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme and his close
associates (or his associates if the Eligible Person of the 2022 Share
Option Scheme is a connected person) abstaining from voting and (ii)
the issue of a circular.
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(e)

(f)
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Time of exercise and vesting of the option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
2022 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as specified
by the Board in relation to each such option in its terms of grant
provided that the period within which the option must be exercised
(that is, the final expiration date) shall not be more than 10 years
from its date of grant (subject to earlier termination in accordance
with the rules of the 2022 Share Option Scheme).

The Board may provide restrictions on how and when an option
during the period for which an option may be exercised, including,
if appropriate, a minimum period for which an option must be held
or a performance target, if any, which must be achieved before an
option can be exercised. The 2022 Share Option Scheme has not
specified any performance target that must be achieved before an
option can be exercised.

Under the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the total vesting period of
options granted ranges from approximately 12 to 48 months.

Basis for determining the exercise price and
acceptance of offer

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the
date of grant; and (ii) the average closing price of the Shares for
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant, or (where
applicable) such price as from time to time adjusted pursuant to the
2022 Share Option Scheme and subject to the requirements under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Under the 2022 Share Option Scheme, upon acceptance of the
option, the grantee of an option must pay HK$1 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The 2022 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the date of adoption, i.e. 19 May 2022. As
at 31 December 2024, the remaining life of the 2022 Share Option
Scheme was approximately 7.4 years (i.e. until 18 May 2032).

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(e)

(f)

(g9)

AR ROBIRET BRERARA

Report of the Directors

EREWE

=

BRETENRBEDR

BRETRAESENRLERTRE —HER
RPN SAENEARERR - - —FERE
FTEIEVIERITEE - MERZRTT IR R RO HARR (AN &%
Wﬁﬂ/ﬁ H) i BB NS ER 10 (AT RR
CERC CFEBEREMAR AR AL o

EEgA R ABRERTITERENTEAR R
BrRIRR S - a%(ﬁﬂiig)JA/,\%E%H%EEE’JEL
BQ%F'EEJW%Hx%Tm@w WBER|RRE B IZ(0
B)o =Z ffiﬁﬁﬂﬂéfﬁ'zﬂ]lﬁ? TE R RR A AT
TTERINEERINEMRIE B R

RIE—ZT - — S BEREE
BEMNTH12248(EA -

TR BB R 42

EETEENEEREAEY

TEERSERETE - BT ORATREANK
B (NREE BN IKRTE  R>I)BEE
HE BT AEE X AR FHRTE - R(E
R)EEMRAETLEORERRT - TRIRE
R FERER ERRNER

RIE=T = Z FRRRERT B - PO AR AR -
BREAEADAZMNIBLTARA R
MR R AR AEAORE -

FHEIER T B R

TR CFRREEEEAB A==

FAATAREHTFRBR - R _WF+—
A=+—8 —Z-__—FBEREFIHRT AN

HNE7TAFREE_ZT=—_FHA+/\AH) -

BTSRRI 37

Annual Report 2024 3§

@
Q

47



Report of the Directors
EEEWE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' FERRRTBSNRER
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the following parties (other than a Director or R-Z-M&E+—-F=+—H  FIAT(AAFTEEH
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in  &&TTEABBRINAARA TN MABEROFHER
the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which are required to  BEHMHAEEHIEXVEE2R3ID HMAEMSARAF]
be notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of MURBARZALRRBEESMASEAIE3IZ36IEMER
the SFO and required to be entered into the register maintained by the  EfAVEmEsAR -

Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

(a) Long position in Shares (a) RRGHIHFE
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name Capacity shares held shareholding
=19 3 14 FiisEEREA BFREBNEDL
Huby Technology Limited Beneficial owner 114,000,625 19.36%
EmfAA
Apta Finance S.A. Interest of a controlled corporation 76,580,898 13.01%
—AR B EEER
Cavazza Paolo Interest of a controlled corporation 76,580,898 13.01%
— RS 25
Paponi Claudia Family interest 76,580,898 13.01%
BN 3
Qualister SA Beneficial owner 70,675,577 12.00%
ERBEAA
Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. Interest of a controlled corporation 76,165,488 12.93%
—ER R EE R ER
Li Zhenfu Interest of a controlled corporation 76,165,488 12.93%
—ER B EE R R
Lion River I N.V. Interest of a controlled corporation 76,165,488 12.93%
—AEREGEEER
GL Partners Capital Management Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 76,165,488 12.93%
—ER R EE R ER
Gortune Investment Co. Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 31,076,999 5.28%
ERRERERHBERAR —ER B EE MR
Panacea Innovation Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 29,500,000 5.01%
—HEREGEEER
Panacea Venture Healthcare Fund II, L.P.  Beneficial owner 29,500,000 5.01%
BEmlAA
High Knowledge Investments Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 16,000,000 2.72%
Em A A (L)
Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 1) 16,000,000 2.72%
ZNVS —fRR A EE MR (L)
Family interest (Note 2) 42,815,266 7.27%

Rtk (M2)

48  Lee's Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=FC K242 AR A A



Notes:
(1) These Shares are legally owned by High Knowledge Investments
Limited, which is entirely and beneficially owned by Dr. Li Xiaoyi’'s

spouse, Ms. Lue.

(2) These Shares are owned by Ms. Lue’s spouse, Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

(b) Long position in underlying shares -
share options of the Company

Report of the Directors
EEEWE

F&E -

(1) #& % W #£ )% # L A High Knowledge
Investments Limited# % © 2 AR AZ/NR1E
THEBE LT 2ERERES

(2) HZEBROHBELEINRET NRFLHESE -

(b) RIEBER 7 HIEFE —
KL AERE

Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of

Name Capacity shares held shareholding
A =) FrisEBREE BREAEI
Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky Family interest (Note 1) 4,435,000 0.75%
2k Kikhem (fiE1)

Note: FisE -

(1) These share options are owned by Ms. Lue’s spouse, Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

(c) Short position in Shares

No short positions of other persons and substantial shareholders in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company and its associated
corporations were recorded in the register.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information that is available to the Company, the percentage
of the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the pubic exceeds 25%
of the Company’s total number of issued shares during the year and up to
the date of this annual report.

(1) BEWRNEGELLORES ) RELEE -
(c) RERGHIXE

BRMP BRI EALREBRRRARA

TR ECAE I8 ) AR BB o R
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group conducted certain
transactions with parties deemed as “related parties” under applicable
accounting standards. The details of these transactions are set out in note
43 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the transactions
mentioned in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” which is subject to announcement and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, certain transactions
mentioned in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements also
constituted connected transactions or continuing connecting transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but are exempt from the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions, and details of which have been disclosed in
compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

1. Provision of financial guarantee to PPI, an associate
of the Group

On 11 February 2020 (as supplemented), the Company as guarantor
provided a corporate guarantee in favour of a bank as a security for
the provision of a revolving loan facility of up to HK$13,000,000,
a demand loan facility of up to HK$40,000,000 and an overdraft
facility of up to HK$6,000,000, provided that the total outstanding
balance of the overdraft facility and revolving loan facility shall
not at any time exceed HK$13,000,000, to PPI for the purpose of
funding its normal commercial operation.

The above continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by
the independent non-executive Directors and they have confirmed

that the transactions:

a. have been entered into in the usual and ordinary course of
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries.

b. are conducted on normal commercial terms.
(o are entered into in accordance with the terms of relevant
agreements that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of

shareholders as a whole.

d. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcements.
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The Company’s auditor, Confucius International CPA Limited, also
has confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions:

a. have received the approval of the Company’s Board of
Directors;
b. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant

agreement governing the transactions; and

C. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcements.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other transaction requiring
disclosure of connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 9.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group, which are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and
provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Business Risk

The Group’s business risks include rapid change in the general market
conditions, downturn pressure on the overall economy of China and price
competition from other market players. The Board is responsible for the
overall management of the business and review of material business
decisions involving material risks exposures from time to time.

Financial Risk

The Group adopts financial risk management policies to manage its
currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Board
also reviews monthly management accounts, capital structure and key
operating data of the Group.
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Compliance Risk

The Board adopts procedures to ensure the Group is in compliance with
applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Group engages professional
advisers and consultants to keep the Group abreast of the latest
developments in the regulatory environment, including legal, financial,
environmental, and operational developments. The Group also adopts
a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorised use or dissemination of
confidential or inside information.

Operational Risk

The Group adopts procedures to manage its operational risk, such as
inadequate management efficiency, inefficient raw material procurement,
and production facilities utilisation. The Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
covering business, financial, compliance and operational risks of the Group
and is satisfied that such systems are effective and adequate.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sustainability of the Group’s business relies on the growth of the
Group’s employees. Remuneration packages of the employees are
generally structured with reference to prevailing market terms and
individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an
annual basis based on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

Apart from salary payments, there are other staff benefits including
mandatory provident fund, medical insurance and performance related
bonus. Share options may also be granted to eligible employees of the
Group.

Relationship is the fundamentals of business. The Group fully understands
this principal and thus maintain good relationship with the customers to
fulfil their immediate and long-term need.

The Group strives to maintain fair and co-operating relationship with the
suppliers.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND
SERVICES AND ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses
and the communities with which it engages. The Group pursues this
business approach by managing its business prudently and executing
management decisions with due care and attention. Over the years, the
Group has been fully committed to environmental protection. Periodic
internal control meetings are held to review environmental issues in the
production plants to update environmental laws and regulations and to
make valuable suggestions and recommendations for improvement.
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COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS BIFER

The Group is not aware of any instances of material breach of or non- REZEZZ-NF+-_A=-+—HIFEREEAFH
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations such as the Hong AE  AEEWTNABEAENBRERERITETEA
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Listing Rules, and other applicable  #3;%2 FER - MEBATEDI($£622&) « FmiRAl
local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions during the year ended 31  URRTEGAEERBEANEME AR AR -
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND RIE - HERERRE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared in accordance  1B#5 FHiRBIMERC2EENIBE HERELRE - B
with Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules will be published on the websites of ~ ST F)49 U4 K B 32 B A8 VA 25475 o
the Company and the Stock Exchange separately.

STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEMES B TRIKEHE

The group companies operated in Hong Kong are required to participate A& ELENEE R FABRIEREIMEAESAEEN(F
in a defined contribution retirement scheme set up in accordance with  485%)2HMFREEIENRE - BIEE - EEEEA
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485). Under the & A% 5%z (&% 451,500 7w) » W AR BEHE
scheme, the employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly  4MitF - BEX T AMHKAREE A¥5% (5% 51,5008
salaries up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make  Jo)([Z&&IMERK]) - WAREETEIMNE B EN B85
additional contributions. The employer’'s monthly contributions are [ - Z:tEIMEERAEENEENHSHAE  WERRD
calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly salaries up to a maximum  BUYEEMNESN - EEN65HEENR - FMEiTR L
of HK$1,500 (the “Mandatory Contributions”), and are charged to the  Tf{EgEfF - ATEREIE £ 2 EPoa bl (LR -

profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the

scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the

Group in an independently administered fund. The employees are entitled

to 100% of the employer’s Mandatory Contributions upon their retirement

at the age of 65 years old, death or total incapacity.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations in the PRC and 40 IRIEFE R GEBFORL - REBERFREME
Taiwan, the employees of the group companies operated in the PRC and E&EAQARNEEATENEEBTEFNBEREER
Taiwan are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated  KiEFIFHEINKE - ZSZEE QT EIR T ER AN
by the government of the PRC and Taiwan. Those group companies FADLERKER &M - AEARIREES -
are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to  A&LEEFLEREFNEEAENEEAELETMHER -
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation

of the Group with respect to the retirement is to make the specified

contributions.

Certain Directors will be entitled to lump sum payment upon retirement ETEEMWEDHERGAQTETEEY  BHAENE
and monthly pension payment after retirement if they have engaged in HEEZEAF—XBFANMNREREZAEEAEKS -

continuous service with the Company for certain years.

Particulars of the scheme of the Group are set out in note 38 to the  ANEEEINFBEIHNGEEREKMESS -
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2022 were audited by HLM CPA Limited ("HLM"”) and the
consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024 were audited by Confucius International CPA Limited
(“Confucius”).

HLM resigned as auditor of the Company with effect from 6 July 2023 and
Confucius was appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 6 July
2023 to fill the casual vacancy and to hold office until the conclusion of the
forthcoming AGM. Save as disclosed above, there was no other changes of
auditor of the Company in the preceding three years.

Confucius will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Confucius as auditor

of the Company is to be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Siu Fong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board believes that corporate governance is essential to the success
of the Company and has adopted various measures to uphold good
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of our shareholders,
investors, customers and staff.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the CG Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2024.

Looking forward, the Board will continue to conduct reviews on the
Company’s corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL
CODE FOR DIRECTORS'’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has adopted the
Model Code. The Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors
and the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with such Model
Code and required standard of dealing throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors provide the Group with a wide range of
expertise and knowledge in the pharmaceutical sector. The independent
non-executive Directors are persons of high calibre; with academic
and professional qualifications in the areas of accounting, financial and
pharmaceutical field. With their experience gained from senior positions
held in other companies, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board.

The Company has a Board diversity policy whereby it recognises and
embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. It endeavors to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The list of Directors and their roles and functions is posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated and
are not exercised by the same individual. The Chairman of the Company
is Ms. Lee Siu Fong and the management committee is responsible for
the effective and timely management of the daily activities and business
dealings of the Group, as well as implementation of all policies and
decision approved by the Board and to assist the Board in implementing
the Group’s strategic plans.

The Board formulates overall strategic plans and key policies of the Group,
monitors its financial performance, maintains effective oversight over
the management, risks assessment, controls over business operations
and ensures good corporate governance and compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. Responsibility in relation to daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated to each of the
executive Directors and senior management.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 14 Board meetings and 1

TERTHARNACERED - W3FH — ARRRE -
ARRNERERTNIZL  MERZEGARELEE
AEEBREBIZOAMEFEIE - URIETRER
BEREHAENBERIRTE - URBHEREHITAEE
HERREAR & o
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BRI - BRFYERE  RRITENEUEE 8EB
RS WIERRIFNARER MBS EARER RE
EME - ARBFERATRBEBATNEERR TS
WTEERSRERE -

HE-T-ME+-A=t—ALFREEETTIRE

shareholders meeting were held and the attendance of individual Director EEHEK—ABRERE UTASESHESZNL
at these meetings is set out below: 8 -
Number Number of
of Board shareholders
meeting meeting
attended/ attended/
Total Total
HEEEes HERRAS
Attendees mEs B ERE B ERE
Executive Directors BITES
Lee Siu Fong (Chairman) TNF(FE) 14/14 1/1
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee (Managing Director) T (B FAEATIE) 14/14 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Li Xiaoyi e 14/14 1/1
James Charles Gale James Charles Gale 14/14 1/1
Huang Zuie-Chin Hlnis
(appointed with effect from 2 July 2024) (i =F=PyF+ A= HEL) 7/7 N/A
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Chan Yau Ching, Bob PR IE 14/14 1/1
Cheang Yee Wah, Eva BarE 14/14 1/1
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl EER 14/14 0/1

The Company’s auditor, Confucius International CPA Limited, also attended
the shareholders meeting.

During the year under review, a meeting was held between the Chairman

and all independent non-executive Directors in accordance with provision
C.2.7 of the CG Code.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

All the independent non-executive Directors have confirmed in writing
to the Company that they have met all the guidelines for assessing their
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding
that Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl of the
independent non-executive Directors have served on the Board for more
than nine years, in view that they have demonstrated the attributes
as independent non-executive Directors during their tenure in office
and taking into account their written confirmation of independence as
regards Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent and believes that
their continued service as independent non-executive Directors will be
beneficial to the Company and the shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Group regularly updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements
regarding subjects necessary in the discharge of their duties. In addition,
the Group has been encouraging Directors to attend training courses or
via online aids or reading relevant materials on the latest development of
applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can continuously update
and further enhance their knowledge and skills.

Records of the Directors’ training during 2024 are as follows:

/‘-/1— \
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EEH BAELEB=FHNE

FEBILFNITEECMAAREAER  HWECHA
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EBFMTEERREB I NEERELINERSR
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ENER  YEZERSHLEMRES 13GNE@RE
R ARBRBAEBILIENTESHBE Y - LHE
WEERBEFFATESNRERBEHE AR RER
B -

ESHIIRERERE
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s S EMAENEMER AR REERENRNER -
o REE-ERRBEELREAMERER  RAUK
B EROBIIRIZ LW L ERKBIEEBER
(IR A T S — iR = ELARBA AN SRR -

EER T FEMEIIEEENT
Type of
continuous
professional
development

training

BFEESERRE
Directors 5 EHNEE R
Executive Directors HITES
Lee Siu Fong (Chairman) W (EE) (2) & (3)
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee (Managing Director) T fE (B FAAATIE) (2) & (3)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Li Xiaoyi TR (2) & (3)
James Charles Gale James Charles Gale (2) & (3)
Huang Zuie-Chin (Note 1) =inE(MiEEL) (2) & (3)
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Chan Yau Ching, Bob PR IE (2) & (3)
Cheang Yee Wah, Eva B (2) & (3)
Lam Yat Cheong MHHEE (2) & (3)
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl EER (2) & (3)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Huang Zuie-Chin was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 2 July 2024. He obtained the legal advice from the
Company'’s legal advisor as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules
that are applicable to him as a Director and the possible consequences of
making a false declaration or giving false information to the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on 26 June 2024 and confirmed that he understood his obligations as

a Director.
2. Attending seminar(s) or training session(s).
3. Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business

or Directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND
ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects.
The Board is also responsible for preparing the accounts of the Group,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a
going concern basis.

The Company set up an audit committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rules 3.21 and the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 of
the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control and risks
management system of the Group.

The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, the internal auditors (where
an internal audit function exists) of the Company, and the management
as regards their duties relating to financial and other reporting, risk
management, internal controls, external and internal audits and such
other financial and accounting matters as the Board determines from
time to time. The Audit Committee is to assist the Board in providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system of the Group, overseeing the
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as may be
assigned by the Board from time to time.
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Audit Committee comprises three members, Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob
(chairman of the audit committee), Ms. Cheang Yee Wah, Eva and Dr.
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl, who are the independent non-executive Directors
of the Company. During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, two
meetings were held by Audit Committee to review and comment on the
Group’s draft annual and interim financial reports, and met with external
auditor and provided advices and recommendations to the Board. The
individual attendance record of each member is as follows:

/‘-/1— \
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BERZEGM=-LREMANK  IRAEBL(ERZES
IR BRELEIREFEREL  REHRRRAFNE
UIFHITES REE_T_MFE+_A=1+—HILH
BFE  BELZZESBRTTMREGH  UERHAEEN
¢J*&¢Hﬂﬁ7ﬁ‘&ﬁz ERWRHER - BEIMNEERENS
TEH AMNEESRUABALEEBER - 88KEN
1IE|Jt|jf$aEﬁZZZDT :

Number

of audit

committee

meeting
attended/ Attendance
Total percentage

HEBREES
Attendees e BRREBRE HER
Chan Yau Ching, Bob BRI IE 2/2 100%
Cheang Yee Wah, Eva BaE 2/2 100%
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl B 2/2 100%

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Remuneration Committee has been established in February 2012 in
accordance with the requirement of Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.
Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors and one executive Director.

Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee and Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob are
members of the Remuneration Committee. The Company has adopted
the model to make recommendations to the Board to determine the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director and senior
management. The major roles and functions of Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

a. Establish and apply a formal and transparent procedure for
setting policy on remuneration for executive Directors and senior
management, and for fixing the remuneration packages for all
Directors and senior management; and

b. Ensure that procedures and principles for fixing packages of all
Directors and senior management are proper so that the levels of
remuneration of Directors commensurate with their qualifications
and competencies, and that such remuneration is sufficient to attract
and retain the Directors and senior management but not excessive.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee meets at least once a year. During the year ended 31
December 2024, three meetings are held by the Remuneration Committee
and all the committee members attended the meetings to approve the
annual bonus payable to executive Directors for the financial year 2023,
the remuneration packages of executive Directors and the new appointed
non-executive Director during the year under review.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the Board has resolved
that the senior management of the Company comprise only the Executive
Directors of the Company. Please refer to note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements for details of the remuneration payable to the
Directors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Nomination Committee has been established in January 2022 in
accordance with the requirement of Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee of the Company comprises one executive Director
and two independent non-executive Directors.

Ms. Lee Siu Fong is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and Dr.
Chan Yau Ching, Bob and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl are members of the
Nomination Committee. The major roles and functions of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

a. Review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

b. Identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

(o Assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

d. Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors (in
particular the chairman or chairlady and the chief executive officer);

e. Review the policy on Board diversity (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
and any measurable objectives for implementing such Board
Diversity Policy as may be adopted by the Board from time to time
and to review the progress on achieving the objectives; and to make
disclosures of its progress on its review results in the annual report
of the Company annually; and
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f. Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive director at the general meeting, it should
set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting:

(i) the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

(ii) if the proposed independent non-executive director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

(iii)  the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and
(iv) how the individual contributes to diversity to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, two meetings are held by the Nomination
Committee with all committee members attended to assess and review
the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and make recommendation to the
Board for the individuals nominated for directorship.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Management Committee was established in April 2021 which comprises
two executive Directors and several key management personnels of the
Group in respect of research and development, manufacturing, sales and
marketing and finance. The Management Committee is established for the
purpose of effective and timely management of the day-to-day activities
and business dealings of the Group, as well as implement all policies and
decisions approved by the Board and to assist the Board in implementing
the strategic plans of the Group.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee is the chairman of the Management
Committee and Ms. Lee Siu Fong and several key management personnels
are members of the Management Committee. The major roles and
functions of the Management Committee are as follows:

a. Oversee the management and the administrative functions of the
day-to-day operations of the Group;

b. Review the documents from the senior management of the Company
on issues relating to its operation, management, strategies and
developments (such as vision, mission, and annual strategy of the
Company) on a regular basis and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes;
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C. Identify market changes and competition or make recommendations

to the Board on issues relating to the Company’s operation,
management, strategies and developments, such as Company’s
market positions, pricing strategies, new markets and strategic
partnerships;

d. Make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
Company’s operation, management, strategies and developments;

e. Handle such other matters as delegated by the Board from time to
time; and
f. Perform all such duties and all such acts in relation to paragraphs

above pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association and all
applicable statutory rules and regulations in force from time to time.

The terms of reference of the Management Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Management
Committee meets at least twice a year. During the year ended 31
December 2024, four meetings are held by the Management Committee
and all the committee members attended the meeting.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary’s biography is set out in the section under
“Directors and Key Personnel Profiles” of this annual report. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the company secretary has taken no less
than 15 hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems over the Group’s asset and
shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing such systems’
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against misstatement or loss, and to manage
risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems. The systems include
a well-established organisational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority, which is designed to safeguard assets
from inappropriate use, maintain proper accounts, ensure compliance
with regulations and regulate the handling and dissemination of inside
information of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has, through the Audit
Committee with the Group’s internal audit team and the assistance of
the management, conducted a review of the Group’s internal control and
risk management system, including without limitation to financial control,
operational control, and compliance control. The Board assesses the
effectiveness of internal controls by considering reviews performed by the
Audit Committee, executive management and auditors.
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The Board is of the view that the internal control and risk management
systems are effective and there are no irregularities, improprieties, fraud
or other deficiencies that suggest material deficiency in the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Total auditor’s remuneration for the fiscal year 2024 in relation to
statutory audit work of the Group amounted to HK$1,235,000 of which a
sum of HK$1,118,000 was payable to Confucius International CPA Limited,
auditor of the Company.

DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Board shall consider the
benefits of diversity when it reviews the Board composition. In designing
the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience and
qualifications, skills, knowledge, length of service and industry and
regional experience. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Measurable objectives include (i) at least one Director is female; (ii)
at least one third of the Board shall be independent non-executive
Directors; and (iii) the Board possesses a balance skills appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. Such objectives will
be reviewed from to time to ensure their appropriateness. The Board is
mindful of the objectives for the factors as set out above for assessing the
candidacy of the Board members, and will ensure that any successors to
the Board shall follow the gender diversity policy. For the Reporting Year,
all items (i) to (iii) have been fulfilled.

The Board comprises seven Directors, among which, three of them are
female. The Board are also characterised by significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of gender, nationality, length of service, professional
background and skills.

At the work place level, as at 31 December 2024, the Group had 1,022
employees in total composing of 497 male and 525 female (i.e. a female-
to-male ratio of approximately 51:49), reflecting a gender equally principle
generally adhere by the Group. The Group is determined to continue
maintain gender diversity and equality in terms of the whole workforce.
The Company expects this is achievable with suitable effort in promoting
the gender diversity culture, which the Group has been advocating for so.
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In terms of the Board’s composition, currently, three of the Directors are
independent non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review
and control of the management process. Our independent non-executive
Directors are of sufficient caliber and stature for their views to carry
weight. The Board has a mix of background and experience in various
fields including accounting and finance, legal, management, investment
and pharmaceutical. These diverse backgrounds, when taken together,
could provide the Group with considerable experience in a range of
activities.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy and review the Board composition under diversified
perspectives annually to ensure the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the
businesses of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy (including but
not limited to the Group’s financial results, cash flow position, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans), dividends may be proposed and/or
declared by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a
financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to fair disclosure and comprehensive,
transparent reporting. The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring
that there is effective communication with investors and that the Board
understands the views of the major Shareholders. On a day-to-day basis,
the primary contact with the major Shareholders is through the Board and
the chief financial officer of the Company.

Printed copies of the quarterly (on or before fiscal year 2022), interim
and annual reports are sent to all Shareholders. The most recent general
meeting of the Company was held on 22 May 2024. The meeting was
opened to all Shareholders and was attended by substantial Shareholders
personally present or by proxy.

As part of a regular programme of investor relations, senior management
holds briefings and attends conferences with institutional investors
and financial analysts to engage in a two-way communication on the
Company’s performance and objectives. A wide range of information on
the Group’s business activities is made available to investors and the
public through the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Announcements of the quarterly (on or before fiscal year 2022), interim
and annual results are also available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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In 2024, the Company held two teleconferences with analysts and
investors at its Hong Kong office. These activities allowed them to have
good opportunities to directly communicate with and understand the senior
management, operating management and general staff of the Company.

The Company has reviewed its prevailing shareholders’ communication
policy during the reporting period, and believes the shareholders’
communication policy is still appropriate and effective. Enquiries to the
Board may be made by contacting the company secretary through the
email, or directly by questions at an annual general meeting or a special
general meeting of the Company.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETINGS ON REQUISITION
BY SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") of the Company. Two or more
shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth (10%) of
the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at the
general meeting of the Company may send a written request to the Board
of the Company to request for an EGM. The written requisition, duly signed
by the shareholders concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting
and must be deposited at the registered office of the Company.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general meetings may
follow the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing through the company secretary whose contact details are
as follows:

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited

1/F, Building 20E, Phase 3

Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2314 1282

Fax: (852) 2314 1708

Email: investor@leespharm.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents, and these documents
are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT S

SUAN-CHVA

Confucius International

RREBEREFTENFB AR

CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE’'S PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee’s
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to 229,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Revenue Recognition
(Refer to Notes 7 and 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements)

The Group’s revenue amounted to HK$1,400 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. Sales of goods are recognised as revenue when goods
are delivered and titles have been passed.

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of
recognition of revenue.

Our response
Our main procedures in relation to revenue recognition included:
- Obtaining evidence regarding the transfer of control of ownership.

- Testing the key internal controls over revenue recognition, and
assessing whether the accounting policy related to revenue
recognition was applied appropriately and consistently throughout
the year.

- On a sample basis, making selections from sales records and
delivery records, and tracing to their contracts, delivery orders
and customer’s acknowledgement of receipts, and paying special
attention to samples before and after the end of the reporting period
to assess whether the relevant revenue was recognised in the
correct period.

Based on our procedures described, we found that the amount and timing
of the revenue recorded were supported by available evidence.
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TN 2B S

Valuation of Retirement Benefits on Defined
Benefit Plan

(Refer to Note 38 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements)

The Group entered into service contracts with the eligible directors to
provide certain retirement benefits. There is judgement in determining
valuation of the retirement benefits as recorded at the end of the
reporting period. The valuation is based on a number of assumptions
including discount rate, growth rate of salary and life expectancy. As at
31 December 2024, the Group reported retirement benefits of HK$123
million.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the valuation of the retirement benefits
on defined benefit plan included:

- Assessing the independence and competence of the independent
external valuer appointed by the Group to calculate the fair value of
the retirement benefits.

- Assessing the accuracy and relevance of the input data provided
by management to the independent external valuer by challenging
and corroborating the market data and information from similar
transactions from independent sources.

- Evaluating appropriateness of the methodology and assumptions
used by the independent external valuer.

- Testing mathematical accuracy of the underlying valuation.

We found the methodology and key assumptions to be reasonable.

Intangible Assets Recognition and
Impairment Assessment

(Refer to Note 20 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group reported intangible assets of
HK$1,135 million, of which HK$823 million were capitalised development
expenditure and HK$312 million were license fees.

Development expenditure mainly comprised of development of
pharmaceutical products. The Group capitalised eligible product
development costs upon meeting the criteria as described in Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 38 “Intangible Assets” ("HKAS 38”). Capitalisation
criteria assessment requires significant management judgement and there
is measurement uncertainty at inception and throughout the lives of the
individual projects.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Management is required to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether any indicator of impairment exists, which requires significant
management judgement and assumptions with reference to the ability to
use or sell the products, its future market or economic development.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the recognition of intangible assets
included:

= Gaining an understanding of the business process undertaken by
management to assess the appropriate accounting treatment for
each project.

= Assessing the reasonableness of recognition and eligibility criteria
for intangible assets by challenging the key assumptions used or
estimates made in capitalising the cost.

= Testing on a sample basis the expenditure capitalised against source
documents and signed contracts.

= Assessing the ownership of license fees.

Our main procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
intangible assets included:

= Assessing management’s determination of the impairment based on
our understanding of the nature of the Group’s business.

- Assessing whether there are any indicators of impairment by
understanding the business and rationale for the products under
development.

= Discussing with and interviewing the responsible staff and managers
on the progress and future prospects of respective development
projects.

— Selecting products with significant development cost and request for
independent valuation to be done for impairment assessment.

Based on our procedures described, we found the recognition and
impairment assessment on intangible assets to be reasonable.
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TN 2B S

Fair Value Measurement of Unlisted
Investments Held As Financial Assets at Fair
Value Through Other Comprehensive Income
and Through Profit Or Loss

(Refer to Notes 23 and 24 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements)

The Group held several unlisted investments which were measured using
either market observable inputs or unobservable inputs, and valuation
techniques. The Group’s fair value measurement of the financial assets
arising from the unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value of
the unlisted investments was grouped under level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s unlisted investments which were
measured at fair value amounted to HK$104 million, which had significant
unobservable inputs in the valuation, and categorised within level 3 of fair
value hierarchy, representing 3.97% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2024.

The valuations of these unlisted investments are conducted by an
independent qualified valuer. The appropriateness of the valuation is
dependent on determination of different valuation techniques and certain
key assumptions. With different valuation techniques and assumptions
applied, the valuation result can vary significantly.

As the unlisted investments are considered significant due to the size of
the balance and the inherent judgement involved in determining the fair
value measurement, is considered as a key audit matter.

The fair value was determined using market approach, income approach
and reference to the prices of underlying investment portfolio quoted by
administrator. The determination of fair value measurement requires the
management to exercise their judgement to ensure the appropriateness of
the estimates and assumptions.
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Our response MR E e

Our procedures in relation to management’s fair value measurement of  HfIBEREEEYIE FHRENAFEFENEFEE
unlisted investments included:

- Evaluating the independent professional valuer’s competence, — FHEE N BEGEMARLE e REEM -
capabilities and objectivity.

- Focusing on the valuation methodologies and assumptions of  — AIEATEERTEBEEAFE=RNIELTE
unlisted fund investments that were classified as level 3 in the fair SRENBETERBR @ WA EEERGEER
value hierarchy and involving valuation specialists in evaluating and FHELAT R IE ¢
assessing:

- the valuation techniques through comparison with the —  EREmS EEANGEERMLEREER
valuation techniques that are commonly used in the market; fiiy

- the validation of observable inputs using external market data; = {5 P HNER 17 35 B 5 78 R B 52 ) A B85
and K

- the reasonableness of management’s assumptions. = ERERXNSIRM -

- Checking the accuracy and reasonableness of the input data —  REEEERBEYZEGHEMBENHAEED
provided by management to the independent professional valuer. MBS IRE o

- Review sensitivity analysis in consideration of the potential impact —  ZEZ|ZZEREBHRDASIEAIALM L1780 F1T8
of reasonably possible upside or downside changes in these key {EEVBERLE - RAFREDT

assumptions.

Based on our procedures described, we found the impairment assessment  ER LilliEfr © HFIZEIBERERIE LT IR EFTERMAL

on unlisted investments adopted by management to be reasonable. AN GEEARE -
OTHER INFORMATION HMER

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. EBSAFREEZTUHEMEERES - HibESBETHNE
The other information comprises the information included in the annual iﬁWE’Mép B BERE M BEHRE R aZE
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our MR

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the  Efi%4GAMBHREANERITTREEMES LN
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion %5 E (s BRI A NEE £ ©
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 44K MY4GAMBRENET @ RN EEREE
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, {8 @ FEILBIEF  ZEEMEE RS EZA KR
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the  RI&ERFIEEBRETF THROBRFES ARBSE
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit LI FFAEEAEMRRIMABER - ERRMESATHLT
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we  {E ' MR E MR AHME S FEEAERBRIL - RFFH
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this  BWREZEE - £ HHE  RIDREERRE o

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.
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TN 2B S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Plan and preform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for proposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
TN 2B S

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identified during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguard applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Lap Chi
Practising Certificate number: P04084

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
melEmk

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-_A=1+—HIFE

Notes
BT
Revenue e 7
Cost of sales SHER A
Gross profit e
Other income EAb A 10
Other gains and losses, net Efbias RSEFRE 11
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER
Administrative expenses THER
Provision for expected credit losses, net  JAHA(Z B E B & F5
Research and development expenses MrRRFAZEEA
Profit from operations Fedyenbil 12
Finance costs B ISR AR 13
Share of results of associates DIEEE AR R 22
Profit before taxation FRA BIDE A
Taxation HiIA 16
Profit for the year NG A
Attributable to: T AL -
Owners of the Company AREHEEA
Non-controlling interests IR R
Earnings per share BREF 18
Basic AR
Diluted #E

The notes on pages 83 to 229 form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

EB8IAEF 2298 2 MEBRA LA M BI|MR L — &

g

o

2024
—BomE
HK$’000

FExT

1,399,969

(646,614)

753,355
62,450
(22,542)
(387,292)
(195,298)
(13,702)
(83,829)

113,142

(14,190)
(839)

98,113
(29,501)

68,612

93,099
(24,487)

68,612

HK cents
A4l

15.81
15.81

Annual Report 2024 3§

2023
—E=4F
HK$'000
FHT
1,053,034
(501,723)

551,311
77,257
5,977
(304,296)
(188,612)
(1,280)
(96,804)
43,553
(11,898)
(870)
30,785
(10,836)

19,949

16,698
3,251

19,949
HK cents
bl
2.84
2.84
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

<

@

L RABERRHEHMEEKREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

e®

2024 2023
—B_mF —Eo=F
HK$'000 HK$’000
THExT FHT
Profit for the year REE R 68,612 19,949
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Hip2mE (A%, M
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to  HEAIfEEHHBEEF 2 EE ¢
profit or loss:
- Exchange differences on translation of financial —i2Z/85NB A RB#RE 2 E K =5

statements of overseas subsidiaries (32,660)
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently HEET@&EHoEEER7EE ¢
to profit or loss:
- Fair value changes of financial assets at fair ~ —IZAFEZBEMEERESIRZ T
value through other comprehensive income BEZAFEE (420,125) 140,293
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for ANEFHEMEE(FAX), M - BHRFEE
the year, net of tax (463,076) 107,633
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for AEERE(FX),WaaE
the year (394,464) 127,582
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the A ALREEAFER2E(FIS), WA
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company VN/NIEZS DN (369,919) 124,663
Non-controlling interests FEVE R (24,545) 2,919
(394,464) 127,582

The notes on pages 83 to 229 form an integral part of these consolidated % 83B £ %2298 v WA AR A M iEHE 2 — 3
financial statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes
BiEE

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 19
Intangible assets ERAE 20
Goodwill HE 21
Interests in associates NG 22
Financial assets at fair value through BATESERIBRIECVFEE

profit or loss 23
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFEBEMEE SR B

other comprehensive income BE 24
Deferred tax assets RIERIHA E 34
Current assets REEE
Inventories =& 25
Trade receivables FEWE 5 IR 26
Other receivables, deposits and HAbEWSIR ~ B RIEMNFIE

prepayments 27
Advance to associates BT FHE AR 2 FIE 28
Tax recoverable A eI IR
Pledged deposits BTN 29
Cash and bank balances I & RIRTTAERR 29
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables FERTE SR 30
Other payables and accruals E bR RIERET B A Sill
Bank borrowings and overdrafts RITERREE 32
Lease liabilities HEBRE 33
Financial guarantee liabilities S EIREE 42
Tax payables P18
Net current assets REBEEFE
Total assets less current liabilities EEBERRBAE

mE BRI R

At 31 December 2024
RZZEZOF+=—A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-F —Eo=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET
400,586 443,369

1,135,017 1,076,655
4,366 4,366
4,206 5,045

11,185 11,564
269,823 682,842
8,098 10,199
1,833,281 2,234,040
287,514 298,106
161,096 84,590
119,130 100,170
569

2,192

216,845 171,000
784,585 656,627
141,967 74,147
449,788 439,021
149,957 122,119
7,802 7,452
12,967 =
8,773 6,079
771,254 648,818
13,331 7,809
1,846,612 2,241,849
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+ Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
S REMBIRRR

) c(,

e®

At 31 December 2024
RZZEZWNF+=-—A=+—H

2024 2023
—E g —T-=4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

PisE FHT FAT
Capital and reserves ERREE
Share capital f& 2 35 29,442 29,442
Reserves i 36 1,622,357 2,009,513
Equity attributable to the owners of A2RQFEEAEGES
the Company 1,651,799 2,038,955
Non-controlling interests ElSuilier Fa (102,893) (78,357)
Total equity Mg 1,548,906 1,960,598
Non-current liabilities RBEE
Other payables and accruals HA BN RIE R ERTE A 31 21,149 23,152
Bank borrowings RITREFK 32 63,908 70,636
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 5,631 3,933
Retirement benefits ERIRAEH) 38 122,790 110,100
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIEE E 34 84,228 73,430

297,706 281,251
1,846,612 2,241,849

The notes on pages 83 to 229 form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

D W

83EEF2298 2 MHBHAGLA T HHRE Z —#

The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 229 were approved $75H2F2298 A MBRIEN T - hF=
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2025 and B - TtHKESFeRERREAM TR TIESEK

are signed on its behalf by: REZE:
Lee Siu Fong Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
S e
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BE E
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity °

Share
capital

Bx
HK$'000
T

At 1 January 2024 HoRomE
-f-A

Employee share option benefits ~ E2EREER

Share options lapsed BRiERE

Gain on partial disposal of it /G

interests in a subsidiary Jnkasie
(Note 45) (Fitas)

Profitfor the year KEREA

Other comprehensive (expense)  ZEREHZE

income o the year (B%)/ &

- Exchange differences on -REGIHELT
translation of financial BERIER
statements of overseas =]
subsidiaries

- Fair value changes of financial ~ ~RAFEEBER
assets at fair value through 2EHRIIEL
other comprehensiveincome. EfEAE 7

NFERE

Total comprehensive income/ ~ AEE2ENE/

(expense) for the year (F%)eg
2023 final dividend paid (Note 17) Efi=F-=%54
RRa (Hiit7)
2024 interim dividend paid BRZR-mEH
(Note 17) RaH17)
At 31 December 2024 H-E-mE
A=A

Share
premium

RER
HK$'000
T

720,091

720,091

Merger
difference

G |
HKs'000
AR

9,200

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Share-based
compensation
reserve
WRfsfiz
Hefik
HK$'000
T#n

52138
406
(5,581)

FARRRARE

Other
reserves

B
HK$'000
T

65,293

Investments
revaluation
reserve

e
HK$000
Thn
(2,292,778)

(420,103)

(420,103)

(2,712,881)

GARRSBHE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NME+-_A=+—HIFE

Retained
profits

Exchange
reserve

EiGE REaR
HKS'000  HK$'000

ThL ThL
(104,956) 3,560,525

= 5,581

(#2915)

(42915) 93,099

(5,888)

(11,777)

(147,871) 3,641,540

Sub-total

/j\f-|-
HK$'000
Tin

2,038,955
406

Y]
93,099

(#2,915)

(420,103)

(369,919)

(5,888)

(11,77)

1,651,799

Annual Report 2024 3§

Attributable
to non-
controlling
interests

FEREREG
HK$'000
T

(78,357)

(24487)

(22)

(24,545)

(102,883)

it
HK$'000
T

1,960,598
406

1,548,906
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ARHEBBR

l\\/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company
KAARRARE Atrutabe
Share-based Investments to non-
Share Share Merger  compensation Other  revaluation Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium difference reserve reserves reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total
WikiARAZ
i RiAE i HeE ibhE  REEMRE B REAH Ng o SRERER o)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000
THL TEnL Thn Thn TEL TEnL Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn
At 1 January 2023
29442 720,001 9,200 61,792 65300 (2433314) (385 3543979 1,924,107 (81,583) 184254
Employee share option benefits - - 793 - - S S 93 = 793
Share options lapsed - - (10,447) - = 10,447 = = =
Acquisition of a subsidiary
(Note 44) - - - - e = = 313 313
Acquisition of additional interest
in a subsidiary (Note 45) - - - (9) - - 9) (6) (15)
Profit for the year RERER - - S S = 16,698 16,698 3251 19,949
Other comprehensive income/ 15 HME
(expense) for the year
- Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of overseas 2B
subsidiaries - e = = = (32,57) = (32571) (89) (32,660)
- Fair value changes of financial ~ ~BATEEEEL
assets at fair value through Bl evd
other comprehensive income BlREAT
2% e = = - - 140,536 - 140,53 (243) 140,293
Total comprehensive income/ ~ FEE2ENE/
(expense) for the year ()48 = 5 = = 140,536 (3257) 16,698 124,663 2919 127,582
2022 final dividend paid (Note 17)  EFZF==%#5
( > > > = > = (5,888) (5,888) > (5,888)
2023 interim dividend paid
(Note 17) it S e S = = (41 (4711) = (4ni)
At 31 December 2023 W32
tZA=1-H 29442 720,001 9,200 52,138 65203 (2.292,778) (104956) 3560525 2,038,955 (78357) 1,960,598
The notes on pages 83 to 229 form an integral part of these consolidated 3EEF2298 M FEBR ARG MEHRE 2 — 3

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n _\éiﬁﬁﬁéi

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes
B EE

Operating activities R
Profit before taxation BB R F
Adjustments for: BLNFIE B (E R -
Amortisation of intangible assets R EERH 20
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BEREETE

equipment 19
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair ZAFEEBERIEZHBEEZ

value through profit or loss, net NEEEEFE 11
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net HNEE (Wizs) /S IRFEE 11
Gain on deemed disposal of interests in AT ESHA AT 2 WS

associates 22(ii)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE R&E 2 W FE

equipment, net 11
Gain on disposal of intangible assets HEEREE 2 K 11
Interest expenses MERZ 113}
Interest income FBUEA 10
Impairment loss recognised B R EEE 11
Loss on termination of lease agreement RIS 2 E1E 11
Provision for expected credit losses, net  FBHI(=E B A HF4E 26, 42
Provision for retirement benefits RNER B 38
Provision for slow moving stock T E R
Share-based payments LARRAD 2.1+ 2 k8 37
Share of results of associates Pak [N e
Write-off of expired stock s BT E
Write-off of intangible assets MeHmAE A E 11
Write-off of property, plant and WM - BB R

equipment 11
Operating cash flows before movements “E&ESEFHHT 7 KLLEELRE

in working capital
Increase in inventories FEIEM
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables JEUE SR (EH), R
(Increase)/Decrease in other receivables, HbEWHIA - 1&& KIBFE

deposits and prepayments (),
Decrease/(Increase) in pledged deposits M EFEZUFL (& H0)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables B SERFIE M, CRd)
Increase/(Decrease) in other payables H e R0E PR B A0, O A)

and accruals
Cash from operations KEMEECRS
Interest paid BRFLE 39
Income tax refund REIFTEH
Income tax paid BFTER
Net cash generated from operating REEREECRSTHE

activities

BHE_T-NF+_A=1+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EEF —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$’000

FExT FHT

98,113 30,785
71,023 56,307
76,708 93,194

379 1,572

(3,614) 877
(147)

(10)

(41,623)

11,277

(1,534)

32,964

40

1,280

13,870

7,242

793

870

244

14 350
316,386 208,351
(7,223) (61,961)
(82,460) 21,086
(43,287) 22,349
2,164 (2,206)
69,981 (26,823)

9,839 (30,771)
265,400 130,025
(12,774) (10,402)

575 -
(11,189) (9,541)
242,012 110,082
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERLMER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

Notes
BT

Investing activities REEH
Additions of development cost and PR AN R EFI BN

license fee 20
Acquisition of additional interest in a R — R B A Rl

subsidiary 45
Acquisition of financial assets at fair WA FESBEMEEREYIRZ

value through other comprehensive MISEE

income 24
Acquisition of shares of associates I EER 2 N RIR D 22
Distribution received from investment BRIEAE DK 24
Purchase of plant and equipment i A I & 19
Payment for construction in progress fEZ TR 19
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HE MR &2 TS RIE

equipment
Proceeds from disposal of intangible HEREEE S HIEA

assets
Total interest received B F £ 4858
Net cash used in investing activities REZTHFAZRSTE
Financing activities AMEEE
New loans raised L ER 39
Repayment of loans EEEX 39
Repayment of lease liabilities HEREAE 39
Refund from lease agreement THEHZERRK
Dividend paid BEAIRE 17

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

BMETEH (A BEE2REFH

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
1 January
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

RERRSEEEM(HD)FE

R—A—BRESRRELEE

SVEETE R B 2 BB

Cash and cash equivalents at
31 December

R+-A=+—-HAZRERREEE

Analysis of cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and bank balances

Less: Bank overdrafts

RERBREZETN

Re RETHS
W RITESE

The notes on pages 83 to 229 form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2024
=B
HK$'000

FExT

(163,604)

(8,637)

1,531
(43,687)
(268)

241

22,060
2,133

(190,231)

183,919
(158,097)
(10,116)

(17,665)

(1,959)

49,822

167,528
(505)

216,845

216,845

216,845

2023
TR
HK$’000
TFHT

(130,280)

(15)

(6,097)
(605)

(27,468)
(1,964)

114

19,563
1,534

(145,218)

104,266
(68,933)
(11,477)
182
(10,599)

13,439

(21,697)

189,301
(76)

167,528

171,000
(3,472)

167,528

F8IREF229A X A BRALA HBEIRKRZ — =



1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'."/

GENERAL INFORMATION

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the section headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “"Group”) are the developing,
manufacturing and sales and marketing of pharmaceutical products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning
on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards; Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs”); and
Hong Kong (IFRIC) Interpretations, Hong Kong Interpretations
and Hong Kong (SIC) Interpretations (collectively referred to as
“Interpretations”).
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

—REH

FRABHERARAR (A7) AR
BHMKTARAT - MABRHREEHER
SHARAT (MR R LT - KATZE
300 0 B B SR SR AR
X — PO -

AARREMBE AR (GHE ARE]) 2 X EXH
R BUE - HEREHER -

KR MBHRTIABTES - METHBERR
AZIREEY o

FERFIEE RV R E LR
BEMBREER 28T

R EF | £ 2 HIEEE
HBREERREEBHE
BRIz 55T

RARFE - AEEGRREGS M BRERERER
BRGNS ABEMN T -_WNE—A—HH
W2 AR EFE IR S AR 2 TR R B
BREENRBEVFRELAZER] - BER
BRERNBFEEEVHRELEL BB E
Al UEEE(ERUEHREREZES)RE
EERBELBR(EARERE®)RE(REA
[ -

BRGITERELRZ mBEFERE AR DR

&5 REBARBESH
(ZEZTF)2
REEET
BAGENFELRz WHEZEZIERBEE
(EH)
BEAGERNE7R R  HEERERE
BB MRS 2R
FETHZIEET
ERMBHREZER ERMARHEAE
F165%.2155]

RAEERAZEINEE B BRS ERNREE
BB MEER ZETHREEARAFERBEF
B2 BBEIRRRRE R RN G SRR T
ZEERHLBEARTZE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability*
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification
HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-
HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements®

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Standards Accounting Standards - Volume 11?2

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4 Effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

In additions, the Group has already commences an assessment of
the impact of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (*MPF”) - Long
Service Payments (“"LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong, but
it not yet in a position to state whether this would have a material
impact on its results of operations and financial positions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In additions, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (*CO").

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” ("HKFRS
2"), leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases” ("HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” ("HKAS 36").
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

3.

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirely, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~
LA MBEENE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

. The size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

. Potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
ECECNFTA=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent the interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” ("HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
processes are considered substantive if they are critical to the ability
to continue producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the
related processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to
continue producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must
meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the "Conceptual Framework”)
except for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” ("HKAS
37") or HK(IFRIC)-Interpretation 21 “Levies” ("HK(IFRIC)-Int
21"), in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it
has assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are not
recognised.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the International Accounting Standards Committee’s
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in September 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date;

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance
with that standard; and

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]

REMBRAGRREEREK
BT ERER(H)

A (F)

PrUEE 2 AT BRI B E R P AE 2 BEMAT AR
BHRESSER(TBSERD TEERABEZE
& EBRBEHEREI7REE  HARBER
IREE ([ BREHERNEI7H DT E(HE
BHHRERELZES) 2EF2IR 4B (&
BERMERERBESS) -REF215 )4
BAZZ5REMRN EZFEBERTREBA
HRESCAERER  AERERREESER
EI7WAEE (BARUBHREREZRES) —2E
2155 - MIEBSIER - KRBETTHR -

BE THERZISMERIN - AT 7T BRI EE
HfARZ ARV ANRRREF ENREEZ
MIEBREH R 2IER(B_Z—FFNA%M
ZHBRHEHSERRR)AZEERABEER °

REBERE Bz IR EERMAEZ A
BERRE 2 N FAER - ETHIABRID

. BB REENBEREREBRENZHES
B BAEXBEDFIREEB S ERE
125E[ FfS it R BB SR ERIE 1957 [ &
BAEF R LR

. B IIB T 2 AR S A 2 SRR R HE R A
K E PRI S A BRI 75 2 A B A7 321
ZHRLHARZ AESBRA T AR
B HBREE B BEMEEAFE2HRE

o REEEUHRSEAESHHEREY
IRDEERDKILCELES 85 A
Y 8 2 B (S B ) IR IO A 5t
8K



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-
by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
does not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly
of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above),
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement
of financial position at cost less any identified impairment losses.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~
LA MBEENE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units ("CGUs") (or group of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of
the CGU (or group of CGUs) is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUSs).
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.
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—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest
held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of
HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

3.

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but
the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies
to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, goodwill is
recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of the consideration
paid over the share of carrying amount of net assets attributable
to the additional interests in associates acquired. Any excess of
share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the additional
interests in associates acquired over the consideration paid are
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the additional
interests are acquired.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control" of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~
LA MBEENE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVBBREHREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SHEERER (E])

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers EF A2 Wi (&)

(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time i & PAR H A — B G T fl B s r 7%

by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the Bl A1 2% SR AR RE B 40 B A 2 HE JE T HR P )

relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is TR :

met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the . B RSB B LR R KU R = AARS
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group ERAFTRE 2 Fla
performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that . AEBENAIEIE AT PEAEERELD
the customer controls as the Group performs; or iz 2 B2 ;5%

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an J AEERAREEIEHASEAEFERA
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable B2 BE - MAKERRGIAITEKERZE
right to payment for performance completed to date. SBRAED ZHIHE -

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the BRitt 2 Hh - PA% P RS BR TR S fn ok R 5 128 il R

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service. RIS ©

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition AR B s R B W A FERIBUR < 3 — IR

policies are as follows: S

Manufacturing of proprietary and generic products RESFRGFHRERREESIEER

and trading of licensed-in products

Revenue from manufacturing of proprietary and generic products BUEBRR RARERAREE S EERZ =T
and trading of licensed-in products are recognised at a point in time REEZEFREBRIEFPRER  —RIEE
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally mENIEPRERFEMIE - BES DK
on delivery of the product and accepted by the customers. No right Ao BEPIWERERE - Al - WagEEMNE
of return by customers is allowed based on contractual terms. BN ERFEMNERSER - —RiM= Uk
Revenue is thus recognised when the products are delivered to EBR—RMBHELE  MRELTBIEAILLHE -

the customers and the customers accepted the products. There is
generally only one performance obligation and the consideration
include no variable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVBBRREHREEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Other income

Licensing income is recognised over time on a time proportion basis
throughout the license period as providing the licensees the right to
use the Group's intellectual property.

Research and development service income is recognised when the
Group renders the services and all the benefits are received and
consumed simultaneously by customer throughout the contract
period. Thus, the Group satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises as over time.

Rental and utilities income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Contract balances

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability
is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~
LA MBEENE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVBBREHREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SHEERER (E])

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Leases HE

Definition of a lease HEZER

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to — &K FE—BIFAERET —BE#HRIE

control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange EZERZEFNRERR  ABRKEE 8

for consideration. HE -

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business HRBERERAERNGRELRIFE 165 Az 2

combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, BRI BRI R EBEHEEZER - AEEIR

the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based BEAVHREENEIFET 2R « KR

on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or H - ETEER (WER)FEEIRER—

acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed BHREXPEE—HEE - RIFSHIERIEHE

unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently BEFESE  [ATSHNESLETENT

changed. fl o

The Group as a lessee REBEREEA

(a) Allocation of consideration to components of a (a) HRES#ZSL . FAERE S
contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or HRBE—EREAEKTS AR —E%%
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group EFEIN 2 FHEKFFHEAR LD ZEH)
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease AEBENREEAKE D 2 EBERE
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the RO EEKI D 2 EBEREMN - K&
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the APz REESHEEKDLD 2 HETH
non-lease components. o

(b) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (b) FHHEREEEREEHE
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption AEBEH SRR A RA S R12(E
to leases of machinery and equipment and premises that have AR ZzAERTEEEERERE A
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement EMEBERREARYEEPEHEE 2 5
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the RER - AEBTHREEEEHERER
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease ZEEHE  RHHERKEEEEHEEZ
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets NHEEHEHNEAEREERAER -

are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
° any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and

equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(e) Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on

REMBRAGRREEREK
BT ERER(H)

HE (&)

REBEREBEA(E)

(e) HMEREE)

BEFATIBERE  FEBGEMTE
HEABQIERARAREREEE)

HERBHER B ITREBEREE
Rz RHEB AR EHRIBERT -
EREMFE B ERRZITREYH
BIERZ BENRBETIREN
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HENFATSHSEER TS
He@t RENSKEBET 2TRH
IsRm& L - FUERT - £A7
RITIR R EHEIER 2 HENRERE
THRREFAERFIEER

& o

REENREUBRARBHAEREER

the consolidated statement of financial position.

(f) Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate

lease if:

BB 2IEA 25 -
(f) HEEX

i & AT &M - BIARKESEEERE
AIREEEEETEIEE

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(7)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivables, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

(@)

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Rental income is
included in “other income” in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

(b) Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (*HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

(c) Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

(d) Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~
LA MBEENE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong Dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

3.

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals, the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowings costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost to those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grant will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purposes of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income” in profit or loss.

Retirement benefits

Defined contribution plan

Retirement benefits are provided to eligible staff of the Group. Hong
Kong employees enjoy retirement benefits under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme. The employer’s monthly contribution is
5% of each employee’s monthly salary with maximum amount of
HK$1,500 per month for each employee.

The pension schemes covering all the Group’s employees in the
People’s Republic of China (the “"PRC”) and Taiwan are defined
contribution schemes at various funding rates, and are in accordance
with the local practices and regulations.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans (including
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

c

e ABAFERE I N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVBBRREHREEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits (Continued)

Defined benefit plan

For defined retirement benefits plan, the cost of providing benefits is
determined by the valuation conducted by independent valuer at the
end of the reporting period, amortised over the expected average
remaining working lives of the participating directors.

The retirement benefits recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents the cost of providing benefits, based on
the valuation.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the service. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based compensation reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expenses.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

3.

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reserve in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognised a deferred tax asset related to
lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
difference.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

3.

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as
described below), are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals and
another portion is held for use in the supply of goods or services
or for administrative purpose. If these portions could be sold
separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), these
portions shall be accounted for separately, if the portions could not
be sold separately, the property is classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other
than construction in progress) less their residual values over their
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Buildings 2%-20%
Leasehold improvement 7%-33%
Plant and machinery 10%-33%
Office and laboratory equipment and electronic 10%-33%
equipment
Motor vehicles 10%-33%
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

License fee (intangible assets acquired separately)

License fees are consideration paid for the license contracts and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. License fees with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are ready for intended use over the remaining
license period. The license period ranges from 3 to 10 years, with
certain licenses contain renewal clause.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

License fees with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Development cost (internally-generated intangible
assets - research and development expenditure)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
of licensed-in products or from the development phase of internal
projects is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVBBRREHREEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Development cost (internally-generated intangible
assets - research and development expenditure)
(Continued)

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation commences when the
development of products completes. Amortisation of development
cost of internal projects is over the estimated useful life of 5 years,
while amortisation of development cost of licensed-in products is on
the same basis as license fees.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis
as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

AR e ISR MIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVBBRREHREEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGU.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUSs) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~
LA MBEENE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on weighted average
method. Cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct cost and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL")) added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “"Business Combinations” applies.

c

e ABAFERE I N

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

REMBRAGRREEREK
BITERER (&)

BI%IA(E)

MBEE

HBEEZSBEREETE

FFE TG B E ERRIRE AT E

. FEABBAHRERER B 2 LERN
NREMIBEE : &

. BRERNIEERPELEZREREMK
RENAERAEEASZFIE -

THa TG 2 B EEERRMZAHEEBE
fh2E SRz AFE ¢

. EUAHERKBRAHESRERS B R
ERANBEUBEE : &

. BRGERRIEEAREEZREREMLE
RENAERAEEASZFIE

P A B A 15 B EE BB IR AR D FEE BB 25 R
ZHNEE - MERIER SRR IRETNIENE
BUBREEANFEIREBAH ERZEBS
GreR s T FTTER 2 A KME - RIRBI S E E 7]
RIERAH - AEEA AR RE MR EER MR
E s 2YIERRE A TEZ R -

Annual Report 2024 3§

119



120

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

-

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(M

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(ii)  Equity instruments/partnership interests designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments/partnership interest at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments/partnership interests, and will be transferred to
retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in profit or loss.

(iii)  Financial assets as at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

This category contains investments in life insurance policies.
The Group accounts for the investments at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses”
line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

3.

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL"”) model on financial assets (including trade and
other receivables (excluding prepayments and other items which
were not financial instruments), deposits, advance to associates,
pledged deposits, time deposits and cash and bank balances) which
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(M

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(M

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 365 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

For loan commitments, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be
the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a loan
commitment, the Group considers changes in the risk of a
default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment
relates; for financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 365 days
pass due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/
LA MBEENE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVBBREHREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SHEERER (E])

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) BETAE)

Financial assets (Continued) MKEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) B ERE(E)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) (v) TEHEEEBZTERER(E)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases GRS EEERREEEALET SR MEE

where evidence at the individual instrument level may not EGENITABRESEZBRAT @ BT

yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the B AT EAERRHE -

basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade . BT ANEE (BASEEKE SR
receivables and other receivables (excluding prepayment RREABERZ (T EEREMNRRE
and other items which were not financial instruments), IEFFETAER) « & BT
deposits, advance to associates and cash and bank B AR 2 RIBA KIR RIRTTAS
balances); )

o Past-due status; . B AN

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and . BISAZME « RERITE &

o External credit ratings where available. . INEBEE R (i) -

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure BRI ECEREE AR - UBRREE

the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit R D #E H RS BRI -

risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying FIBWA TR S A E 2 BREAREE -
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is RIEZVMBEELREERE  ER]IER
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated T+ MBI AR TS E = 2 B AT E o

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial assets at FVTOCI, the Group recognises BRiR A FEE B E A2 E IS8R 2 B 75
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial BEI AEEFERAREFRAMBETIA
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the ZEEeEMNER NERAEMEIA
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding ZRERERER - HEEWE SRR
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account. SN BB iR EIE R ERERAREARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

3.

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the "Other gains
and losses, net" line item as part of the foreign exchange
gains/(losses);

. For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of
a designated hedging relationship, exchange difference are
recognised in profit or loss in the "Other gains and losses, net"
line item as part of the gain/(loss) from changes in fair value
of financial assets;

. For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income in
the fair value through investments revaluation reserve.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified
as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company's own equity instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL on
initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified is held for trading if:

. it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing
it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and

has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined contract
(asset or liability) to be designated as FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
For financial liabilities that contain embedded derivatives, such
as derivative financial liabilities, the changes in fair value of the
embedded derivatives are excluded in determining the amount to
be presented in other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained profits upon
derecognition of the financial liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
(excluding contract liabilities and other tax payables) and accruals,
obligations under license contracts, retirement benefits and bank
borrowings and overdrafts) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract issued by the Group is initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

. the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,

cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Derecognition — substantial modification of financial
liabilities

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate,
is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss
on the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10%.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities” original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities
and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or
loss at the date of modification.

-\
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~

e ABAFERE I N

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

REMBRAGRREEREK
BITERER (&)

BI%IA(E)

MHEERRATA(E)

UL A NERT SR (B

BEHEBRAEE 2 EERER - BUHSERE
AEEHTERIERYF AR - RIEER 2T
BEZRESEECSNRENRERZZRRE
= NHERR

RUITER — IR B2 EAEET

BEUBABZARNETRIELERR AREEE
BRAHBEERER(BEEERR)FHEE
FEHA BEBURA FRRIEHEXRER]  HEKE
AHEI R - AR TRERE(BEEMD
HERMBEFNDRER  LEHRREERF X
MR ZEHRRERREUBEERGRSRE
ZEBBRBEREEL10% @ AIAKERR
HIRBEARZR - At  ZIEKIERT AR AL L
R EAEEEZRALERERREILERZ
W BB —a00 - EEFIDR10%E « i
HEFT KR RIFERIERT °

BRENERR ILERZ M IERBEZIFERERT
HEVBaE L RESBREFTaNRESREZ
BREFE  HZPBREZRABHRNXNRE -
EEZRGRAHERZLET VB AEZRE
SHERBEARBTHREE - WBEEREESEE
ZAERHERERT E BB AR

Annual Report 2024 3§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set
off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand,
and time deposits with banks and other financial institutions, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

Such overdrafts are present as bank borrowing and overdrafts in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii)  the entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) the entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
Group is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity, and include:

(a) that person's children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person's spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependents of that person or that person's spouse or domestic
partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on the historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of
the CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the CGUs and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$4,366,000, net of impairment loss provision HK$2,342,000) (31
December 2023: HK$4,366,000, net of impairment loss provision
HK$2,342,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Determination of impairment loss event and
estimated impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade and
other receivables. The provision rates are based on past-due status
of debtors as groupings of various debtors on this basis demonstrate
similar loss patterns with shared credit risk characteristics. The
provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, trade and other receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amount of trade receivables is HK$161,096,000, net of allowance for
ECL of HK$2,497,000 (31 December 2023: HK$84,590,000, net of
allowance for ECL of HK$1,921,000).

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s financial assets
(including financial assets at FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI)
are measured at fair value with fair value being determined based
on significant unobservable inputs using valuation techniques.
Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes
in assumptions relating to these factors could result in material
adjustments to the fair value of these instruments. Details of the
fair value measurement are disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

4.

AR e ISR MIE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

BASES o Il R (At A REE M
ZEERR (&)

1G5t TEEM .2 EEFE (E)

BEERESEREREUARMTERES
AR B R WK IR 2 RLE

AEERAREREREERKRE SRR EME
WHR BRERER - BRRRILEERASE
BUEEREN A AREERRS1E 2 TRER
A EBABIARGT ER#EE - BB
BHENAEEZBESREOE  WEBSEAR
IR ZAEEEN RO TBRZRARES -
REREEH  AIBERIELEORSENT
i WERBAEEERZEE) - to) - BHREKR
HEABERREZEKRE SRR EMEKFIR
BRI A TREE B RIS -

BHREEBEREYETEHLEHE - HER
ARBERERTER - Al EESKRER
B -R-ZB-_NWE+—A=+—H EKEIEK
RZEEHE$%/A161,096,000/8 7T © EHIKRTEL
EEEEE#2,497,0008 (=61t
A=+—H : 84,590,000/ T ' EHRIELHE
EEER#E1,921,000%87T) °

METAZATENE

WZZE-MFE+-—A=+—8  AEEETHHK
BE(BREATFEEBERIIRZMEEEREZ
AP EFEBEMEEKERTIRZ HBEEERAF
Eit 8 @ MZATFENREEAGBERITZ EE
TRIERIE A BIREEE - NHEEAR R ERT &
H AR % A BURRS A (6 A BT R (A5 © A B
SRRZBREMEE @ AAEEBHZETR
ZAFEEHERHAE - AT EREBZFABNE
B BBmRIMEOREE

Annual Report 2024 3§

137



138

For the year ended 31 December 2024
ECECNFTA=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right of use
assets

Incidental to its principal activities, the Group acquired certain
license fees and capitalised development cost relating to the
development of pharmaceutical products, since these costs meet
the recognition criteria of HKAS 38. The Group reviews the carrying
amount of all intangible assets held at the end of the reporting
period and HK$19,195,000 (2023: HK$1,335,000) impairment was
considered necessary for these assets.

As at 31 December 2024, in view of impairment indicators, the
Group performed impairment assessment on property, plant
and equipment (excluding right-of-use assets) of approximately
HK$294,054,000 (31 December 2023: HK$325,368,000) and right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$106,532,000 (31 December
2023: HK$118,001,000) respectively. For the year ended 31
December 2024, impairment on each of property plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets were HK$Nil and HK$6,705,000
(2023: HK$22,658,000 and HK$8,971,000) respectively.

Depreciation

The Group’s net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
(excluding right-of-use assets) as at 31 December 2024 was
approximately HK$294,054,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$325,368,000). The Group depreciates the property, plant and
equipment, using the straight-line method, at the rates of 2% to
33% (2023: 2% to 33%) per annum, commencing from the date the
asset is placed into productive use. The estimated useful lives and
dates that the Group places the assets into productive use reflect
the directors’ estimate of the periods that the Group intends to
derive future economic benefits from the use of the assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4. BRISTHERMETIEEM
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ZEERR(E)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 1551 THEEM 2 EEXKIF (&)
(Continued)

Share-based payments DR 43 & {4 2 FRIE

The Group recognises share-based payments expense on options REEFRIR L 2 BIRERR ARG A4 2 FIH -
granted. Share-based payments expense is based on the estimated PARRD 21+ 2 FRIB TR IR = B ARPE M L3R HE B R
fair value of each option at its grant date, the estimation of which 2T AT EAE ESARZATEHERLE
requires the directors to make assumptions about future volatility BERE BEIKE - RRFERBRBITEERE
of the Group’s stock price, future interest rates and the timing with ZEEEHBR®R o —IBA LZEFEE 2 FEHT
respect to exercise of the options. The effects of a change in one BRZEEARELSATELEREAEZER - FR
or more of these variables could result in a materially different BB 2 A FEH5TA560,0007 (=
fair value. The fair value of the share options granted during the T=F:THEA) mEE-ZT_NF+=A
year was estimated at HK$560,000 (2023: not applicable) and the =+ —HLEFEEURNEZNZREE@A 258
amount associated with share-based payments for the year ended /406,000 L(=ZF==4 : 793,000/%7T) °

31 December 2024 is HK$406,000 (2023: HK$793,000).

Income taxes Fris®t

The Group is subject to income taxes in a number of jurisdictions. REBERZERDEERBAMEE - REED
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for B REEEASHEER - BELERHEH - &5
income taxes in various jurisdictions. There are many transactions FRGMEEFTS R 2 BT HEE W THEE ©
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is ANEBIBIRE R B ABMEBINGIE 2 (f 5T ph T8 A
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit MIBEABEEREE - MEFFEZHKTIE
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. ERERYRH 2 CREIE @ ZEERKZEE
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the bt S E AR 2 BN SR FR ST E ER BE -

amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners of the Company through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) and equity

attributable to the owners of the Company (comprising issued share
capital, share premium, reserves and retained profits).

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was as follows:

EXERER

AEERTEREE SRR AEE KBS
HEEE - ARSI SRS REAR
AREABBRBAL - HEFES  AREIE
BAFRRISTE -

&r

AEBE 2 EREBBFERFR(BEER  HkR
ReRREFE)RARREE AEGER (B
BEITERA - BOEE  FEREREBER) o

BEEBILE

RBEPRRZEERBELZRNT ¢

2023

—E-=F

HK$'000

FET

Debt (Note a) &% (Fira) 189,283
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEE (167,528)

Net debt BRFER 21,755

Equity (Note b) e (FiEDb) 2,038,955

Net debt to equity ratio FEEEER LR 0.01

Notes: MaE

a. Debts are defined as bank borrowings as described in note 32 to the a. B E R AIRA BIEHRERAM 32Tl 2 $R1718

consolidated financial statements.

b. Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Categories of financial instruments

AR e ISR MIE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

6. MEERERE

L Mk )

2023
—E_=4F
HK$'000
FHT

Financial assets MKEE
At FVTPL BAFESBERYER 11,564
At FVTOCI RATHEREBEMEE R ESIAR 682,842
At amortised cost TR SE PR A5 AR 305,957
1,000,363

Financial liabilities BEaE
At amortised cost RSP AN AR 768,134

Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s corporate treasury function provides services to the
business units, co-ordinates access to domestic and international
financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating
to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which
analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks
include market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate
risk, and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks and may
use derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures. The
use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies
approved by the board of directors, which provide written principles
on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of
financial derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments, and
the investment of excess liquidity. The Group does not enter into or
trade derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in
respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR E SRR T ot

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Market risk management

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the risks of changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and other price. The
Group may enter into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
the exchange rate risk arising on foreign currency purchase.

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign
currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations
arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

MR EREE (&)

5 E R EE
AEEEBEH T BERBAINEER  FIR K
Hi BB EE - AREARIINERHA I
EHBEINEREE ZERRER
MSREBAGRESMETE o

AEEEHTSRARRER LA BUERR 2T
AW o

SNEE BB
AEBEHITUINEEBZRS + Bt - BRFE
BEEESE -

AEEREHRERRMINEEEZEREERE
KRBz REeBEmT

Assets Liabilities

BE

2024

—s-mE
HK$'000

TET

Renminbi ("RMB") AR 355,298

United States Dollars ("US$”) =T 49,649
Euro ("EUR") BT 2,569

New Taiwan Dollars ("NTD”) e

590

Thai Baht (“"THB") ES7N 2,389

Japanese Yen (“"JPY") A

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEE2 it AR A 7

410,495 293,480 512,805 450,144

&fE

2023 2024 2023
T =F —E-mF —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TR FHT
232,978 407,920 327,456
57,250 42,464 86,568
298 42,963 24,726

691 1,645 2,413

428 47 19
1,835 17,766 8,962




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)
Market risk management (Continued)

Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2023:
5%) increase in the relevant foreign currencies against HK$. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusted their translation at the
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number indicates an increase in profit or equity whereas a number
in bracket indicates a decrease in profit or equity. For a 5% (2023:
5%) decrease in the relevant foreign currencies against HK$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit or equity.

1= AR I

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

MR EREE (&)

5 E R B ()

SN R BR SRR EE 2 AT

TERFMANEERBBINEL BT ZEER EFH
5%(=F==%F : 5%) ZBFEENIT - FEXED
MEBREUIINEFEEZ MABEEEIER @ W
HNEE 53R R EN 50 ¥ H EARIRE (EFHEE - [EH
BNom A SR 2 SN - i AESR SR A B R i Bk
R o HREBINE E BT ZERTERS% (=
T =45 : 5%) - RIS E A sl & B A A R 2K
BEEBARCTE -

Other comprehensive

Profit or loss income
Bz Hitt 2 mEWam

2023 2023

B =4 —T=4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT AT
RMB AREE (1,131) (3,936)
USss$ e (1,804) 338

EUR BT (1,452) -
NTD ek - (86)
THB ik - 20
JPY H (356) -
(4,743) (3,664)

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because certain funds are
borrowed at floating rates. The Group currently does not have any
interest rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure periodically.

BEEERE  SRED A RERERESINER
B - ThERRFLRRRI T REFE AR
FREpEE

HRETESFEAERMER - MASKEAEE

F R o 25 TR 30 A ) TE A (o] A RS
o Al - BEESERERNRAR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

6.

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Market risk management (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate
liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease in variable-rate borrowings is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank balances are
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company
consider that the exposure of cash flow rate risk from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s pre-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
decrease/increase by HK$1,069,000 (2023: decrease/increase by
HK$964,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its variable-rate borrowings.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its
investment in financial assets measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI
with the underlying assets are equity securities. The Group’s
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on entities operating in
biopharmaceutical industry which are either listed in Nasdaqg Capital
Market®, OTC Stock Market or Hong Kong, or are unlisted.

Other price risk sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, if the price of the equity
instruments had been 5% (2023: 5%) higher/lower, the Group’s
pre-tax profit would remain unchanged (2023: increase/decrease
by HK$6,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL, while the other comprehensive income would
increase/decrease by HK$10,180,000 (2023: increase/decrease by
HK$30,315,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of financial
assets at FVTOCI.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by counterparties is the carrying amount
of each financial asset as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate ECL
provision are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s credit risk exposure is spread over a number of
counterparties and customers. Hence, it has no significant
concentration of credit risk by single counterparty. Ongoing credit
evaluation is performed on the financial condition of receivables.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

-\
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

6. MZEREE(E)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)
Credit risk management (Continued)

Financial guarantee

On 11 February 2020 (as supplemented), the Company as guarantor
provided a corporate guarantee in respect of a loan facility granted
to an associate of the Group up to an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$13,000,000. At the end of the reporting period,
the directors of the Company have performed an impairment
assessment and concluded that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contract. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial guarantee
issued by the Group is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
(credit impaired). As at 31 December 2024, the loss allowance in
respect of the financial guarantee of approximately HK$12,967,000
(31 December 2023: HK$Nil) was made in accordance with
ECLs model under HKFRS 9. Details of the financial guarantee
contract and quantitative disclosures are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the board of directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework to meet the Group’s short, medium and
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The
Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
(CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk management (Continued)

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a Repayment on
Demand Clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates.

Are SRR M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-_A=1+—HIFE

B R B B R (4R

MEEZEEEEE (&)
RBEER

T?«%#LK%@#FHEEH%E BB TaHEH
c RERBTIBBEA LB AIREAR N 2 &HF R
%@ZEM%E%Z?FEEEE%?R%#E%& o BEEm
B RBFEFIEKZ RITEFE ARRE
Ex M A FRSRI TR BT EAER 2 AT REtE - Eftb
FEOTER TS B (E 2 28 B LA B R A B R -

On demand Total
or less than More than undiscounted Carrying
Interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount
RERY KRR
% DPR—F BBR—F TEARHE RESHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FHET FHET FHT
At 31 December 2024 i e isf 3
+—A=+—H
Non-derivative financial ¥{T£P¥EE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ENEZRFAKEA
FERRRIE - 474,697 493,779 493,779
Leases liabilities HEBE 1.86-6.69 8,355 14,183 13,433
Bank borrowings and RITERREL
overdrafts 2.60-6.58 155,585 221,314 213,865
Financial guarantee BB EREE
liabilities - 12,967 - 12,967 12,967
Retirement benefits RRER 6.69-7.20 - 261,219 261,219 122,790
651,604 351,858 1,003,462 856,834
At 31 December 2023 R-ZT—=%
+=A=+—H
Non-derivative financial E{TEHKEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ENEZRFKEA
FEfTERIE = 436,646 17,248 453,894 453,894
Leases liabilities HEARK 1.76-6.69 7,807 4,040 11,847 11,385
Bank borrowings and RITERRBEL
overdrafts 2.50-8.59 128,438 77,031 205,469 192,755
Retirement benefits RIRER 6.65-7.61 - 255,095 255,095 110,100
572,891 353,414 926,305 768,134
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MERERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurements of financial MBI AZ R FEFE
instruments
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are AEBETHBEERMBEBEDNERSRESNR
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The ZAFEE - TRIBENMEEZEMEEE
following table gives information about how the fair values of these KB aEATECERM(EERMEAZEER
financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, fir RS ABIR) ©

the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at

RT3 BR2 AFE Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable
Financial asset 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
BREE “ECME+ZAZt-H ZBIZFTZA=+-H AVESE AERNREIZRAZE TEFTRABARE
Financial assets at Investments in life Investments in life Level 2 Based on cash value Not applicable
fair value through insurance policies insurance policies
profit or loss HK$6,965,000 HK$6,619,000
RATEEBRRIIR AERBRERE AERBRERE R ERE2EE ER
2B AE 6,965,000/ 7T 6,619,000/ 7T
Financial assets at Investments in Investments in Level 2 Based on market price Not applicable
fair value through club debenture club debenture
profit or loss HK$2,860,000 HK$3,300,000
RATEEBRERIIR eMeHEFRE eMeREFRE 1 ERTI5ER NEA
LB EE 2,860,000/ 7T 3,300,000/ 7T
Financial assets at Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 2 Note a Not applicable
fair value through HK$Nil HK$Nil
profit or loss
RATEEBRERIIR FEMAREFTAT FEMAREFTAT 1 fifita NEA
ZHBEE
Financial assets at Convertible notes Convertible notes Level 2 Note b Not applicable
fair value through HK$1,360,000 HK$1,533,000
profit loss
RATEEBRERIIR A#RE1E1,360,000% T FI#AKEREL,533,00087T £=R MifEEb TEA
ZHBEE
Financial assets at Convertible notes Convertible notes Level 3 Note ¢ Not applicable (2023: Price-
fair value through HK$Nil HK$112,000 to-sale ratio of 1.99) (Note
profit loss f)
Not applicable (2023:
Discount rate of 10.16%)
(Note g)
RATEEBBRIE RREETET HREEE112,0008T  E=4 fitsEc TER(—E=_=F:
ZHBRE M 8H%1.99) (K1)

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

AR e ISR MIE

(CONTINUED)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value as at

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

MR EREE (&)

MBI AZ A FEHE (&)

RT3BR2 AFE Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable
Financial asset 31.12.2024 31.12,.2023 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
BREE “ECME+ZASt-H ZBIZFTZA=1-H AVESE RAERNREIZRARE TEFTRABARE
Financial assets at Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 3 Note h Not applicable
fair value through HK$Nil HK$Nil
profit or loss
BATERBBHIR FEMAREETAT FEMRREETAT E fitzEh NEh
ZHMBEE
Financial assets at Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 3 Note i Not applicable (2023: Price-
fair value through HK$Nil HK$Nil to-sale ratio of 1.99)
profit or loss (Note f)
BRATEEBRBERIR FEMAREETAT FEMRREETAT = (] TER(Z2==%:
ZHMBEE M8H%1.99) (KizH)
Financial assets Listed equity securities Listed equity securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an Not applicable
at fair value (both Hong Kong and  (both Hong Kong and active market
through other overseas) overseas)
comprehensive HK$165,847,000 HK$546,762,000
income
RATEEBEMEE EmRAESR(BEREN) ETRAES(BEREN) £—R WEBTSMRZBAE oy
WiE5I R B A E 165,847,000% 7T 546,762,00077T
Financial assets Unlisted partnership Unlisted partnership Level 3 Based on the net The fair value of underlying
at fair value investment investment asset quoted by fund investment portfolio
through other HK$66,215,000 HK$76,540,000 administrator. The
comprehensive net asset value of the
income partnership investment
is based on the fair value
of underlying investment
portfolio
RATEEBEMEE FEMEBRE FEMEBRE E=/& ERECEBAMBFEE - & HBEREAQZATE
Wezsdilfk 2 TS B E 66,215,0007%7C 76,540,000 7T BREZ AEFEDENIH

REBSZATE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value as at

RTSIBHZAPE

MR EREE (&)

MBI AZ A FEE(E)

Fair value Valuation technique(s)

Significant unobservable

Financial asset 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
BREE “ECME+ZAZt-H ZBIZHTZA=+-HB AVESE RAERNRIZRARE TERARNBAYE
Financial assets Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Income approach, the Long-term revenue growth
at fair value securities securities discounted cash flow rate ranging from 3% to
through other HK$37,761,000 HK$59,540,000 method was used to 251% (2023: 3% to 251%)
comprehensive capture the present value  (Note d)
income of the expected future
economic benefits to be Discount rate of 15.50%
derived from the ownership (2023 15.10%) (Note e)
of this investee, based on
an appropriate discount
rate
BRATEEREMEE FLEmRAES I ETRAES F=R WNE-FRERRETEZEN REUFERENT3%ZE251%
WeasiltR e MG EE 37,761,000/ T 59,540,000/ 7T REFE CBRRAERZH  (ZFTZ=F : 3%Z251%)
BREFFERES ESRR  (MEd)
RICERN R BRE
B % 15.50%(ZF==F :
15.10%) (ffzte)
Financial assets Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Note h Not applicable
at fair value securities securities
through other HK$Nil HK$Nil
comprehensive
income
RATEEBEMEE FETRAZFFTAT FETRAFFZAT F=R Bitzth NEA
WeadilfR MG EE
Notes: Bt EE
a. Binomial Model was used by applying discrete timestep lattice model of a. ZIAFIEE Ty B e FA AR A B 7 T A (B AR BER R

the varying price over time of the underlying financial instruments which
based on the exercise price, time to expiration, risk free rate and stock
price as quoted in active market.

b. Partial differential equation, especially the Crank-Nicolson finite-
difference method, was used by applying discount rate, volatility level
and underlying stock price as quoted in active market.

150 Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=FC K 2212 AR A B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. KRR EE(E)
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial BT Az FEFTE(E)
instruments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued) MicE - (88)

G The underlying investee has not provided latest financial information c. MR E S B E—IEREE AR E E R
since last financial year and the management assessed the fair value is BEER  BEEEFEATFENATSEL(ZZ
approximately HK$Nil (2023: Partial differential equation, especially the Z=F - BREAREER  OREKT RIZKRA
Crank-Nicolson finite-difference method, was used by applying discount EEEZHBREERRRS HEN - LER
rate, volatility level and underlying stock price as determined by Income Crank-NicolsonGR =5 7%) °
approach).

d. Long-term revenue growth rate was determined by taking into account d. REWGIERERLCEEBERE 2 FETEMRL
of management’s experience and knowledge of market conditions of BRRAHSETE o RAWGERE FAREHAT
the specific industry. Increase in long-term revenue growth rate would B2 - R2ZINA ©
result in an increase in fair value measurement, and vice versa.

e. Discount rate was estimated by considering the weighted average cost e. RLIR R E R A RNEEE BRI TE 2 NE
of capital determined by using a Capital Asset Pricing Model. Decrease FIGE AR AfLET o AR R TR ASEBA FER
in discount rate would result in an increase in fair value measurement, M RZINR °
and vice versa.

f. Price-to-sale was estimated by considering companies operating in f. M RLZ RQ 2 EIRE H1TRME 2 AR
similar industries to the investee. Increase in price-to-sale would result AT o MR EFBEHAFETEEN - R2ZIF
in an increase in fair value measurements, and vice versa. R o

g. Discount rate was estimated by considering corporate bonds with similar g. RLIR R E RV RIS 2 A RIEF A o BB %
grading. Decrease in discount rate would result in an increase in fair THREEBHAFEEEN - R2ZINA ©
value measurements, and vice versa.

h. The underlying investees are under liquidation and no accounting h. HEARIRE T EEBEF - RESTREIAR
records are available for fair value estimation. As a result, the HEEATE - At - BEEFTEERTEN A
management assessed the fair value is approximately HK$Nil. THTT

i The underlying investee has not provided latest financial information i HEEWIRE S B F— B FE RS SRR
since last financial year and the management assessed the fair value BEEL  ERENGATELOATET (=
is approximately HK$Nil (2023: Binomial Model was used by applying —=F: —EARRTEREABEYE ARG
discrete timestep lattice model of the varying price over time of the & e B RS 1T 78 BT 7S () 27 T e o B e AR A (LA AT
underlying financial instruments which based on the exercise price, time (8 - BIHIRE - EERTR IR AEEZ
to expiration, risk free rate and stock price as determined by Market REAEM)FEA) -
approach).

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current year. RAFEE  F—REFE 7 B EEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements

6. MEEREE(E)

F=RAFETEBZHE

Financial assets/ (liabilities)

BMBEE (BE)
At FVTOCI - At FVTOCI -
At FVTPL - At FVTPL - Unlisted Unlisted
Unlisted Convertible equity partnership
warrants notes securities investment
BOTEEB BOTEEB BAFEEB
BRI BOTEEB Hit2®E Hit2®E
FEH BRI W58k - W58k -
AR TRREE ELTREEF  FLTEABRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT FAT FHT
Year ended 31 December HE-ZT-[F
2024 +TZA=t—-HLEEFE
Opening balance FENEH
Additions =
Distribution received Bk
Fair value (losses)/gains: NFE(ER), M
- in profit or loss —RER
- in other comprehensive —REM 2 E K
income (21,779)
Closing balance FIREER 37,761
Year ended 31 December HE-ZT-=f
2023 +tZA=t+—RHLFE
Opening balance FEEH - 335 59,321 50,774
Additions NE = - = 6,097
Fair value (losses)/gains: DNFE(BRE) /e
- in profit or loss — B - (223) - -
- in other comprehensive —REME2EkE
income - - 219 19,669
Closing balance FRpER - 112 59,540 76,540

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or loss:

FEABSEZ FARELERBED

- there are HK$112,000 losses (2023: HK$223,000 losses)
related to financial assets at FVTPL recognised under “other
gains and losses, net”.

Included in other comprehensive income there are HK$39,210,000
losses (2023: HK$19,888,000 gains) related to unlisted equity
securities and unlisted partnership investment classified as financial
assets at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is
reported as changes of “investments revaluation reserve”.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEE2 it AR A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~
LA MBEENE

REVENUE

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable for
goods sold by the Group to outside customers during the year which
is recognised at a point in time.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chairman of the Company, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the
types of goods delivered.

During the year, the Group commenced the business in generic
products after obtaining the approval for manufacturing and
marketing the generic products from the relevant authority, and it
has been aggregated into the proprietary segments for reporting.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as
follows:

Manufacturing and sales of
self-developed and generic
pharmaceutical products

Proprietary and generic =
products

— Trading of licensed-in
pharmaceutical products

Licensed-in products

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

Wy 58

Yean e A S (B R B R AR 2 SF A NSRB[RI S) D27
FPHEE M2 BN R EYFIRFE

7 EPEFR

WA R AL (X BEEREE) 2 HARSE
BRI BRAZ AHAERFRAES

FA - AEERNESERE RILERE R EHT
HERKARMHEERRET - XH2HENKHE
EAZRDHL -

AERMmE  REFBYBHREERESSE - KAE
BRI 2HmAFMAT

BRI R HER — BUENSHERTTIENK
%Lz B
SIHEEm — BEESIEZZm
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WNF+_A=+—HILFE
8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. ZHEPER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results T E W R A
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by T RIZFZ2F D BE D 2 AEBR G R EED
reportable segments: e
Proprietary and
generic products Licensed-in products Consolidated
SARGEER SIEER mE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
b Smlubly T EEetdmlibay T = EEeblmlifl T =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET FET THET FART FAT
Segment revenue DS 846,732 553,237 1,399,969 [JREEREY
Segment operating results A& EE 167,850 137,713 90,028 55,575 257,878 193,288
Research and development %k FHEER
expenses CERIDY (39,725) BNEERLE)  (57,079) BNGERPE)  (96,804)
Impairment of intangible &/ EERE
assets (19,195) (1,335) NELRLL)) (1,335)
Write-off of intangible WisER AR
assets -
Segment results DERELE (2,839) [ LY %171 95,149
Unallocated income RABEWA 21,053 19,424
Unallocated expenses KHEER (62,765) (71,020)
Profit from operations K 113,142 43,553
Finance costs BB (14,190) (11,898)
Profit before share of okl dNIE= )
results of associates il 98,952
Share of results of SIS AR ER
associates (839)
Profit before taxation BRAEATE 98,113 30,785
Taxation BiE eI  (10,836)
Profit for the year REZ R 68,612
154 Lee's Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEmiza% A R A 7



8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the
year (2023: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results represents
the profit earned by/loss from each segment without allocation of
central administration costs including directors’ emoluments, certain
transactions with investees, gain on deemed disposal of interest in
associates, fair value changes of certain financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss, impairment provision on property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets, foreign exchange gain/loss,
certain provision for expected credit losses, interest income, finance
costs, share of results of associates, and income tax expense. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable segments:

Proprietary and
generic products

Licensed-in products

-\
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~

e ABAFERE I N

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

7 RPE R ()

7B R EAE ()

EXERH2 5 EBREERB I FP 2 W o
FAALESEBEHE (T _=F : &) °

W AK £
zmz'.

D EZ BRI R EAEE 2 G5 BRAR ©
DREBIBAERDEHRITRAA(BIEESEMH
& BERRESTCETRS  SUEHEBRE QR
mz s RATFEEBBRIIRZETHE
TAZATEES WX BERRBARER
BEEREREB  IMNEWE EE - B TED
EEERREE  FBWA - BBSKA - HhE
REIFEBERFIEHRX) ZIER T &S EIRELZ
B RRZEE - I IREBEERREZR
A BEEREFHED BRR LT

PEHEERER

D2 AEEEERBES

AT RIRAI 28D AP E
#r

Consolidated

EARGRER SIEER e
2023 2023 2023
—E-=F —E=4F —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT FHET
Segment assets DEEE 763,594 1,283,310 2,046,904
Unallocated assets KDWEE 843,763
Total assets BERE 2,890,667
Segment liabilities AEBEE 234,569 346,401 580,970
Unallocated liabilities RO EE 349,099
Total liabilities BEmE 930,069
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3 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HL RABTBREN

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. ZHEPER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) D HEEREE (&)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating RERDHRBELRDHBEIEER :

resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than - BB E ARz R BERIBEE - &
interests in associates, deferred tax assets, certain right-of-use THERAEEE  IRATERBIBFRIEY
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss HBEE  RATESREMEZEREY
and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive RIS EE PRITBERSEREGE
income, assets related to central administration and ABMAREE « HEEREARIRETHIIR
unallocated cash-generating units, balances with associates B2 iR ATEIRIEA RIR S RIRTT
and certain investees, tax recoverable and cash and bank @I FTEEERDRELENE &

balances; and

- all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than = BRIRITERREX - PRITRERDER
bank borrowings and overdrafts, liabilities related to central SELBMABARE  MBERAG &
administration and unallocated cash-generating units, financial (ERER Ekfﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ\ i
guarantee liabilities, tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and EEBREDEEEEDHES -

retirement benefits.

Other segment information (included in Bt 7 S8ER (FR GBS S8
the measure of segment profit or loss or ;ﬁﬁﬁlfﬁé;@ ERo T EEE R
segment assets or regularly provided to EEEMR)

the chief operating decision maker)

Proprietary and
generic products Licensed-in products Consolidated

ENRGRER SIEER o)

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
= s —To=F edenias CRo=F e ks TR F
HK$'000 ELCK NS HKS 000 HK$'000 | iLea) HK$'000
FTHET FHEL THT FET FTHET FHAT

Depreciation of property,  #% « & L&

plant and equipment (PEFEREEE)
(including right-of-use wE
assets)

Amortisation of intangible /& E ¥
assets

Additions to non-current  FRIILIERHEE
assets (Property, plant (W% - BER&E
and equipment, and ARERAE)
intangible assets) during
the year 116,954 . 113,940 . 230,894 172,682

Impairment of intangible &/ &EERE
assets 19,195 , 19,195 1,335

Write-off of intangible MiHEREE
assets

156 Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEmiza% A R A 7



8.

>

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~
LA MBEENE

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, more than
90% of the Group’s revenue was derived from activities conducted
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), therefore no
geographical information on revenue is presented.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
geographical markets:

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

8. ZEER(H)

1 BB A

REBEE-_ZE-_NFR-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—H
LEF[E - AEERI0%UETFE AR T EARLM
B ([T 2 25« MU & 251 Ik asi (&
BE o

AT AR TSE D 2 ARBEERBEIN

The PRC Hong Kong and others Total
HE BERHM @st
2023 2023 2023
—To=F —TEo=F —To=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
Total assets BERE 1,656,662 1,234,005 2,890,667
Total liabilities BEHTE 458,509 471,560 930,069

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR
CUSTOMERS

For both the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no single
customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.

9. FREEEFEFZEH

BE—Z-_MER-_T-_=F+-A=+—HIF
MEFE - HEE—F S A EmERS > 10%
AL -
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jfz Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HL RABTBREN

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

10.0THER INCOME 10. Hilr A
2024 2023
—E-ME —B-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Interest income on bank deposits RITFERZFEURA 2,133 1,534
Government and development grants B R A 848 BN 4,211 32,322
Licensing income FHHIWA 877 1,266
Milestone income BREEBKA 10,207 -
Rental and utilities income e R AHRBHA 14,609 15,211
Research and development service income 3t KRS KA 13,928 17,812
Sundry income FIBUA 16,485 9,112
62,450 77,257
Milestone income refers to the performance-linked income associated BRBINAEREHERETEERR CRBRBIK
with the disposal of intangible assets, details of which were disclosed A HBERARRARIBHAZZE_=F+—A+=
in the announcement of the Company dated 13 November 2023. AZ AR -
The Group received the development grants from the local AEBUEM B ARTASERBELRFAES
government as recognition of the Group’s performance and R R MR T 2 FEEE -
development of high-technology pharmaceutical products.
11.0THER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 11. HRBE R EEFEE
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT
Fair value loss in respect of financial assets ﬁﬁa?ﬁ@mﬁﬁﬂﬁgﬁnﬁ” ZHBEEZ
at fair value through profit or loss, net NEEEEEE (379) (1,572)
Gain on deemed disposal of interest in RIEL EH A AR 2 W
associates 147
Gain on disposal of HENUTEIE 2 e
- Property, plant and equipment, net —E - BEREEFE 10
- Intangible assets —\BEE 41,623
Impairment loss recognised in respect of BT R IBHER 2R EEE
- Property, plant and equipment —% - BEREE (22,658)
- Right-of-use assets —EREAE (6,705) (8,971)
- Intangible assets —EmEE (19,195) (1,335)
Loss on termination of lease agreement KILTAE a2 B 1R = (40)
Write-off of s
- Property, plant and equipment —W%E - BERRE (14) (350)
- Intangible assets —BREE = -
Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net SNEM S (E51R)FEE 3,614 (877)
(22,542) 5,977
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12.PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

Profit from operations has been arrived at after charging:

RE R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BHE_T-_NF+-_A=1+—HILFE

12, &g A

RN DR THISIA

2024 2023
—E_MF T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHTT

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets)

Amortisation of intangible assets (included
in cost of sales)

W - BERRE(BEEAEEE)
e
B AEEEGIABERAE)

76,708

71,023

147,731 149,501

Total depreciation and amortisation rEE R AR e
Auditors’ remuneration ZERTI &

Staff costs BIRKA
Share-based payments LARR 1 244 2 5K 3B
Research and development costs MrRRFAZEER

Cost of inventories charged to profit or loss BBz 2 FER A

1,235 1,270
272,994 287,803
406 793
83,829 96,804
566,066 434,509

13.FINANCE COSTS

13. R A

2024 2023
—E-ME T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Interest expenses on:
Bank borrowings and overdrafts
Lease liabilities (effective)

PATRIEZABH
RITEREX
REREER

12,982 10,614
841 663

Total interest expenses for financial
liabilities not classified as FVTPL
Bank charges

WD HEREAFEBEBIBRFIRZ
MBREZN SR 2R
RITEA

13,823 11,277
367 621

14,190 11,898
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=+—-HIFE

14.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 14. EERBESTHRAEMS
EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed BEERETRARATGIBREZEERER
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO is as follows: TTHRABRAFE2HMAOT -
Salaries, Employer's
allowances, contributions settled
and other  Management to pension Retirement  share option Total
Fees remuneration bonus schemes Sub-total benefits expense  emoluments
#e 2R S HE ] HRELS uk- a2
s ftH EEEIA EEfR it EAREA BRERY ik 4]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR ThR TR TR TERL T Thn TR
Executive Directors b0y £
Lee Siu Fong £ 8,631 1,385 10,016 4,340 84 14,440
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee SR 9,302 1,494 10,79 4,660 84 15,540
Non-executive Directors FafEes
Li Xiaoyi £ 1,500 1,818 3,690 5,591
James Charles Gale James Charles Gale - 300 - 300
Huang Zuie-Chin (Note ii) B e 149 - 149

Independent Non-executive BUFHES

Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob BRE 216
Cheang Yee Wah, Eva kaz 216
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl BE 216
Total a3t 23,727
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

=/ = =
14.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 14.EERBESTHRAEME ()
EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
Salaries, Employer's Equity-
allowances, contributions settled 2023
and other  Management to pension Retirement ~ share option Total
Fees  remuneration bonus schemes Sub-total benefits expense emoluments
5o 2R WitEgE “E-ck
53 A EEE et RN BRER [iE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T ThT T T TR TR T
Executive Directors #1783
Lee Siu Fong B - 7,851 - - 7,851 4200 105 12,176
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee E3e) - 8,463 - - 8,463 4,630 105 13,198
Non-executive Directors FafEs
Li Xiaoyi £yt 300 1,200 = 18 1,518 5,020 = 6,538
James Charles Gale James Charles Gale 300 - - = 300 = = 300
Independent Non-executive BUFUGES
Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob 216 - - - 216 - = 216
Cheang Yee Wah, Eva (Note i) 135 = = = 135 = = 135
Lam Yat Cheong (Note if) 82 - - - 82 - - 82
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl 216 = = = 216 = = 216
Total 3t 1,49 17,514 = 18 18,781 13870 210 32,861
Notes: F5E -
i Appointed with effect from 17 May 2023. i FwBE T _=FRA+HRABER -
ii. Resigned with effect from 17 May 2023. il BT -=FAAt+tHBEK-
iii. Appointed with effect from 2 July 2024. iii. BT -MEEA-HBER -
The directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments shown above were EXBERZEERESTRAEBMES N EEAK
for their service in connection with the management of the affairs of RERAEEEREHEE 2 REME -
the Company and the Group.
No directors of the Company waived any emoluments for the years HE-Z-_NFR-ZZFE-=F+-"A=+—HIE
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. FE  WEARRZESZHEEAHE -
Certain directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments ARARETESERKEUZASEEAFERTE
which are determined based on a percentage of the Group’s profit HAMBE D ETE 2 AL -
after tax for the year.
During the year, certain directors were granted share options in FRN - ETESHERELREE 2 RFMIREAR
respect of their services to the Group under the share option scheme NRZ BT B E R AR - BIRERT B 25
of the Company. Details of the share options scheme are set out in TBEERERE IS RERMIFEIT ©

note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

14.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 14.EERBESTHRAEME(E)
EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
Transactions, arrangements or contracts ARNAEEREEAERZEX
of significance in which directors of the X5 ZHHEH

Company have material interests

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which RARFEFERIAFENEMER - ARRISHHE
the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director MEARBIE L AMARRZESEEXHEER
of the Company had material interest, whether directly or indirectly, HEFHBEARRLEARSD  KHLEN(ZT
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year (2023: Z=F |

Nil).

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in LUEESIRANCES  EEZ
favour of directors REM#XS

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors of the WA EEE R ANEE NI R - BEUAD
Company or body corporate controlled by such directors, or entities TEE  IREEENH I EABEREZSE
connected with such directors, subsisted at the end of the year or at EHUEHMIERATHAIED EBRRRHEM
any time during the year (2023: Nil). RE(ZE—=F :48) o

15.FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15. 5 8&ESHAL

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year NAREER  AEBREESHATEHR =4
included three (2023: three) directors, details of whose remuneration (== 7_@ =2)ABEE HEMOHRN X
are set out in note 14 above. Details of the remuneration for the 14 - B HFATHEARE (- —=4 :
year of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid individuals who ,ﬂﬁ%)/\j:j[gpzjg REERESTHRAS  BE
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as TERIT :
follows:
2023
—Eo
HK$'000
THATT
Salaries and other benefits e EAMET 5,197
Employer’s contributions to pension schemes E{R&TEIETZ R 116
Equity-settled share option expense VARG A 4 S5 R IR e A < 246
5,259
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e ABAFERE I N

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

15.FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15. A REHFA L (H)
(CONTINUED)

The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the directors BRHAL(EIHFARAES) ZFHHA T T oA

of the Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands is BLZ ABIT -
as follows:
2024 2023
ZEIWEF —ZT=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AEK
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 c%3,000,0007 7T 2
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001%57L=5,000,000%8 7T -
2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five RAFER - REEWEN T AL &= A LB
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the SIERBEEMALREE - SR IMARZ £2E)=K
Group or as compensation for loss of office. BERR (S o
16. TAXATION 16. %18
2024 2023
—E-NEF —ET =&
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHTT
Current tax BNEARHIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEFER (11 6,597
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Bl EAEH 1,531 5,416
8,119 12,013
Under/(Over) provision in prior years BEFERETT(BEEE)
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNEH 995 (20)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R EAEET 4,985 29
5,980 9
Deferred tax IRIERIE
Origination/(Reversal) of temporary BEE/(BE)EREE
differences 15,402 (1,186)
29,501 10,836
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BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2024

S

—ENFE+-A=t+—HIEFE

16. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. Profits of other group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimate assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimate assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations
in PRC was calculated at the tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the
estimated assessable profits for the year, if applicable, based on
existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof,
except for a subsidiary which is entitled to preferential tax treatment
of 15% (2023: 15%) for three years upon grant of the certificates as
they are qualified as “new high technology enterprise”.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

16.%i1E (&)

BIBFFBFEH 2 FEHMES - AERERE
B2 E2E BB T M8 128.25% 2 B R A -
2B EETIA LR FIBI216.5% 2 B R #E - T
AR mW%MZﬁmElﬁ%zmﬂ%%%
B16.5% 25— MEHH - At - AEREEE
BE2ASATT 2 AT ERTEF128.25%:TH
EEFEE - M2BE BTN L2 ERFR
3%16.5%=1E

REEBBHEPRERS 2 ERBETIRERT
HEER  REREH - ENETERERF
(mﬁﬁrax%Zﬁﬁ.:g:zi:ZWMﬁ

KB AR RN ER SRR A%
;73551& AIZE=F15%(=ZF=_=% : 15%)2
BB EBIRIN ©

P B M 2 A 2 BRI B R A M 2
BELE

BB A A

Profit before taxation

Notional tax at the rates applicable to

results in regions concern BEBIE

Tax effect of share of results of associates DM ERAREE BB E
BBIET S T AR A 2 B

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purpose

Under provision in prior years

Tax effect on temporary differences not
recognised

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Tax effect of preferential tax allowance

Utilisation of tax loss previously not
recognised

BEFERBETR
AERERZEL BT E

RERRERIR HBFE
BERBARRZRETE
B SE AT R RER Z TR R 1R

RN AR EE 2 HES

IR 5 BARBRUAZ B3

AEEZBIAXH

Tax charge for the year

AEEFEZRBS HELEEGEBERANZBT AT
HERMAT -
2024 2023
—E_mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
98,113 30,785
5,996 (1,584)
138 144
4,485 15,308
(234) (1,146)
5,980 9
(1,558) (5,213)
41,732 22,597
(24,455) (19,190)
(2,583) (89)
29,501 10,836

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$1,022 million (2023: HK$1,056 million)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the estimated tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi i B IR A 7
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

17.DIVIDEND 17.RE
2023
T4
HK$'000
FHT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of FRERAED IR AR AL BRI 2
the Company recognised as distribution ARE
during the year:
2024 interim dividend HK$0.02 (2023: ZE M HREFAR0.028 T
2023 interim dividend HK$0.008) per (ZB—=F: —T-=FhHKa
share 0.008/%&7T) 4,711
2023 final dividend HK$0.010 (2023: 2022 - = FRHRESM0.010% T
final dividend HK$0.010) per share (ZZ2—=F: —T__FRHPRE
0.010/%7T) 5,888
10,599
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend in RBEHARE  EFEBRNBEE_T_OF
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK2.5 cents TZ A=t - BUEFEZARBRESR2.5%
per share (2023: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 W= ==F HE_ZT_=F+=-A=1—
December 2023 of HK1.0 cent per share), in an aggregate amount BEFEZRBARKRESR1.0EMW) - 8%
of HK$14,721,000 (2023: HK$5,888,000) has been proposed by 14,721,000 0 ( — =& — =4 : 5,888,000/
the directors and is subject to approval by shareholders at the gT)  MAFREREERRBAFAS EHERS
forthcoming annual general meeting, and is not included as a A{EE - MERETEFAZZE_NFE+ A
dividend payable in the consolidated statement of financial position as =+ —BEEMBHIKARAZENRE o

at 31 December 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

18.EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

18. 3 RAEF

2024
—EomE
HK$’000

FEx

2024
—BoImEF

Share(s) ‘000
TR

Earnings: BT -

Net profit attributable to owners of the MAEERERREEIRNME 2
Company for the purpose of basic and RAEEAR AEELER
diluted earnings per share

Number of shares: RIGEA -

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares for the purposes of basic earnings

per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Options

BT 8 SIREARRIT & 2 BB
T8

EBEEEERR TR
R

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of diluted
earnings per share

it B SRR S 2 ERRE
Fi8

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEE2 it AR A 7

588,835

588,835

ARTEAE AEESREARBERFERT
PR

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHT

16,698

2023
—TE-=4F
Share(s) ‘000
T

588,835

1

588,836
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

19.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19.¥% - BERRE

Office and
laboratory
equipment
Leasehold Leased Leasehold Plant and and electronic Construction
Buildings land premises improvement machinery equipment Motor vehicles in progress Total
BAZRWAR
[ 53 BRH LU BENERE HERAR RERETAE g kRIR it
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000
TR Tan TAL Thn Thx ThR ThL ThT ThR
CosT
At 1 January 2023 2,9 144,131 8916 75,745 381,119 154,803 12,4% 38618 1,068,116
Exchange rate adjustments (6,386) (3,964) 433) (1,836) (10614) (3,345) (192) (982) (28352)
Reclassification (550) = = 550 e = = e =
Addtions i - - 12970 6,110 8,684 12674 - 1,964 040
Transfer inj (out) g/t - - - 4553 6,611 3312 - (14,476) -
Disposals 5 - - - - (1583) (451) (1) - (2.89)
Write-off s - - (7.804) (9433) (1,00) (270) - (345) (18,895)
Modification of lease term BEBET = - ) - - - - - m
Acquisition of a subsidiary B RIEA M)
(Note 44) - - - - - 4 - - 4
Write-offdue to early RIFRA S
termination = = @m) = = = = - @m)
At 31 December 2023 and RTB-=F+2f=t-H
1 January 2024 F-R-mE-A-A 205354 140,167 30781 75,689 383,23 166,127 12,011 %719 1,058,142
Exchange rate adjustments ~ E¥E (7813) (4,860) (653) (2.255) (14,226) (5,316) (228) (865) (36,216)
Additions & - - 11,634 6,299 32,663 4705 - 28 55,589
Transfer n/{out) g/ - - - - 7 - - ) -
Disposals e = = = = (1,450) () = = 21m)
Write-off L - - (16,105) (8.275) (3532) (1,515) - - (29427
At 31 December 2024 RoB-REL=A=t-A 217,541 135,307 25,657 71,458 39%,6% 163,294 11,783 w175 1,045,911
DEPRECIATION AND FERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 H-B=Z§-A-A 83471 0,146 19,836 35,881 22,1% 123,305 10,656 - 527 451
Exchange rate adjustments ~ EX¥E (2.337) (683) (324) (758) (6,668) (3.121) (192) (143) (14,226)
Reclassification £ ] (121) - - 1 - - - - -
Charge for the year 6,573 281 10,553 11,514 44928 16,332 LYE] = 93,194
Impairment provision - 8911 - - - - - 22,658 31,69
Eliminated upon disposal = = = = (1,476) (414) (291) = (2,181)
Efiminated upon write-off - - (7.84) (9,433) (1,018) (270) - - (18,545)
Eliminated upon early §
termination = = (2,549) = - = = = (2,549)
At 31 December 2023 and e St = 8 e
1 January 204 R-E-mE-A-AH 87,586 33,255 19,692 37,35 27922 135,832 10,646 0,515 614,773
Exchange rate adjustments ~ E%E (3132 (1,358) (353) (1,020) (10,018) (4,485) (8) (781) (21,375)
Charge for the year RERRE 4,29 2557 10039 10,508 35,607 1328 m - 76,708
Impairment provision - 6,705 - - - - - = 6,705
Efiminated upon disposal - - - - (1,389) (684) - - 20m3)
Eiminated upon write-0ff - - (16,105) 8,275) (3518) (1,515) - - (9413)
At 31 December 2024 88,750 41,159 13273 38,538 288,604 142,376 10,891 1,734 645,325
CARRYING AMOUNTS FHLE
At 31 December 2024 H-B-METZA=1-A 128,791 94,148 12,384 32920 108,092 20918 892 2,441 400,586
At 31 December 2023 e S S 137,768 106,912 11,089 3,364 115,312 30,295 1,365 2,264 443,369
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S ReBmRMET

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

19.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The leasehold land, which is held under medium-term lease, and
buildings are situated in the PRC.

The Group as lessee

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant
and equipment)

The analysis of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as

19. M3 - M= R &R (&)

HEL(ARREERSE) ETF

EEEEBEBEA

AL o

EAEEEGIAYE - BERRE)

RIARAEER S ERREEZ W -

follows:
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=%F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Leasehold land FHELH 94,148 106,912
Leased premises HEMZE 12,384 11,089
106,532 118,001
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in ERTCERER2HEZ I HEE ST ¢
profit or loss is as follows:
2024 2023
ZEIWEF —ZT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets RIBREERRIE D 2 FREEETE
by class of underlying assets: B
Leasehold land HELH 2,821
Leased premises HEWME 10,553
13,374
Expense relating to short-term leases and HESHaEAEAERET—EAR
other leases with lease terms end within FE A BRAE R EMESHEE
12 months from date of initial application -9 733
Total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was approximately TN FzHERS AL BEN AR
HK$10,942,000 (2023: approximately HK$12,210,000). 10,942,000 L(— T - =4 : 412,210,000
HIT) °
Total additions to right-of-use assets in 2024 was approximately TS AEEEAREL11,634,000

HK$11,634,000 (2023: HK$12,970,000). BIL(ZZZ=%:12,970,000% ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant
and equipment) (Continued)

For both years 2024 and 2023, the Group leases various offices and
warehouses for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 2 years to 5 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several leasehold land where its
manufacturing facilities and office buildings are primarily located.
The Group is the registered owner of these leasehold land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these leasehold land.

The Group regularly entered short-term leases for leased premises
and equipment.

AR e ISR MIE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

19. M3 - B R &R (&)

EEEEBABEA (F)

EREEEGFAME - BERZRE)

(&)

RIZB-_NER T - -EREAFE - AEER
EZERAERRBEELEZA - AEEHZE
FEHIR A2E 54 o

HEMRENEEREEE - ABE8ETR
AR B - REEREEEE B RSN
W BRE - RAAHNZEELHEE QKRR
HIERTT 2 HARR -

AN - AR E YR BIRE S it (R A E R K
PEFEBUNZE L) - AEBAZEHEL
W2 EMEEA - WEZEHELHE KR
N—%£4E -

AEEEHTVEAEERREEHNEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. B EE
License Development
fee cost Total
gH%E RN @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FHET FAT
COST B
At 1 January 2023 WoZ-—4—F—R 367,369 928,839 1,296,208
Exchange rate adjustments ExpE (3,164) (21,603) (24,227)
Additions NE 7,235 123,045 130,280
Disposal HE - (1,357) (1,357)
Write-off k| - (522) (522)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZT_=F+-A=1+—-AK
—ZE-NF-A—H 371,440 1,028,942 1,400,382
Exchange rate adjustments ExBFE (4,824) (30,136) (34,960)
Additions AE 66,048 109,256 175,304
Write-off s (2,931) = (2,931)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_NF+-A=1+—H 429,733 1,108,062 1,537,795
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT BHERAE
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%—A—H 73,616 199,098 272,714
Exchange rate adjustments ERRFE (631) (4,119) (4,750)
Charge for the year REERE 14,759 41,548 56,307
Eliminated upon write-off MsHa L - (522) (522)
Eliminated upon disposal HEREH - (1,357) (1,357)
Impairment provision for the year AFERERRE 1,335 - 1,335
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-Z-=F+-A=+—-A}
—Z-NF—-A—H 89,079 234,648 323,727
Exchange rate adjustments ExE (1,045) (7,191) (8,236)
Charge for the year AEERE 22,595 48,428 71,023
Eliminated upon write-off MsHEE (2,931) - (2,931)
Impairment provision for the year AEERERE 10,406 8,789 19,195
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+-A=+—H 118,104 284,674 402,778
CARRYING AMOUNTS RHESHE
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mF+=A=+—H 311,629 823,388 1,135,017
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+-A=1+—H 282,361 794,294 1,076,655

Included in HK$1,135,017,000 of intangible assets, there was no
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (31 December 2023:
Nil), and HK$705,495,000 (31 December 2023: HK$734,812,000)
of intangible assets are not yet available for use as at 31 December

2024.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Impairment of intangible assets

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the management of the
Company has conducted a review of its intangible assets portfolio
and concluded there is impairment of HK$19,195,000 (2023:
HK$1,335,000) provision in respect of a license under development
and a launched product.

Development programme

The Group has over 40 early- to late-stage development in various
therapeutics areas. Key development programme is set out below:

1. Anfibatide

Anfibatide is a new molecular entity discovered and
developed by the Group. It is a first-in-class platelet
GPIba receptor antagonist that has fast onset, potent, and
reversible antithrombotic effect among healthy subjects
without impairing coagulation or prolonging bleeding time.
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, Anfibatide was not
ready for sales and the Group continues the underlying
research and development activities. As such, it is subject
to annual impairment test based on its recoverable amount.
Management determined the recoverable amount of this asset
using the value in use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on management’s expectations of
timing of commercialisation, royalty rate and success rate of
commercialisation over useful life of Anfibatide. The valuation
is considered to be level 3 in the fair value measurement
hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the valuation.

AR e ISR MIE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

20. B EE (&)

REBE-_ZT_NF+-_A=+—HIFE XA
RIEEECEMARRZEREEMRS  YRA
B —EREREN R —HEE FHERIRRE
#1519,195,0008 (== == : 1,335,000
I e

FRIEH

REEENRYGERE IS BB40IH D BIENF
MR HARMEER AR - TE2FRBEAEBHIIM
T

1. RIFEERK

CZIBMRARNEBRBENRAZE ZTHTE
B2 . ZEHAIM/RGPIba FEE S A -
EREZHETEFRRER - ARRA]
W2 MRER - TEEERMMNEERTE
REMERH RZT-_OFR-_T==4F
+ZA=+—8  ZIFEEIRE R EE
& MASEEEEETHBENELALESE
g o Bt - RIFEMAEREATIRE S
ETEERENR BEBERERER
FTEAEEZEEZAIRESE o hEE
HHAERERER B L IEHEIREFER
FHAZ ECRER - BFEEREEL
BRINEZ BB H 2B RIBA - ERMH
BEEATABRGAZSE  HERRAA
FEAEEMIE =M -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Development programme (Continued)

1. Anfibatide (Continued)

With the assistance of an external appraiser, management
determined the recoverable amount of Anfibatide based on the
following approach and the key assumptions:

. Anfibatide will be launched in year 2030 (2023: year
2030) based on the research and development process
and experience of the approval process;

° The estimated royalty rate by reference to general
pharmaceutical market;

° The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the relevant products; and

° The expected success rate of commercialisation by
reference to practices of pharmaceutical industries,
development of technologies and related regulations
from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

20. BPEE (&)
FRIEE ()

LB (R)
ESNBSHER AN T - EIEEERIA T
$REBBRBERIEEN L THESHE

o  ERHRRFTEZRBHBRZ
B8 TR T =FFE
(ZF==F: ZZ=ZTFEEL

. DRBREZTISE L 2 G HF
. PR Z BRI R BBIAT » A R R BR
HRMERBEIEERR R

. SIRBEZER] - BAMERRABT
BUERSH 2 R E(LRIN &

KRB ZWOER T =FF+ A =+—
A EAFERAZEEMBLT «

2023

—ZT=fF

Pre-tax discount rate T ATALIR & 14.83%
Expected success rate of commercialisation — JEEARE /LA X 20.71%
Recoverable amount (in HK$'000) AR E SR (FAT) 237,284
Carrying amount (in HK$'000) EEEE(TET) 142,857

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was no
impairment as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Development programme (Continued)

1.

Anfibatide (Continued)

Impairment test - sensitivity

The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing
0.35% (2023: 0.35%) of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing
3% (2023: 3%) of expected revenue, which are the key
assumptions for determining the recoverable amount of
the intangible asset, with all other variables held constant.
The impacts on the amount by which the intangible asset’s
recoverable amount above its carrying amount (headroom)
are as below:

AR e ISR MIE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

20. B EE ()
FRIEH (&)
1. RIEMRK ()
RN — BE

AEBEEB FFH0.35% (- T —=4:
0.35%) AR IR E K THA3% (=T ==
& 3%) FEHRE TR R - AT
EHMBEHESFTE - FIATELIA R KT
s hETEFEAERKRBESEZFER
e WEpEENRESEBRHERAS
B2 HEE (R L) 2 HENT

2023

T4

HK$'000

FAT

Headroom m_EZ=fE 94,427
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate IR R 2 & (9,717)
Impact by decreasing expected revenue T AT A 2 R (7,801)
Considering the headroom available based on the assessment, ZRIGFFIB M EERE EEERE

the management consider that a reasonably possible change
in the key assumptions on which management has based on
its determination on the asset’s recoverable amount would not
cause an impairment loss.

HR BT AETRESBHERZEEE
Bz ARTREHTRELAEFE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B R R

21.GOODWILL 21. B8
2024 2023
—E_mF —To=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
cosT A
At beginning of the year REH] 6,708 6,242
Additions (Note 44) AE(MET44) = 466
At end of the year RER 6,708 6,708
IMPAIRMENT WE
At beginning and at end of the year RENRER 2,342 2,342
CARRYING AMOUNTS RESE
At end of the year RER 4,366 4,366

Impairment testing on goodwill

Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually irrespective of whether
there is any indication of impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated
to the following CGUs. At the end of the reporting period, the
carrying amount of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from:

BB E R

EESFETRENE - THESHRBETR -

RETRENR  BEDOEENTHREELS
i o RIEHR - BEZEASBETIEREEAAT
BHEMELEZHE :

2024 2023
—E-ME T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT

3,900 3,900
466 466

Licensed-in products CGU SIEERREEEBN
Proprietary products CGU FENEMReELSN
Unallocated CGU RAOBIREEEBA
At end of the year RER

4,366 4,366

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amounts of
the CGUs are determined by value in use calculations by using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 10%
per annum (2023: 10% per annum).

Based on assessment, the recoverable amount of Proprietary
products CGU and Unallocated CGU are higher than their respective
carrying amount and accordingly, management of the Group
determined that there is no impairment of goodwill for both years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEE2 it AR A 7

AETRENR  BeEABMN KBS EE
AERRERFHHHEEEZESRETEA -
LEREEFELEE - RARRSREEAZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

The movements in the Group’s interests in associates during the

year are as follows:

RE R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

2023

—E-E —T-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHTT

At beginning of the year RER 5,045 5,163

Acquisition of additional interest in b LN

associates 605
Gain on deemed disposal of interest in RIEL S & A i m 2 WS

associates 147

Share of post-acquisition loss DRI & ETE (870)

At end of the year RER 5,045

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period

are as follow:

Name of
associate

BENRER

Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated
("PPI") (Note a)

TRExERAR([ER])(Fizta)
ZERO Biotech Company Limited

("ZERO") (Note b)

BRENRRAR AR EH)) (HzEb)

Notes:

RIREIR - ANEEBE AR ZFBOT

Place of Proportion of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interest voting rights held  Principal
operations held by the Group by the Group activities
AEEfBEZ AEEERZ
SR EE FrE R LAl SRELA TEER
2024 2024 2023
—E-mE =il —T_=F
British Virgin Islands/ 33.92% 33.92% 33.92% 33.92% Development,

Hong Kong manufacturing and
sale of pharmaceutical
products

ERELHS/BE F% - RERHEER
Hong Kong/Hong Kong 29.25% 29.25% 29.25% 29.25% Operate a central

BR/ R

a Included its wholly owned subsidiaries.

b Included its non-wholly owned subsidiaries.

pharmacy for
compounding
radiopharmaceuticals

BEEAETIt Y hR
&5

a BREEZEMNBAR -

b BREEFEENBARR -

Annual Report 2024 3 175



o
("

ve®

®g

e®®e e®¢
[

e®

176

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR E SRR T ot

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Summarised financial information of
associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associates’
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

Current assets RBEE
Non-current assets FnBEE
Current liabilities REAR
Non-current liabilities FRBAE
Non-controlling interest FrmR R

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEE2 it AR A 7

(7)

PPI
EE
31 December
t=A=t-H

2024
—E-mE
HK$'000
TEL
9,028
31,653
187,417
-
| - R

22. REE QR 2 (&)

BEAGZHBEENE

BRAEEEE AR HBERERERT
W o AT HBERSRRRIEEENG
BERRRE B L RBMBRRABT
ZEH e

FIBEZEHE DR RAEDENAGS
MIBEMAPARR ©

ZERO
B
31 December
+=A=t-R

2023 2024 2023
—TZ=F —E-MF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT THT FHT

11,841
3,998
1,982



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Summarised financial information of

associates (Continued)

RE R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-_A=1+—HIFE

22. RN E N R 2 S ()

(i) BERTZHBEERHE
(&)

PP1 ZERO
& &N

Year Year Year Year

ended ended ended ended

2024 2023 2024 2023

82 #z 82 #z

“BCRE —ZC=H “BCRE —EC=F%

LEE HFE HEE EFE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THT THT THT
Revenue s 3,037 16,168

Loss from operations R (12,793) (15,830) (3,538) (3,283)

Loss for the year AEEEE (17,749) (20,279) (3,543) (3,348)
Other comprehensive expenses Hin2ERS ((P13)) (698) -

Total comprehensive expense for AEERHAXEE

the year (18,377) (20,977) (3,543) (3,348)

Dividend received during the year FREWRE - _ 5

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interests in the associates in the

consolidated financial statements is as follows:

B BERBRRER GRS MBHRRAZBER

AR RS EHIRNT ¢
PPI ZERO
-t ] B/H
31 December 31 December

=A==

+=A=t-H
2024 2023 2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=F —EonE ZTZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TEx THT AT

Net (liabilities)/assets (BfETE) EEFE

Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEEFTARERL]
interests

Goodwill HE

(146,736) (128,516) 12,955 15,822

33.92% 33.92% 29.25% 29.25%
23,995 23,995 417 417

Carrying amount of the Group’s interests A& E#z 7 RE S

- B 206
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

22.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Summarised financial information of

associates (Continued)

Information of the Group’s unrecognized share of losses of

associates are summarized as below:

22. REE QR 2 (&)

(i) HER
(/%)

AEBMARRL
BT :

Year ended
2024

BZE
—E_MF
LEE
HK$'000

TR

Unrecognised share of loss of associate for

the year

RELARERD BB E RRIEIE

6,020

Cumulative unrecognized share of loss of

an associate

REPRER BB E A RIER

24,972

(ii) Deemed disposal of interests in

associates

For the year ended 31 December 2024

There is no deemed disposal of interest in associates.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

In April 2023, the Group acquired certain shares in ZERO at
consideration of HK$605,000, and the Group’s equity interest
in ZERO is increased from 36.32% to 37.69%.

In September 2023, ZERO issued certain new shares to an
existing shareholder thereof and the Group’s equity interest in
ZERO is effectively diluted from 37.69% to 29.25%, and the
Group recognises a gain on deemed disposal of approximately
HK$147,000 in profit or loss which was included in “other

gains and losses, net”.

DI

A BEEREE

RAVEEZ AR

Year ended
2023

HE
—T-=F
EFE
HK$'000
FAT

6,878

18,952

(ii) BERHERBE LA 2B

BE-—E-_ME+=-B=+—-H1
o

AR A AR A A2 M o
BE-—E-_=£+-A=t+—-AL
i

W-ZFE-_=F0AF AEEAKE
605,00078 T Ui 29 FoE T AR £

A

BAEE 2 R 36.32%1EE37.69% °

R-ZZTE-_=FNA

e

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi i B IR A 7

CBMEE—IRE R

REBTETHR  AEEESM 2 RHER
37.69% B #EZE29.25% °
B ERL147,0008 T 2 B IEHE K
RIS TRt AL E fh Uk a5 K B 18 0%

rEBRE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/

23.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

c

e ABAFERE I N

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

23. BV EHEBRGESIMR2 M5

BE

2023

T4

HK$’000

FHET

Investments in life insurance policies (Note a) AF{RBRERE (HizEa) 6,619
Unlisted warrants (Note b) I LRk (i Eb) =
Club membership debenture EMEEES 3,300
Convertible instruments (Note c) AR T A (FisEc) 1,645
11,564

The fair value measurement of these assets are disclosed in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

These represent the life insurance policies with an insurance company
to insure certain directors of the Company. Under the policy, the
Company is both the beneficiary and the policy holder. The Group is
required to pay an one-off premium payment. The Group can terminate
the policy at any time and receive cash based on the cash value of the
policy at the date of withdrawal ("Cash Value”), which is determined
by the premium payment plus accumulated interest earned minus the
accumulated insurance charges, policy expense charges and a specified
amount of surrender charge if the withdrawal is made between 1st to
15th policy year.

These represent the warrants issued by public and private pharmaceutical
companies operated in the United States.

These represents convertible notes issued by both public and private
pharmaceutical companies (the “Issuers”) operated in the United
States, and they could be converted into equity instruments of the
Issuers. Pursuant to the underlying agreements, as at 31 December
2023 the notes carry interest at 5% to 10% per annum and will be
matured in year 2024. During the year 2024, the Group and one of the
Issuers signed on amendment for which the interest rate is increased
from 5% to 7% per annum and the maturity date is further extended to
year 2027 from year 2024.

FREZ A TEMERGA M BHRRME6H

a. BETIA R R B — R R R R 2 AFRBRF
B HAARETEERR - RERE - A7
R RAZEARREREA - AREAZN—K
HRE - AREAERZIRE - WERRER
BEEAzReEE(REEEDKERS - A
BRSEEVZRENFN EAMRRRTFE
BRZRRER RERMXEARFESEL
BRRFEBR(WMAREE-—Z=+AFHEDEE -

b. b Th R B 2 N8 L BE S N ) B R 2 R

B
Az °©

Gl WHEXEEEZ AR R EEERR ([ 81T
ADBITZRRER - AERARITAZRE
mITE - REEEHE R=FT=_=F+=A
=+—HB ZEZEBRZFFERS5%E10% ' 1§
REZF-_MFEERH RS -—NFE - A5H
BHER—ZRITAREBER - #§ LRFEFIE
5% AAE7%  MEHBRE T _NFEE
H—FERE_T_LFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

24.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24.ZAVEEBHMEZEKE
SR B EE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong REBAIMEE ET 2 BAES (HsEb)

(Note b)

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REE L 2 RAES (MizEb)
(Note b)

Unlisted equity securities (Note a, b) JE EmRAESH (Mista - b)

Unlisted partnership investments (Note c) ELTERRE (FizEc)

The fair value measurement of these assets are disclosed in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

a. These represent the Group’s equity interests in private entities
incorporated in Switzerland and the United States.

b. These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held
for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have
elected to designate these investments in financial assets at FVTOCI
as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these
investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the
Group'’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes
and realising their performance potential in the long run.

(e These represent partnership interests in private funds.

The movement of financial assets at FVTOCI for both years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023
—E_MF T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHTT

16 903

165,831 545,859
37,761 59,540
66,215 76,540

269,823 682,842

REEEZATFHEFEBENGEU BRI TR

o

Pt EE

a. U ARE BN R RERFMR L AAERZ
P o

b. ZERBWIHEEE - MEFFHERMRBE
B ARAEEEEBIEERSRERKATE
BRHMEARGEIIRIMBEE  REARSE
HERNBREANERZSRERAFELERREH
TR EERHAEZSREFERPANINRER
REERAERBREN KR -

c. TR S Z & B -

BE-_T-MER-—FT-=E+-A=+—AL

5 & ?ﬁ%@EM%EW§W$ZMﬁﬁ

ERBIT :

At beginning of the year REL

Addition NE

Distribution received Bk

Fair value losses on revaluation recognised, CE#REMA T EEEFHE
net

At end of the year RER
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2024 2023
—E-MF —T-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT AT
682,842 536,452
8,637 6,097
(1,531) -

(420,125) 140,293
269,823 682,842
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26.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

INVENTORIES 25. 78
2023
T4
HK$'000
FAT
Research materials I 34,236
Raw materials B 89,086
Work-in-progress ER T 62,007
Finished goods RIPK 112,777
298,106

R -_MER-—T_=F+_A=+—H8 %
EIEEETERFEYE -

26.BEWE 5 R

No inventories are carried at net realisable value at both 31
December 2024 and 2023.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

2023
—E_=4F

HK$’000

FHT

FEWE 5 BR 3N 86,511
w : TEEEEEREE (1,921)
84,590

Trade receivables
Less: Allowances for ECL

The credit period on sales of goods is 30 - 120 days. The Group has EmHEZEEHA30E21208 - AEBEE AT
recognised an allowance for ECL of 100% against all receivables over B H8iA365H 2 EKFIERER100%EREEE
365 days because historical experience has been that receivables BEE  RARKBAELSR  BHEHE3658 2
that are past due beyond 365 days are not recoverable. Allowances FEMGRIA T AU (A - HEiR 180 H 2 BN E 5 ik
for ECL are recognised against trade receivables over 180 days KA AR AT S 5B ER B EEEER
based on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference & Mt T ARERBEI2ZHFH 2BRE
to past default experience of the counterparty and an analysis of the A5 R E R BANR I EZ D ITERE ©
counterparty’s current financial position.

AT RERERAHME7IRKRE S RANHRE
HRZERERAIT - B EMBRIRHSEEERRIE

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented
based on the invoice date and net of allowance for ECL at the end of
the reporting period:

2023

—ZT=F

HK$'000

FAT

0-30 days 0%Z30H 41,315
31-120 days 31%Z120H 43,053
121-180 days 1215180H 132
181-365 days 181%365H 82
Over 365 days and under 3 years 365H A ER=FLAA 8
84,590
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

26.TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 26.FElWEZRM(E)

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts which are past EXFHEZERE SERBERBESRRER
due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has MESARERNSERERAEHNEEBEERREZ
not recognised an allowance for ECL because there has not been B REREESEZEEERUEEAEHE
a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still RAMATIRE o RSB35 S48 H T
considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or EHR RS EMEENRER - INEEREFR AT
other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a REBBEREFH 2 EMSEEES -
legal right of offset against any amounts owed by the Group to the
counterparty.
Aging analysis of receivables that are past BB R R EEEE
due but no allowance for ECL provided B 2 B 508 2 R i 7 9T
2024 2023
—E_mF —To=F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Overdue by: BER
1-180 days 1%180H 51,169 33,176
181-365 days 181%365H 266 229
51,435 33,405
Movement in allowance for ECL A EEEERESE
2024 2023
—E-gEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT
Balance at beginning of the year FH2 85 1,921 706
Exchange rate adjustments fE R B (81) (23)
Write-off ik (78) (42)
Charge to profit or loss for the year MEAFEER 735 1,280
Balance at end of the year FRZEH 2,497 1,921
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group W E RN E SRR R ERER - AEEZ
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable RERE SEREVERLEERHREREH
from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the RAEILEEERZZFAEE - ARELEAMEX
reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to BEEME  HEESTRABRAR -

the customer base being large and unrelated.
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26.TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Aging analysis of receivables that are
past due and allowance for ECL provided

-\
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~

e ABAFERE I N

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

26. B E Z AR (&)

EERY i IR EER
B2 EW TR 2 Rl 74T

2023
—T-=4F
HK$’000
FAT

Overdue by: BEA -
181-365 days 181%365H
Over 365 days and under 3 years 365HA ER=FLARA

229
1,692

1,921

27.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

7. HBEWROR - e RFEN

PREPAYMENTS Hig
2023
— T4
HK$’000
FAT
Utilities and rental deposits NERBRBEEZS 3,336

Prepayment for acquisition of plant and WS &5t - RISARIBE 2 81T

equipment, services and purchase FRIA 44,413
Prepaid value-added tax TEfH S ER 7,582
Others (Note) E b (FftE) 44,839
100,170

Note: Others includes receivables from other debtors and advance to staff. A
consideration receivable of HK$21,920,000 from disposal of intangible
assets included in 2023 was settled during the year 2024.

Included in 2024 balance, there is HK$31,000 receivable from non-
controlling interests for the partial disposal of interest in subsidiary
during the year.

There is no provision for impairment loss on other receivables
recognised in profit or loss for both years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

28.ADVANCE TO ASSOCIATES

This represents the principal and interest receivables from loans to
associates which carry interest rate of 4% (2023: 4%) per annum
and are repayable within one year.

As at both 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount
of advance to associates is HK$Nil, net of HK$90,838,000 ECL
provision.

ffeE . HEtbe@ERKREMEBAZTERBNTET Y
FE —F_—FREERKHERTEE LN
821,920,000 TER =T _MEEE(E °

FR - RZFWFEZ &K% - 31,0008TR
) E F B A R ER ) M sk R MR AR R 3R ©

HE—Z-_NER-_FT-_=F#+-A=+—AL
PRS- B R 25 A R L A FE U R TRURU R
B R o

28. 2 FHE QR ZFIE

I A A R H 2 B2 A R BIRAE -
MEREFA%(CT-=F : 4%) R —FA

g -
NR-B-NER-—_FB-_=F+_"HA=1+—H &

NFHERRIZ KB RASBHATAL &
A E KR TEAE B E51E#1%890,838,000/5 T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

29.PLEDGED DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK

29.BIEHER BHERBITEE

BALANCES

As at 31 December 2023, pledged deposits represent security given
for bill payable and carry interest rate of 1.45% per annum.

Bank balances carry prevailing interest rates at both 31 December
2024 and 2023.

30.TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade payables by age, presented
based on invoice date, at the end of the reporting period:

WZEZ=F+-"A=+—H BEMRFREHR
ENREREZER - BFNELA5%FE -

RZE-ZMER=ZT=_=F+=A=+—H0 R

TTREIRERIARES -

30. BV E 5 IR

UTAEREZAHMEFEMNE SRRV ®RE

HIRZ BRER DA

2024
—E-mE
HK$'000

Fhx

0-90 days 0£90H
91-180 days 91%180H
181-365 days 181%F365H
Over 365 days 3658 A £

127,414
13,573
450
530

141,967

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 90 days.
The Group has financial risk policies in place to ensure that all
payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

31.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2023
—TE-=4F
HK$’000
FAT
63,209
4,913
5,556
469

74,147

BEEM L VHEEHARO0R - REEFTEUH
[RERERER - HERAAE RN FORERE B RER

WA e

31. Lt ENRER BT E A

2024
a1 3
HK$’000

FEx

103,615
140,680

34,391
11,465
12,185
63,868
104,733

470,937

Contract liabilities GHBE

Sales guarantee deposits HERBRS

Other payables for plant and equipment and  FLEE M5 5 ELAR S 2 E A < 3008
services

Other tax payables H At RS FRIR

Obligations under license contract HF & HFENE

Accrued staff salaries and welfare 2iHEEHE REF

Others (Note) E At (fF7E)

Classified as: NEA

Current RED

Non-current e )]

449,788
21,149

470,937

Note: Others includes bill payable, payable to other creditors and accrued
expenses.
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2023
T =F
HK$'000
FAT
72,570
136,318

105,526
4,818
517
53,599
88,825

462,173

439,021
23,152

462,173

et : EMeBEENRE  ENEMERAZZRRE

stER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

32. RITERREX

2024 2023
—E-MF —T=4F
HK$'000 HK$’000

FExT AT

107,637
42,320

149,957 122,119

63,908

213,865 192,755

149,957 122,119
63,908 6,727
= 63,909

213,865 192,755

a. ZRARITIRIZ BRI MR B ERE -

32.BANK BORROWINGS AND
OVERDRAFTS
Current B
Bank overdrafts - secured RITES — HIEM
Bank borrowings - secured RITER— AR
Bank borrowings - unsecured ERITIER — AR
Non-current ERE
Bank borrowings - secured IRITIE R — HER
Total FCbc)
Carrying amount of the bank borrowings and $R7Tf& 5 N iE X BRE £ 28E R T 5 HARE
overdrafts are repayable (Note a): B (Kizxa) :
Within 1 year —FA
After 1 year but not exceeding 2 years BE—FETBEME
After 2 years but not exceeding 5 years BEAMEENBERE
Note: P&
a. The table is based on the agreed repayment schedule provided by
banks.

Bank borrowings and overdrafts carry floating interest rate which
is adjusted with reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
or Loan Prime Rate at both 31 December 2024 and 2023. As at 31
December 2024, the effective interest rates of the Group’s bank
borrowings ranged from 2.60% to 6.58% (31 December 2023:
2.50% to 8.59%) per annum.

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the following

R-E-—WNER-—"T-_=F+—"A=+—H
TERRESZIRZEBHNE(2ERBRITRAE
FEKERFEEFNERAR)FTE - R _F
TZA=1+—8 AEBRITERZEREFE
NF2.60%%6.58%(—FE-_=F+=-A=+—
H :2.50%%8.59%) °

AEERITIERA TIIEEFTHE

2024 2023
—EN4E TR =4
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHER FAT

currencies:
Hong Kong Dollars I
Renminbi AR

171,545 170,835
42,320 21,920

213,865 192,755
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

33.LEASE LIABILITIES

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F

Present Present

value of value of
the lease Total lease the lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments
gitpp e ER R ERE e e FENRIRE HENREeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT FExT FHT FHT
Within 1 year —FR 7,802 8,355 7,452 7,807
After 1 year but within 2 years —4&EMRER 4,537 4,724 3,713 3,819
After 2 years but within 5 years M ERER 1,094 1,104 220 221
After 5 years hF% = = - -
5,631 5,828 3,933 4,040
13,433 14,183 11,385 11,847

Less: Total future interest B RRF SR B

expenses (@4-1)) (462)

Present value of lease liabilities fE&ERE

Lease obligations are denominated in currencies of the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities.

33.E8E

13,433 11,385

HEAENRREE TR 2 WEEEHE -

34.DEFERRED TAXATION 34. EERIE
The following is the major deferred tax balances recognised and NTARAFERBAFERR L EBRIERIE
movements thereon during the current and prior years: HEHRRHES)
Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities FEEHE(BE) B
Accelerated Tax on
tax Intangible unrealised Right-of-use Lease
depreciation assets profit assets liabilities Total
REREA
MERERE ERER 2B RREEE HEAE szt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén TiEn T Thn Thn Thn
At 1 January 2023 R-E-ZE-F-A (595) 74,379 (7,397) 1,630 (1,704) 66,313
Exchange difference EiER - (1,895) - (25) 2% (1,896)
(Credit)/Charge to profit or loss (FIAER)/BEEMR (205) 1,662 (2,668) 3) 2 (1,186)
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=FTZA=1-HR
1 January 2024 “E-mE-f-A (800) 74,146 (10,065) 1,602 (1,652) 63,231
Exchange difference EizEE - (2,504) - (36) 37 (2,503)
Charge/(Credit) to profit or loss AR/ GtAER) 1 12,642 2,878 470 (589) 15,402
At 31 December 2024 R-2-mE+-A=1+-8 (799) 84,284 (7,187) 2,03 (2,204) 76,130
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

34.DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED) 34, ELEHE (&)

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities FEHE(EE) BE(E)
(Continued)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of RENFEEMBMRAE  BEHEEERARL
financial position, deferred tax assets and liabilities have been B - U T ARV BERR B2 EERBLE S
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for DT

financial reporting purposes:

2023

—T=F

HK$’000

FHTT

Deferred tax assets EIERIEA E (10,199)

Deferred tax liabilities FIEFREAE 73,430

63,231
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on BERBRCEMEEE  BZZTZTN\F—HA—H
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC #E - AR BB A B g AT B AR A BR 2 AR B B S
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has MTEINEL o B 77N 5 B A8 042 i % (0] h B B )
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in AR 25 M B G SR ZREA7058 &4
respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits T(ZEZ=F+=A=+—H : 631HEHT)
earned by the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$705 ZEH B ZEERERE e TR Rl TE RS R &
million (31 December 2023: HK$631 million) as the Group is able to B - BERE VB RERANT ERZEE R EREE

control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and JEIERIA ©
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

35.SHARE CAPITAL 35. K4
Number of shares Share capital
RIPEE %

2024 2024 2023
—E-NE = —EomE —Z-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

Tax TAT

Authorised: A
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each ERAEE0.05E Tz TRk <Ll 1,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRERR :
At beginning and end of the year RENRER 588,835,343 588,835,343 29,442
There were no movement in either the authorised or issued share RHEZT_NER T _=F+=-_A=+—H
capital of the Company during both years ended 31 December 2024 IEREFERA - NARZEATHE FHITRAL &
and 2023. BE o

36.RESERVES 36. f# &
Share premium B &E
Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value RN EEREANRARROEERFTEEZENZE
and the issuing value of the shares of the Company. e
Merger difference aOFESE
Merger difference represents the difference between the nominal AHEBEEMRBHNBARZRNEEER =S
value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal TZFARRRM _EHATETTAS B EAR K
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time BATRITAR RN 2 AEZMHERE -

of the Group’s reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares in 2002.

Share-based compensation reserve LRGN ZHE @ E
Share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair value of share R 2Tz e FEEREE R mAREITE
options granted which have not yet been exercised. fElRtE 2 NP (E -

Other reserves Hitbt# e

Other reserves represent (i) the difference between the HAh REE R ()R B E IR AR i 2 6 S IR R
consideration and the carrying amount of the net assets attributable Mt BB I B A B 2 R ISR (D F A ERE
to the reduction of, or additions of, interests in subsidiaries being SR ZEMZERE  R>DAIEHE QR ZHE -

disposed to, or acquired from, non-controlling interests; and (ii)
share of associates’ reserve.
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36.RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Investments revaluation reserve

Investments revaluation reserve represents the cumulative fair
value changes, net of tax, of financial assets at FVTOCI until they
are disposed of or impaired.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve relating to the translation of the net assets of
the Group’s foreign subsidiaries from their functional currencies to
the Group’s presentation currency are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
Such exchange differences accumulated in the exchange reserve
will be reclassified to profit or loss upon the disposal of the foreign
subsidiaries.

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company

The Company’s 2012 share option scheme (the “2012 Share
Option Scheme”) and 2022 share option scheme (the “2022
Share Option Scheme”, together with the 2012 Share Option
Scheme referred to as “Share Option Schemes”) were adopted on
10 May 2012 and 19 May 2022 respectively for the primary purpose
of providing incentives to directors, eligible employees, advisers and
consultants.

For the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the 2012 Share Option Scheme shall be subject to a maximum
limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on the date on which the 2012
Share Option Scheme is conditionally adopted and approved by the
shareholders at the AGM, unless the Company obtains an approval
from the shareholders in general meeting to refresh such 10% in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating such 10%. The overall limit
on the number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2012
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes must not
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

36.

37.

-\
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~

e ABAFERE I N

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

& (&)
REELHE

RESMHFRERATEEEE E2E KRS
2B EERHERRERN Z R A FHEZF (N
BRAEIR) ©

ELFE

BRRASEBINTB AR EEFENEIEE
ERMEAAEEEREE CERFHERNE
2 E WS ER LN E L FE R - ZEEER
RBERFZELZEANEEBIINIERRRE

MoBRER

BT E
YT

AARZ ZE——FEREFE( =B —=F8
RS ) k=T - —FEREdE (===
FRRESE ] BRI —FERETERE
[BRETE D HIN=_E——FRATHER=Z
ZZFRAATAARM EEMES AERE
8 - KA AA TR R o

T FRRESENE  RITERE-F
— — RS B IR th 2 P BB AR AR R AT RE B
T2 B REBRZBERNBERBERE L& &Mt
R Rk — T — — FREREEE BB ETR
710% 2 &= ERATARR - BRIEADRIRE £
HRARBRERA S ERISERILEE BRI 10%E
o AT HZ10%RREME @ RIE-T— — 50
BRERT B Z FRR R BB TS EENR -
RIE =T — — FRERES 8 REF B RS
B R 8 R 2 P8 BTSN B AR 1T
(M Al 8L 37T 2 IR D 81 B BB IR B TS BB TR
ZBEITENZ30% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

For the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is determined
by the directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares for five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

For the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme shall be subject to a maximum
limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on the date on which the 2022
Share Option Scheme is conditionally adopted and approved by the
shareholders at the AGM, unless the Company obtains an approval
from the shareholders in general meeting to refresh such 10% in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2022 Share Option Scheme will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating such 10%. The overall limit
on the number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2022
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes must not
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

For the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is determined
by the Directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares on the date of grant; and (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares for five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant, or (where applicable) such price as from
time to time adjusted pursuant to the 2022 Share Option Scheme
and subject to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.
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A2 &) (&)

M- ——FHEREFENS TEEDHRES
BT WETLPRUTEEZ&ESE  ()VRHOR
BERSZKHE  (BHRBERTEBSER
(& B 2 FHWME : R(ii)ROHEE -

M- —FEREEME  RITERE=Z
ZFRERAERT ISR L 2 e AR R Tl e B
TZROBEEZBRRABRIBEFRE LHIEHF
FMRHE S FERETEE BB ETR
710%2 &= ERATAER - BRIEARAFIRE Eh
BMARBREREAS FESREIEFFEE10%MR
R o BETEZI0%BEME RE_T_F8
BEAERT Bl Z IR R R 2 RS T 25T EER ©
RAR =T = Z FRERAERT 8 RAT (A E b AR T
BB MM ARITEZ FTE BITEINERL T
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37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Details of the Company’s Share Option Schemes during the current
year are summarised as follow:

Grantee Date of grant

ERA BHAH

Category I:

FH:

Directors

EZ

Lee Siu Fong 31.03.2015

)5 “Z-R§=A=1-A
31.03.2016
“3-7E=R=1-A
13.04.2017
~Z-tEMmA+=A
13.04.2018
—Z-)\fmA+=8
15.04.2019
“Z-NEMA+EA

At

1 January

Vesting period 2024
RZB=mE

584 -A-H

31,03.2015 to 29.09.2015 223,000
“B-R%=f=t-B%
Z2-RFNB=tAR

31.03.2015 to 29.06.2016 223,000
“¥-1FZAZ+-H%
—E-xERA-TRA

31,03.2016 to 29.09.2016 293,500
—B-REZf=1-RZ

“E-REAB=thA

31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017 293,500
“8-’EZAZt+-HE
“E-tERAthA

13.04.2017 to 12.10.2017 295,000
“E-tEMATZAZ

Z2-tE+B+=A

13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018 295,000
“E-tFMATZHE

—2-\5tA+=A

13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018 228,000
—E-\¥MAT=RZ

Z2-\¥+B+=H

13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019 228,000
“E-\¥MAt=ZREZ

“2-hEtA+=A

15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 296,000
“E-JEMATERZ

“E-7F1+ATOA

15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020 296,000
“E-LEMATEAZ

“2-2ELATMA

Granted
during

the year

FRRH

No. of options
BREYA
Exercised

during
the year

R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HILFE

37. 1B RAERT 8 (&)

A2 &) (&)

MAERE - AARBRE 2 FHEHdnT

At

31 December

2024 Exercise period
RZB=mE

t=A=t+-H k8

223,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025
“3-5fAA=1RZE
—B-RE=B=1A

223,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025
“E-~ERAZTRE
“2-RE=R=1A

293,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026
“E-~ENA=1BE
“B-XEZB=1A

293,500 30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026
“E-tExA=1RE
“B-XE=R=1A

295,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027
“B-tEtATZRE
ZE-tEMAtZR

295,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027
“E-\ftA1ZRZ
“B-tEMATCA

228,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028
“B-\¥tAtZRE
ZE-\FMAt=R

228,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028
“E-NEtATZRE
“2-\EMAt=A

296,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029
“B-AETATERE
ZEAEMATMA

296,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029
“B-BELATERR
“B-hEMATRA

Exercise price
per share

SRTERE
HK$
BT
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=+—-HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. (RS E (&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) A2 5] (&)
No. of options
BREYA
At Granted Exercised  Cancelled or At
1 January during during lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2024 the year the year the year 2024 Exercise period per share
163
ERA BHAH 584 -A-H FRR ERTE  FRE#EREN tZB=t+-R il SRIKE
HK$
AT
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020 294,000 294,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030 3.648
ZZ-TEMATER “E-EEMATEAR “B-EFTATEAR
“BIRETATNA “EZBENATHA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021 294,000 294,000 15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030
“BCSEMATHAR “E--FtATERZ
“B--E+ATHA Z2-2FNATEA
21.04.2021 21,04.2021 to 20.10.2021 294,000 294,000 21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031
e S e ZEC-¥MAZt-HE ZE--F1At-HE
“B-E1AZ1A “8=-fWA=tA
21,04.2021 to 20.07.2022 294,000 294,000 21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031
Z3--FMAZt+-HE F-"ELACT-BE
“BCCEYACTA ZB=-EMAZtA
25.04.2022 25.04.2022 to 24.10.2022 294,000 294,000 25.10.2022 to 24.04.2032
ZECCFMACTRA [ i s “RCSETACTERE
ZBTETAZTMA ZBZZEMACTMA
25.04.2022 to 24.07.2023 294,000 294,000 25.07.2023 to 24.04.2032
—B--EMA=+FAZ “E-CEtAC1EAZ
“BCZELACTMA ZB=CEMAZtOA
20.06.2024 20.06.2024 to 19.06.2025 294,000 294,000 20.06.2025 to 19.06.2034
ZZ-mERAZTR “E-MERA=THE “BCRERACTRE
“E-REXATAA “B=MERRTAR
20.06.2024 to 19.12.2025 294,000 294,000 20.12.2025 to 19.06.2034
“E-MERA=1BE ZBCRETZACTRE
ZBCRETZATAA ZBEMEABTAR
Leelalertsuphakun  31.03.2015 31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015 223,000 223,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025
Wanee
ke —2-1§=A=1-R “2-1%=A=t-BHZ% “B-LFNAZTHE
Z2-REAAZTAR ZBCHFZAZTR
31,03.2015 to 29.06.2016 223,000 223,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025
“B-REAA=THE
ZE-RFZR=1H
31.03.2016 31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016 293,500 293,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026
ey ES el - AFZAS1-BE “3-~ENAZTHE

“E-XEAAZTAR “B-XE=R=1A
31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017 293,500 293,500 30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026
“E-NE “3-tEAA=1HE

“E-tERA-tAA ZBZREZB=tR

192 Lee's Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEmiz ik A R A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

At
1 January
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2024
R=B-mE
ERA HHAH 584 -A-H
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 to 12.10.2017 295,000
“Z-tEMA+T=R “E-t§MATZAE
“E-tF+A1ZR
13.04.2017 to 12,07.2018 295,000
“B-tEMATZRE
“2-\¥tB+=A
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018 228,000
—Z-)\#mA+=H “E-\FMATZHE
“E-\f+A1ZR
13.04.2018 to 12,07.2019 228,000
“B-\¥MAt+=ZRE
“2-hEtB+A
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 296,000
ZZ-hEMmATRR “E-NFMATEAR
“E-NFt+ATHA
15.04.2019 to 14,07.2020 296,000
“B-AEMATERE
Z2-ZELATMA
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020 294,000
ZZ-TEMATER “E-EFMATEAR
ZECEEATOR
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021 294,000
“B-BEMATEAZ
Z2--£tBtMA
21.04.2021 21,04.2021 to 20.10.2021 294,000
b iee pul= Nl —2--FMA-1-BE
ZB--%£+AC1A
21,04.2021 to 20.07.2022 294,000
“B--¥MA-t-HEZ
“ZELAZTR
25.04.2022 25.04.2022 to 24.10.2022 294,000
ZECCEMACTRR e ) s

S o 1
25.04.2022 to 24.07.2023
“B--FMA-1EAZ

ELAZTMA

294,000

Granted
during
the year

FRRH

Are SRR M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NME+-_A=+—HIFE

37. 1B RAERT 8 (&)

A2 &) (&)

No. of options
BREYA

Exercised  Cancelled or At

during lapsed during 31 December

the year

Exercise price
the year 2024 Exercise period
RZB=mE

t=A=t+-H fkH

per share

FRTE  FREHERN SROEE
HK$
BT

295,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027

“E-t§1+A1ZHE
“E-tEMATCA
295,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027
—E-\FtA1ZHE
“E-tEMAt=R
228,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028
“E-\§1+A1ZHE
“E2-\EMAt=A
228,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028
“E-NEtRTZRE
“B-\FMAt=R
296,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029
“E-NF1+ATEAR
“E-hERMATRA
296,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029
“ECBELATEAZ
ZE-AFMATMA
294,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030
“E-EFTATEAR
“EZEEMATHA
294,000 15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030
“B--ELATEAZ
“E-Z5MATOA
294,000 21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031
“B--51+A-+-BE
—E=-FMA=1A
294,000 21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031
“E-ELA-T-BE
ZB=-EMAZtA
294,000 25.10.2022 to 24.04.2032
“B-E1ASTERE
ZE-CEMA-1MA
294,000 25.07.2023 to 24.04.2032
SEtAZTEAE
=—FMA=+MmA

Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=+—-HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

Grantee

5N

The Company (Continued)

Date of grant

RHAH

Li Xiaoyi
7

20.06.2024
ZEoPERAZTR

31.03.2015
“T-EFZAZt-E

3103.2016
“E-AFZAZt-R

13.04.2017
“3-tEMmA+=A

13.04.2018
~3-\fmA+=A

15.04.2019
“2-hFEATIA

Vesting period

RS

20.06.2024 to 19.06.2025
“B-MEAA=TEZE
“BCREXATAA
20.06.2024 to 19.12.2025
“E-MERA=TRE
ZBIRETSATAR
31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015
“B-R%=f=t-B%
“E-1FAA=TAA
31.03.2015 to 29.06.2016
“¥-1FZAZt+-HE
“E-XEXAZTAR
31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016
“B-NE=f=t-BZ%
“E-~EAAZTAA
31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017
“8-’EZAZt-BE
“E-tEXA=TAR
13.04.2017 to 12.10.2017
“3-tEMAT=ZRZE
“E-tE1+A+=A
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018
“3-tEMATZHE
“2-N\EtAtzA
13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018
—3-\EMA1ZRZE
“E-\FtAt=A
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019
“3-\EMATZRZ
“E-AEtATZA
15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019
“E-NEMATERE
“E-nETATOA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020
“E-NEMATERZ
“E-BELATRA

At

1 January
2024
RZB=mE

223,000

223,000

293,500

293,500

295,000

295,000

228,000

228,000

296,000

296,000

Granted
during
the year

FRRH

294,000

294,000

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEEg 2 i A R 2 7

Statements

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

A2 &) (&)

No. of options
BREYA

Exercised  Cancelled or

during lapsed during
the year the year

R FREHAXN

At

31 December

2024 Exercise period

t=A=t+-H fikH

294,000 20.06.2025 to 19.06.2034
F-RERA-THEZ
EXATHA

294,000 20.12.2025 to 19.06.2034

5 -y =

ZBZMERRTAR

223,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025
“E-5fnA=1RZE
“E-RE=R=1A

223,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025
ZE-NEAR=THE
“B-RE=R=1A

293,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026
“E-~ENA=1BE
“B-XE=B=1A

293,500 30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026
“E-tEXA=THE
“B-REZR=1A

295,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027
“E-t§1+A1=ZHZE
“E-tEMAT=R

295,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027
“3-N\ftATZRZ
“B-tEMATCA

228,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028
“E-\§1ATZHZE
“E-\§MAT=R

228,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028
“E-NEtATZRZE
“B2-\EMAt=A

296,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029
“E-NF+ATERZ
“E-AFMATEA

296,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029
“BCBELATERZR
“B-hENATRA

Exercise price
per share

SRTERE
HK$

BT
1.200




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
sRa B RS R R MY

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Grantee Date of grant

ERA HHAH
15.04.2020
ZZ-TEMATER
21.04.2021
e S b e
20.06.2024
“ZoPERACTE

Category II:

FoE:

Employees 07.10.2014

{3 Z2-METALA

Vesting period

RS

15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020
“E-ZEMATEAZ
“BCSEATOR
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021
“E-SFMATERZ
Z2--£tBtMA
21.04.2021 to 20.10.2021
“¥--§MA-+-RE
“B--£1+AC1R
21,04.2021 to 20.07.2022
-EMA=t-HZ
ZB-CELBCTA
20.06.2024 to 19.06.2025
“E-MERA=TRE
“2-REXRATAA
20.06.2024 to 19.12.2025
“E-MENACTAZ
Z2-RE+ZATAR

07.10.2014 to 29.06.2015
“3-METALRE
—E-EFXB=TRA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2015
“E2-ME+ALEE
“2-1%1+H=R
07.10.2014 to 29.06.2016
“3-DMETALAZE
ZE-R"EXB=TRA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2016
“E2-ME+ALEE
“E-xE1+A=R
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2017
“3-DMETALAZE
“2-tE+ACR

At

1 January
2024
R=B-mE
-A-H

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

300,000

250,000

300,000

250,000

250,000

Granted
during
the year

Rk

294,000

294,000

No. of options

HREHA

Exercised
during
the year

R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HILFE

37. 1B RAERT 8 (&)

A2 &) (&)

Cancelled or
lapsed during
the year

EREHIEN

(300,000)

(250,000)

(300,000)

(250,000)

(250,000)

At

31 December

2024 Exercise period
RZB=mE

t=A=t+-H fikH

294,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030
“B-EFTATEAR
“EZBENATHA
294,000 15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030
“B--E+AtHAZ
—2-25MATOA
294,000 21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031
“8--51A-t-BE
“8=-fWA=tA
294,000 21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031
“¥-FtA-t-RZ
ZB=-EMAZtA
294,000 20.06.2025 to 19.06.2034
“B-RERACTRE
“B=MEXATAR
294,000 20.12.2025 to 19.06.2034
“B-i%t-A=1HZE
= ABTHA

- 30.06.2015 to 06.10.2024
ZE-EERA=THE
-2
- 03.10.2015 to 06.10.2024
“E-REtAZRE
—E-mE+ARA
30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024
—E-AEAAZTRZE
ZECMETAAR
03.10.2016 to 06.10.2024
ZE-REtAZRE
—E-mE+ARA
- 03.10.2017 to 06.10.2024
“3-t§1+AZRE
ZECMETAAR

Exercise price
per share

SRTERE
HK$

BT
3.648

Annual Report 2024




e® ©pe® ©g@ ©,

&

e o®® o®e o

196

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=+—-HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

At
1 January
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2024
RZB=mE
ERA BHAH 584 -A-H
03.10.2017 03.10.2017 to 02.10.2018 250,000
—Z-+%1+A=R “E-tEtAZRE
“2-\§+AZA
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2019 250,000
“3-tF1+AZRE
“2-hETAZR
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2020 250,000
“¥-tf1+AZRE
Z2-BE1ACH
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2021 500,000
“B-tEtAZRE
“3--§+AZA
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2021 3,525,000

ZZ-ZEMATER “E-ZEMATEAZ
“B-E1ATHA
15.04.2020 to 14.04.2023
“BCBEMATEAZ
“E-=EMAtMA
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2021
“BCSETACTZRE
“8--£1+A=+ZR
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2022

3,525,000

23.10.2020
ZZ-EEHACTER

500,000

500,000

23.10.2020 to 22.10.2023
“BCSETACTZRE
a3 |
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2024
ZBCRETACTZRE
“B-METASTCR

500,000

500,000

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

A2 &) (&)

No. of options
BREYA

Granted Exercised

during

Cancelled or At

during lapsed during 31 December

the year the year

the year

2024 Exercise period
RZB=mE
FRR tZB=t+-R il

R FREHAXN

250,000 03.10.2018 to 02.10.2027
“g8-\§tA=HE
“B-tE+A-R
250,000 03.10.2019 to 02.10.2027
“E-NFTRA=RZ
ZB-tE+AZR
250,000 03.10.2020 to 02.10.2027
ZECEELAZHE
“B-tE+A-R
500,000 03.10.2021 to 02.10.2027
“3--F1R=RZ
ZB-tE+AZR
3,525,000 15.10.2021 to 14.04.2030
“B--F1A1EAE
“EZBENATHA
3,525,000 15.04.2023 to 14.04.2030
ZENATERE
—2-25MATOA
500,000 23.10.2021 to 22.10.2030
“8--51A-1ZRE
2 ey g
500,000 23.10.2022 to 22.10.2030
TA=t=B%
ZB=2ETATIR
500,000 23.10.2023 to 22.10.2030

2 ey

500,000 23.10.2024 to 22.10.2030
“B-METAT=RE
ZB=2ETATIR

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEEg 2 i A R 2 7

Exercise price
per share

SRTERE
HK$

BT
6.190




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statementé

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

At
1 January
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2024
R=B-mE
ERA HHAH 584 -A-H
02.12.2022 02.12.2022 to 01.12.2023 250,000
S o | 5 =
02.12.2022 to 02.10.2024 250,000
—$--E{-f-AZ
ZE-mETAZA
02.12.2022 to 02.10.2025 250,000
“E-CEt-A-RE
“2-REHACA
02.12.2022 to 02.10.2026 500,000
—$--E{-f-AZ
ZE-RETAZA
25,617,000
Exercisable at the
end of the year
RERATE
Weighted average HK$5.690
exercise price
TR 5.69047

On 20 June 2024, the Company has granted share options to
subscribe for a total of 1,764,000 ordinary shares of the Company
under 2022 Share Option Scheme, and the closing price of the
shares of the Company immediately before the date of which the

options were granted was HK$1.20.

During the year 31 December 2024, 1,350,000 options were lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme and

no share option was cancelled.

RE R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NME+-_A=+—HIFE

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

A2 &) (&)

No. of options
BREYA

Exercised

Granted
during during lapsed during

Cancelled or At
31 December Exercise price

the year the year the year 2024 Exercise period per share
“mE

FRR FRTE  FREHERN SRKE

HK$

AT

250,000 02.12.2023 to 01.12.2032

250,000 03.10.2024 to 01.12.2032
“¥-MEF+AZREZ
ZB=CE+ZA-R
250,000 03.10.2025 to 01.12.2032
“BCRETAZRE
“B=-F+-f-A
500,000 03.10.2026 to 01.12.2032
“BoAETAZRE
ZB=CE+ZA-R
1,764,000

(1,350,000) 26,031,000

23,517,000

HK$1.200 HK$10.340 HK$5.144

1.200%% 10.340%7 5.14487

RZZE_WMFAAZ+H  ARFRERE=F
—FERET AR L AT REA £1,764,0004%
fRAD 2 FERRAE - AR AR DM Bz RE AR
EHAZKRMmERL.2047T

RBE_FT_MFE+_A=+—BLFE "
1,350,00017 BRI IR — T — — SR iRt &)
ZAGFRE R A A FE AR R AR A 3 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. BT EI (&)

(CONTINUED)
KR aE](4&)
RZE-_WMF-—A—BRER-_ZTE-_WMF+=A

=+—08 - IREERE S AEEE 2 B EER
B % 75IA&57,633,53419 155,869,534 °

The Company (Continued)

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option
Schemes as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 were
57,633,534 and 55,869,534 respectively.

198

Details of the Company’s share option schemes during the prior year
are summarised as follow:

No. of options

WNE—5E - ARFEZEEREEFHBRMT -

BREE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At
1 January during during  lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period per share
RZBZZF RZB==fF
ERA RHAH BEE -A-H EREL ERfE FREEIEN +ZR=1-B 11fH BROEE
HK$
BT
Category I:
4
Directors
£z
Lee Siu Fong 30.12.2013 30.12.2013 to 29.06.2014 269,000 o = (269,000) - 30.06.2014 t0 29.12.2023 7.300
£ ZE-ZETZA=TR “E-ZFt-A=1RE “Z-mERA=TRE
—E-mERAZTAA ZRCEETZAZTAR
30.12.2013 t0 29.03.2015 269,000 - B (269,000) - 30.03.2015 t0 29.12.2023 7.300
—3-=f+-A=tRAZ —Z-1§=A=tRZ
“Z-RF=ACtNB ZBCEEE-AZTAR
31.03.2015 31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015 223,000 = = = 223,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025 11.200
—3-nf=RA=1-A “3-1%¥=A=t-R% “Z-1FhA=TRE
ZE-RFNRAZTAA “E-RF=A=TH
31.03.2015 t0 29.06.2016 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025 11.200
ZZ-R¥=A=1-RZ ZE-nE~A=1TRZ
ZE-ERAZHAA S
31.03.2016 31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016 293,500 B - - 293,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026 5.754
3 5=ZA=t-A —F-~"E=R=t-RZ “2-7"FhA=TRZE
ZE-"ERAZTAA ZBZA5=A=1H
31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017 293,500 - - - 293,500 30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026 5.754
ZE-7EZR=1-RZ
S O g Z2F=R=1H
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 to 12.10.2017 295,000 = = = 295,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“Z-t¥mAT=R “E-t¥mAT=RE “E2-t5tATZRE
“E-tE+ATZH “RtEMATZA
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018 295,000 - - - 295,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“3-t5MA+=RZ ~2-\ftA+=RZ
“E-)\§tAT=R “ZtEMATZR

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

(@7
S

AR e WIS HRaR AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

The Company (Continued) K] (4&)
No. of options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At
1 January during during  lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period per share
i St i St
ERA RHAH GBS -A-H EREL FRITE  FREERAN TZA=+-R 18 BRfTiERE
HK$
AT
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018 228,000 = = = 228,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028 11.216
—%-\fmA+=A —%-\fmA+=RZ “2-\§tA+=RZ
ZE-\§tATZH “Z)\EWATZA
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019 228,000 - - - 228,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028 11.216
~2-\fmA+=RZ “2-N\5tAt+=RZ
“E-NFtATZR “2-)\FWATZR
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 296,000 - B - 296,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029 1.324
“Z-75MATERA “EI-N§MATRAZ “T-NETATRAZ
ZE-NETATRA ZER-AENATREA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020 296,000 = = = 296,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“Z-N\¥MATEAZ “Z-ZEtATRAZ
ZERCRELATRA “ECNEMATIA
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020 294,000 - - - 294,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030 3.648

“Z-TENATRA “Z-TENATRAZ

ZE-ZETATRA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021 294,000
ZZ-ZENATRAZ

ZE-—FtAtMA
21.04.2021 21.04.2021 t0 20.10.2021 294,000
i St 1) ey “Z--fMA-+-RE

ZE--5f+A-TH
21.04.2021 to 20.07.2022 294,000
“R--EMA-T-AZ

S o oy
25.04.2022 to 24.10.2022 294,000
i S 21) ey o2

i S5 o oy 1|
25.04.2022 to 24.07.2023 294,000

25.04.2022
i St 21) ey o

ZZ-RETRTRER
ZZ=ZFMATNA
= = - 294,000 15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030 3.648
—Z--%tAt+RAZ
“Z-ZEMATMA
- - - 294,000 21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031 5.806
ZZ--41AZ1-H%
—3=-FMA=1H
294,000 21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031 5.806
E+A=t+-AZ
—Z--%WA=tA
294,000 25.10.2022 to 24.04.2032 2.076
ZZCCETRZTRAR
ZB=CMAZtEA

2.076
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

The Company (Continued) KR aE](4&)
No. of options
BREE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At
1 January during during  lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period per share
i i
ERA AHAH HEE -A-H EREL EffE EREEIEN TZA=t-R 78 BRfTEE
HK$
bor
Leelalertsuphakun ~ 30.12.2013 69,000 - = (69,000) - 30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023 7.300
Wanee
e ZZ-ZE+ZR=1R ZB-MESAZTHE
“E-MERAZTAA St gl 1
30.12.2013 to 29.03.2015 269,000 - - (269,000) - 30.03.2015 to 29.12.2023 7.300
31.03.2015 31.03.2015 t0 29.09.2015 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025 11.200
ZE-RF=A=1-H ZE-RFZR=1-R%E “2-RENA=TRE
“E-RFAAZTAA S
31.03.2015 to 29.06.2016 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025 11.200
“Z-R%¥=A=t-RHE% “ZT-75/A=THE
ZE-"ERAZTNA ZE-RF=A=TA
31.03.2016 31.03.2016 t0 29.09.2016 293,500 - - - 293,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026 5.754
ZE-7E¥=A=1-H ZE-7EZR=1-R%E B ENA=THE
ZE-RFAAZTAR ZEF=R=1A
31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017 293,500 - - - 293,500 30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026 5.754
“E3-7"¥ZR=t-HE% “E2-t5/A=tRZE
ZE-tE~AZthA ZB-FZA=1H
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 to 12.10.2017 295,000 - - - 295,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027 7.548
ZR-tEMmAT=R “Z-t5MA+=RZ “2-t5+A+=R%
“E-+E+ATZH “EtEMATZR
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018 295,000 - - - 295,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“ET-t¥MA+=RZE - \§tA+=RZ
“F-\EtATzR “RtEmATZA
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 t0 12.10.2018 228,000 - - - 228,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028 11.216
~2-)\§mA+=A “Z-\§MA+=RZ “2-)\§+At+=RZ
“E-\FtATZH “E-\§mATZH
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019 228,000 = = = 228,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028 11.216
—%-\fmA+=RZE “2-NEtRTZRE
“E-NEtATzR “R\EWATZA
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 296,000 - - - 296,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“Z-N\EMATER “Z-N\¥MATEAZ “2-N\5+A+RAZ
“E-NE+ATMA “ECNEMATIA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020 296,000 - - - 296,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“E-N§MATRAZ “Z-TEtATRAZE

200
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37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

The Company (Continued) AL a] (&)
No. of options
BREE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At
1 January during during  lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period per share
i i
ERA RHAH HEE -A-H EREL ERfE FREEIAN TZA=t-R fifH BRfTRE
HK$
BT
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020 294,000 - - - 294,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030 3.648
Z2-ZEMATRA Z2-2ENATRAZE 2-ZETATRAZ
“ZCZ51A1MA “Z-ZFMATMA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021 294,000 - - - 294,000 15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030 3.648
“Z-TENATRAZE “Z--%tRtRAZ
“3--5trATmA “R=ZFWATIA
21.04.2021 21.04.2021 t0 20.10.2021 294,000 - - - 294,000 21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031 5.806
ZEC-EMACT-A ZBRC-EMACT-HE i S35 ey g
“E-F+ACtH “2=-5WAZ1A
21.04.2021 to 20.07.2022 294,000 - - - 294,000 21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031 5.806
i S} ey o e S oy =
St oy = “Z--4NA-TH
25.04.2022 25.04.2022 to 24.10.2022 294,000 - - - 294,000 25.10.2022 to 24.04.2032 2.076
ZBR-CERMACTRR ZZCCFMAZTRAZE E
“B--F+A1MA “Z=-FWAZ1MA
25.04.2022 to 24.07.2023 294,000 - - - 294,000 25.07.2023 to 24.04.2032 2076
ZZCCEMWAZTRAR ZZCEHAZTERAR
e S o 1 —R=_FMAZTEA
Li Xiaoyi 31.03.2015 31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025 11.200
)R “Z-R%=A=1-HR “Z-RE=R=1+-H% “T-REhA=TRE
—2-REhA=thA “RCRF=R=1H
31.03.2015 to 29.06.2016 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025 11.200
“2-Af=A=1-R% “E2-7"E/RA=TRZE
—E-"EAR=thA “ZCRF=R=1H
31.03.2016 31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016 293,500 - - - 293,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026 5.754
—2—$=A=1-R 2 EZR=1-H% 2 ENA=TRZE
S I e = ZRF=R=1H
31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017 293,500 = - - 293,500 30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026 5.754
2 E=A=1t-HZ “3-tF5A=1RZ
“Z-t55A=HhA “2-N5=R=1H
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 to 12.10.2017 295,000 - - - 295,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“Z-t5MmA+=R “I-tEMAT=RZE “Z-tF+R+ZHEE
i S ZRCtFWATZA
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018 295,000 - - - 295,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027 7.548
Z2-tEMA+=RZE “Z2-\FtA+=RZ
2 \ftAtZH ZB-HEMATCR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

The Company (Continued) AL a] (&)
No. of options
RIEYE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At
1 January during during  lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period per share
i i
ERA AHAH HEE -A-H EREL EffE EREEIEN TZA=t-R 78 BRfTEE
HK$
bor
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018 228,000 - = = 228,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028 11.216
Z2-/\EmAT=E —Z-\fNATZRE “Z-\#tA+=ZRZ
“E-\E+ATZR “EC\EMATZA
13.04.2018 to0 12.07.2019 228,000 S 5 = 228,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028 11.216
“T-\fNAT=RE “Z-NEtRTEHEE
ST NELATCR =
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 296,000 - - - 296,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029 7.34
ZE-NEMATRR “E2-NENATRRZE “E2-NETRATRRZE
ZE-NETATRA “ER-AENATEA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020 296,000 - - - 296,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029 7324
“I-/ENATRAZE “Z-RELATRAER
—3-Z5LATMA “RCNEWATIA
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020 294,000 = = = 294,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030 3.648
ZEZCZENATRA “Z-TENATRAZ “Z-TETATRAZE
ZECTETATRA ZE=ZENATREA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021 294,000 - - - 294,000 15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030 3.648
“Z-TENATRAZE —3--FtPt+REAZ
ZE--%tATRA =ZEWATImA
21.04.2021 21.04.2021 to 20.10.2021 294,000 = = = 294,000 21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031 5.806
ZEC-EMACT-A ZBRC-EMACT-RE i S35 ey
ZE-F+ACtH “2=-5WAZ1A
21.04.2021 to 20.07.2022 294,000 = = = 294,000 21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031 5.806
“Z--4mA=t+-B% i S ey =

St o =
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

The Company (Continued) K] (4&)
No. of options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At
1 January during during  lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period per share
i St i St
ERA RHAH GBS -A-H EREL FRITE  FREERAN TZA=+-R 18 BRfTiERE
HK$
AT
Category II:
o
Employees 05.04.2013 05.04.2013 to 04.10.2013 150,000 - - (150,000) - 05.10.2013 to 04.04.2023 5.620
E5 —Z-=¥mARA “2-Z#MARAZE “E-ZFtRARRZE
ZE2-ZETRNA ZE-=¥mARA
05.04.2013 to 04.07.2014 150,000 - - (150,000) - 05.07.2014 to 04.04.2023 5.620
“T--£mARAZE “I-RELARAE
—E-MELARA ZE-=4MANA
30.12.2013 30.12.2013 t0 29.12.2014 604,000 - - (604,000) - 30.12.2014 t0 29.12.2023 7.300
ZB-=H+-A=tR  ZZ-=FtZA=tRZE “E2-WET-A=1HE
“Z-ME+-A-TAR ZZC=E+-A-TAR
30.12.2013 t0 29.12.2015 620,000 - - (620,000) - 30.12.2015 t0 29.12.2023 7.300
“E2-RET-A=1HZE
ZRCEETZAZTAR
30.12.2013 to0 29.12.2016 650,000 - - (650,000) - 30.12.2016 to 29.12.2023 7.300
ZF-=§1ZR=1RE 3 EtZA=1RZE
“Z-EtZA=ThR ZZC=E+-A-TAR
07.10.2014 07.10.2014 to 29.06.2015 300,000 - - - 300,000 30.06.2015 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“Z-METATA “Z-METATAZ —T-R%/ A=TRZE
—2-R%~A-thA ZR-METAAR
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2015 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2015 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“2-METALARE “E-R%FtAZRZE
—2-R%tAzH “E-METARR
07.10.2014 to 29.06.2016 300,000 B - - 300,000 30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“Z-METATAZ “E-AEAR=TRZE
Z3-"ErAZTIA ZR-mETARR
07.10.2014 t0 02.10.2016 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2016 to 06.10.2024 10.340
Z2-METALAE “E2-~EFtAZRZE
“B-rETAZR “E2-METARR
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2017 250,000 B - - 250,000 03.10.2017 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“Z-METATRZE “Z-t§1RZR%
“3-t51AzR “RCMETARR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

The Company (Continued) KR aE](4&)
No. of options
BiREsE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At
1 January during during  lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period per share
i St i St
ERA RHAH BEH -A-H FREL FRTE  FMEERAN TZAZ1+-R 1159 BRfTER
HK$
AT
03.10.2017 03.10.2017 to 02.10.2018 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2018 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“I-t51A=H “T-tETAZRE “Z-)\§tRZR%
—2-N\F+AZR ZE2oHETACR
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2019 250,000 = = = 250,000 03.10.2019 to 02.10.2027 6.190
ZR-tETAZHEE “B-NETAZHE
“E-NF+AZR I 5 =
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2020 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2020 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“ET-tETAZRE “P-TETAZRE
55 ZE2oHETACR
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2021 500,000 = = = 500,000 03.10.2021 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“B-tE+AZHE —B--£1+f=AF
“Z--51+A2R “ECtEACR
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2021 3,525,000 - - - 3,525,000 15.10.2021 to 14.04.2030 3.648
ZZ-TENATRA “Z-TEMATRAR ZZ--§1RTRER
—2--51A1mA —3=Z5MATMA
15.04.2020 to 14.04.2023 3,525,000 = = = 3,525,000 15.04.2023 to 14.04.2030 3.648
“Z-ZEMATRAZ ZBR-ZENATRAZE
ZZZ=FMATMA ZZ-THNATRA
23.10.2020 23.10.2020 to 22.10.2021 500,000 - - - 500,000 23.10.2021 to 22.10.2030 5310
“ECFETACTEA ZECEETA-tERE
i S ey =
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2022 500,000 = = = 5.310
ZR-ZETA-TZAZ
- S5 ey =
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2023 500,000 - - - 500,000 23.10.2023 to 22.10.2030 5310
ZZCRETACTZER F+A=t=HZE
e S5 ey = e S ey =
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2024 500,000 = = = 500,000 23.10.2024 to 22.10.2030 5.310

“ZRFA-TZHE
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37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

The Company (Continued) K] (4&)
No. of options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At
1 January during during  lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2023 the year the year the year 2023 Exercise period per share
i St i St
ERA RHAH GBS -A-H EREL FRITE  FREERAN TZA=+-R 18 BRfTiERE
HK$
AT
02.12.2022 02.12.2022 to 01.12.2023 250,000 = = = 250,000 02.12.2023 to 01.12.2032 1.420
“2--E+-A-R “B--F+-f-RZE £+-f=A%
ZECEETCA-H 2 e
02.12.2022 to 02.10.2024 250,000 = = = 250,000 03.10.2024 to 01.12.2032 1.420
ZRoPRETAZEE
2 gl
02.12.2022 t0 02.10.2025 250,000 - B - 250,000 03.10.2025 to 01.12.2032 1.420
S5 il ot =13 “E-RETAZRE
i = —E=_£+-f-R
02.12.2022 t0 02.10.2026 500,000 - - - 500,000 03.10.2026 to 01.12.2032 1.420
£+-A=HZ BRI ETAZHEE
~EHAZE “2="%+-f-H
28,667,000 - - (3,050,000) 25,617,000
Exercisable at the 24,117,000
end of the year
RERAfE
Weighted average HK$5.844 - - HK$7.135 HK$5.690
exercise price
METSER 5.8447%TT = = 7.135%7 569070

There was no option being granted during the year ended 31
December 2023.

During the year 31 December 2023, 3,050,000 options were lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme and
no share option was cancelled.

REE-_Z_=F+_A=t—HILFE  #&
B BAE -

REBE-_ZT_=F+-"A=+—HILEE
3,050,00013 i fk iR iR — F — — FRE AR AEnt &l
ZAGETRE R I R AR AR A ke o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. (RS E (&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) KR aE](4&)
Particulars of share options: FERR AT -
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
REBH TR BRITEE
HK$
BT
05.04.2013 (i) 50% exercisable not less than 6 months but not more than 10 years from 5.620
the date of grant, i.e. 05.10.2013-04.04.2023
—ZE-=FMARH (i) EHRZ50%AENPHREREBSEANERETZRTF(-E—=F+AAH
E-Z - =FP A0 H M) RTE
(ii)  unexercised balance thereof be exercisable not less than 15 months from
date of grant but not more than 10 years, i.e. 05.07.2014-04.04.2023
(i) MARTEZHRENETPRERE AR TAEABTZRTFEIZT—NE+
ARAE-ZT==FMAMAHHE) ATTE
30.12.2013 (i) 1,614,000 options: 50% exercisable not less than 6 months but not more 7.300
than 10 years from the date of grant, i.e. 30.06.2014-29.12.2023; and
in respect of the unexercised balance thereof be exercisable not less
than 15 months but not more than 10 years from the date of grant, i.e.
30.03.2015-29.12.2023
“E-=F1TZA=1tR (1) 1,614,000 - B 250% A ENDRERE REEANERERZR+F
(=ZE—MFEAA=+REZZT_=F+=A=Z+ N BEME)RTTE ; MBEERRT
R2HEms @ IETNPREREEHEATREABTER+HF (IS —hF=
B=+RE-—T-=F+- A=+ A RHHE)ATTE
(ii) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2014 to
29.12.2023
(i) 669,000 EREATN -—_ZE—NF+-_A=+HE-_T-_=F+=-A=-t+HAHHERA
71
(iii) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2015 to
29.12.2023
(iii) 669,000 EREAR_ZF—RAF+_A=1THEZT_=F+-A=-+NLBHHERA
718
(iv) 702,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2016 to
29.12.2023.
(iv) 702,000 BREAIN_T—R"ET_A=1THE-ZT_=F+T A=+ N BHER
78
07.10.2014 (i) 600,000 options: 50% will be exercisable during the period from 10.340
30.06.2015 to 06.10.2024; and 50% will be exercisable during the period
from 30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024
—ZT-WE+A+H (i) 600,0001pfERHE : EHR250% AR -_T—RAFNA=THE-T_MF+AXH
HRRTTEE : R50% AR ZE—A"FANA=TBEZT-_WF+ ANBHRERTTE
(ii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2015 to
06.10.2024
(i) 250,000 EREATR_Z—RF+A=HZ T _WF+A/XBHERITE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. (RS E (&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) K] (4&)
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
R BH TR BRITEE
HK$
BT
(iii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2016 to
06.10.2024
(iii) 250,000 BREAIN —T—RF+A=BE T -5+ A/XHHBAITRE
(iv) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2017 to
06.10.2024
(iv) 250,000 EREAIN_T—+F+A=BZE_T_WF+ ANHBHER/TE
31.03.2015 (i) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.09.2015 to 11.200
30.03.2025
—ZT-RE=A=1+—H (i) 669,000EREAAR_ZE—RFNA=TEE_ZT-_AF=A=THBEERNTTE
(ii) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2016 to
30.03.2025
(i) 669,000 EREAINR="E—"FANA=THE=S-_AF=A=THHFEARTE
31.03.2016 (i) 880,500 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.09.2016 to 5.754
30.03.2026
ZE—RF=A=1+—H (i) 880,500EREIR T —A"FNA=THET - F=A=THHHEARITE
(ii) 880,500 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2017 to
30.03.2026
(i) 880,500 EREAINR=-E—+tFNA=THEZZT=_F=A=THHHEARTE
13.04.2017 (i) 885,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.10.2017 to 7.548
12.04.2027
—ZT—tHFMA+=H (i) 885000EREANR-_ZE—+F+AT=HBE_T_+FMA+-HBERTTE
(ii) 885,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.07.2018 to
12.04.2027
(i) 885,000 EREAIR_T—N\FLAT+=AE=_FT -+ A+ =AHPHEARTE
03.10.2017 (i) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2018 to 6.190
02.10.2027

—Z—tHTA=H (i) 250,000 EREATR_ZE—N\F+A=HE_Z_+F+A-HBHERTE
(ii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2019 to
02.10.2027
(i) 250,000 EREANR=_ZE-—NFT+HA=AZ_T_tF+H - AHBERNTTE
(iii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2020 to
02.10.2027
(iii)y 250,0007 BB ERIN T —_TF+A=HE T +F+ A - HHBEATE
(iv) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2021 to
02.10.2027
(iv) 500,000 ERENNR-_ZE-_—F+HA=AZ="F_tF+ A - AHBERNTTE
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HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. (RS E (&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) KR aE](4&)
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
RHAH T8 BRITEE
HK$
BT
13.04.2018 (i) 684,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.10.2018 to 11.216
12.04.2028
—N\FMA+=H (i) 684,000EREAN_Z—N\FTAT=ZHEZZ/\FOA+_HBERNTTE
(ii) 684,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.07.2019 to
12.04.2028
(i) 684,000 BEREAINR_T-NFLtAT=HEZ-_ZT-N\FHA+-BHHEARNTTE
15.04.2019 (i) 888,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2019 to 7.324
14.04.2029
—NEFEMA+HHE (i) 888,000/EREAN_ZE-—NAFTATAEEZE_Z-_NAFMA+HHEBERNTTE
(ii) 888,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.07.2020 to
14.04.2029
(i) 888,000 BEREAIN T _ZF+ATAHE-_T-NFWA +HBEBEATTE
15.04.2020 (i) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2020 to 3.648
14.04.2030
ZETFMA+AEB (i) 882,000 ERENNR-ZE_TF+A+ABEZT=ZTFMNA +MHEHFEAARITE
(ii) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.07.2021 to
14.04.2030
(i) 882,000 BEREAIN T -_—F+tATAHZE-_ZT=FW A+ B BRERTTE
(iii) 3,525,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2021
to 14.04.2030
(iii) 3,525,000 BREATN —_T-—F+A+ERE-T=2400 8+ HHEATRE
(iv) 3,525,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.04.2023
to 14.04.2030
(iv) 3,525,0000ERETNR_Z_=FMNA+HABE-_T=FM0A+M B HEANTTE
23.10.2020 (i) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2021 to 5.310
22.10.2030
ZZ-ZEHE+TAZTZ=H (i) 500,000 EREATR_ZE_—F+A+=BE_F=CF+ A+ -_BHMERNTT
&
(ii) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2022 to
22.10.2030
(i) 500,000 EREN T —_F+A-+=-HE_ZT="ZF T+ A=+ -_HHRANTT
&
(iii) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2023 to
22.10.2030
(iii) 500,000 BBREAIN_—TE_=F+A-+=B2T=2F + A -+ - HHAENRTT
£
(iv) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2024 to
22.10.2030
(iv) 500,000 EBREN_Z_MNFE+A-_+T=HE_ZT=FF+ -+ _HHEHERTT

%
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HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. (RS E (&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) K] (4&)
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
RHAH 768 BRITEE
HK$
BT
21.04.2021 (i) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 21.10.2021 to 5.806
20.04.2031
—TE-—FPPA-+—H (i) 882,000EREIR T _—F+A-F+—RE_T=—F0F _+AHERTTE
(ii) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 21.07.2022 to
20.04.2031
(i) 882,000 BREAINR T -_—_FtA-+—HAE-T=—FMA—+HHBRTHE
25.04.2022 (i) 588,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 25.10.2022 to 2.076
24.04.2032
—“E-_FPA—+FHH (i) 588,000EREIR S _—_F+A-_+HEEAE_ZT=_FNA _+MNBEHHRIT
i
(ii) 588,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 25.07.2023 to
24.04.2032
(i) 588,000 EBRENR T _=FtA-+HABE-_T=_"FNWA=-+HABERTT
&
02.12.2022 (i) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 02.12.2023 to 1.420
01.12.2032
—ZE-—#+-A=-H (i) 250,000ERETR-_E_=F+-_A-_BE-_T=—"F+_-F—BHERNTE
(ii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2024 to
01.12.2032
(i)  250,000f7BERREAIN T NE+A=HE-"ZT="F+— - BHPHEARTTRE
(iii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2025 to
01.12.2032
(i) 250,000 EANR_—T-_RF+A=ZHE-T="F+_"A—BHERTE
(iv) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2026 to
01.12.2032
(iv) 500,00078EREAIN T - RE+A=HE-"ZT="F+—"F - BHPHERTTRE
20.06.2024 (i) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 20.06.2025 to 1.200
19.06.2034

—EoMEXRAZTH (i) 882,000ERETR _E_AENA-TEE-_ZT=MENA I BBERITE
(ii) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 20.12.2025 to
19.06.2034
(i) 882,000 EREIR T -_AF+-_A=+BE-_T=WF,NA T+ B HERITE
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37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

The following table summarised movements in the Company’s share
options during the year:

Outstanding at

During the year

37.\8R#ET 8 (&)

A2 &) (&)

TRERARREBERFAZEE

Outstanding at

1 January 31 December
2024 FR 2024
R-B-mE Cancelled or R-B= 'fF
—-B—H Granted Exercised lapsed +=ZRA=+-
AR Bt BT Bl EFS EEX] T{E
Directors EZ
Lee Siu Fong TN 4,435,000 588,000 - - 5,023,000
Leelalertsuphakun N
Wanee 4,435,000 588,000 = = 5,023,000
Li Xiaoyi TR 3,847,000 588,000 = - 4,435,000
Total for directors BRI/ BY 12,717,000 1,764,000 - - 14,481,000
Employees ES 12,900,000 = = (1,350,000) 11,550,000
Grand total st 25,617,000 1,764,000 - (1,350,000) 26,031,000

Equity-settled share options are measured at fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share options is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will
eventually become vested.

During the year 2024, options were granted on 20 June 2024,
and the estimated fair values of the options granted on that is
HK$560,000.

During the year 2023, no options were granted.

The fair value was derived by the Binomial Option Pricing Model
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. There were no market conditions associated with the
share option grant.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]

VARG R4 2 BE AR R RIR I Bl 2 A TERTE (1
BEFEMSUERBIGRTZTE) - URBEEZE
PR R B R < A FE - THRIRAKE P
HEHREBB 2D - REBHNABEAREH -

RIZTZMFE  RZTEZEFAAZTHES
FERRiE - MR BEBERE ZBREZ B ATFE
£560,000/8 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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37.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37.BRREEI(E)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AL a] (&)
The following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair AT AFE T NFEEME L EREATER
value of share options granted in year 2024: AZEZEHR
1.  exercise price of HK$1.200; 1. 17{£E1.200/ T ;
2. expected volatility of 47.93%; 2. TEERK1847.93% ;
3.  the options life is 10 years; 3. EREEMHEATSE
4, annualised dividend yield of 1.50%; and 4, FERREZEL1.50% : &
5.  the risk free rate of 3.57%. 5. EERAE3.57% °
The expected volatility is determined by using the historical volatility TEHR 08 ThFE R B AR A A A AN R RI AR (B 2 FE
of the Company’s share price over option life. Annualised dividend FIRIEETE - FIEREEAELRERER - =
yield are based on historical dividends. Changes in the subjective Bl ABBRBR R LIRS E A TE 2 A Al HEK
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate. BEATE -
The Group has recognised an expense of HK$406,000 for the year HE-_ZT-_NWFE+_A=1+—HLEE ' x5E
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$793,000) in relation to share BN AR 2 BB R 2 F2 406,000
options granted by the Company. BIT(ZZT =% : 793,000/87T) °
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38.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“"MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately, there is no forfeited
contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contribution.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$754,000 (2023:
HK$754,000) represents contributions payable to the MPF Scheme
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Taiwan
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated
by the government of the PRC and Taiwan. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits is to make the
specified contributions.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]

38. EERNKEF

ERE RN E

REBREBEEBRHIME B EED REEM
FREREEEHAFERTESE([BRER
B RESHEACEERLAEBEZEENH
BE ABUITABRHZESREE - RIER
BEHE BEXIRHERSEAARESMABYK
AZ5% st BIfEHHER - B AEBEBALRS
30,000/8 7T ° TEIFUREIR B8 - WEA] AR EE
B ARRIRIR S FOK T 2 BIZ MR -

RIEE AR Z754,000 8 T(Z =% :
754,00078 7T ) #2522 A S B2 AT B RIAR AT
Bt RAMBED T EI 2 HR -

AEETREBENBARZEERTERAE
BUTEEZ R ERRRENFE 2K E - B
AAHRIRTERAZ R E B 7 AR KER G
BT MERBHREHRES - ARERERNKE
MERARE 2 EERIERFEHRK -



38.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(CONTINUED)

Defined benefit plan

Retirement benefits scheme represents the retirement benefits
provided to certain directors of the Company in accordance with
their service contract (as supplemented).

Each of the eligible directors will be entitled to lump sum payment
upon retirement and monthly pension payment after retirement if
he/she has engaged in continuous service with the Group for certain
years.

The carrying amount of the retirement benefits represents the
cost of providing benefits determined by valuation conducted by
independent valuer at the end of the reporting period, amortised
over the expected average remaining working lives of the eligible
employees. The fair value of the retirement benefits at 31 December
2024 was valued by Peak Vision Appraisal Limited, an independent
professional valuer not connected to the Group. The fair value is
measured by using discounted cash flows method to capture the
present value of the expected future economic benefits that will flow
out of the Group arising from the retirement benefits. The valuation
is considered to be level 3 in the fair value measurement hierarchy
due to unobservable inputs used in the valuation. Details of key
unobservable inputs are as follows:

-\
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements <&~
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

38.EERHKER (&)

EHEE a1 &

RIREHF B AERRBEE O EHT)RAARF
ETERRHEZRKET -

BEEREFMEEHERBASEE TFE
AEENERRZE —FBFARREREES
BREKSE -

RNENZ RE SR ARMEMN KA - THiRE
MHERR IR EARITET 2 MEEE - XiRE
BiRER 2 AR T TIEFHEE - RIKE
MR- -ME+ - A=+—HZRFEDIHRR
#EHEER AR (EAKE Y SRS 2 B FEMA
BN EE - ATFERAERRSREEMSHEA
RRAER T AR B 2 TR AR KRB a2 3
BFFE - ERAEEEA T AIBREARE - 4E
BRBATHEFESRZIE=R - TETAEE
BABBRABIT

2023
ZTI=F

TR S
g R

Discount rate
Salary growth rate

6.65%-7.61%
2.28%-10.00%

Provision for retirement benefits was accrued in the consolidated
financial statements but the retirement benefits scheme was not
established up to the date of this report. Thus, no actuarial gain or
loss is considered.

During the year, HK$12,690,000 provision for retirement benefits
(2023: HK$13,870,000 reversal of provision) was recognised in
profit or loss.

RINENB NG M REANE - BERER
HEBH - RNEFIF R MR - Btk - T
ZRERKEKEE -

FER - NEEAER 12,690,000 7T R K42 F
B (—ZT =4 :13,870,000/8 TE{ERE ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

39.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows are, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

39. AREERHMEE 2REZ
AR

TRAMIEASERRAEHMEE L BEZ
""""" By ERERIFREE ARAEHME
EZEEDEREREIRRASREEREE
ZEARERERANRERBERZHMERER

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing E28E-
activities.
Interest
payable
(included in
other
payables Bank Lease
and accruals) borrowings liabilities Total
EAFRE
(FFAHA
FERRER
PEstER) RITER HEAE #gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
(Note 32) (Note 33)
(BI5E32) (H7E33)
At 1 January 2023 RZZE==F—A—H - 154,090 9,404 163,494
Changes from financing BERESHEEH :
cash flows:
New loans raised FIEER - 104,266 - 104,266
Repayment of loans BEER - (68,933) - (68,933)
Repayment of lease EEREARE
liabilities - - (11,477) (11,477)
Other changes: Hith @5
Interest payable FERFILE 10,614 - 663 11,277
Interest paid BERFE (10,402) - - (10,402)
New leases entered/lease FETHE ETHE
modified - - 12,893 12,893
Exchange rate adjustments  [EXFH# - (140) (98) (238)

At 31 December 2023 and R-_E-_=F+=-A=+—AH

1 January 2024 k=T mNE—A—H
Changes from financing FEREHEE :
cash flows:
New loans raised EER
Repayment of loans BEER
Repayment of lease EEHEAR
liabilities
Other changes: Hitg s
Interest payable FERFILE
Interest paid BRFE
New leases entered/lease HAHE fEaTHE
modified
Exchange rate adjustments  [E&RFHE
At 31 December 2024 RZT-_ME+—A=+—H

12,982
(12,774)

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]

189,283 200,880

183,919 183,919
(158,097) (158,097)

(10,116) (10,116)

841 13,823
- (12,774)

- , 11,634
(1,240) (1,551)

213,865 ! 227,718
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HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

40.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. EXREILE
2023
—To=fF
HK$'000
FHT
Capital commitments contracted for: ERTISETH ZERERE
Investment in financial assets at fair value  RIEAFEZBEMEERETIRZ
through other comprehensive income MBEEZIRE 16,556
Intangible assets - license fee and B EE—BFBRAZKR
development cost 100,081
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 26,159
142,796
41.PLEDGE OF ASSETS 41. EEER
There were no assets being pledged as at 31 December 2024. RZZBZMFE+-—A=+—HIWEEREE -
At 31 December 2023, the Group has pledged deposits for bill RZE_=F+=-A=+—8 ' ~"EEDHEF
payable amounting to HK$2,192,000. =R E 2,192,000/ 7T °
42.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42. REE
Financial guarantee to associates BB & 2 Al A T IE (R
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had contingent liabilities RZTE-ZMNE+=ZA=+—H ' '  ~X&EEH
amounting to HK$13,000,000 (2023: HK$13,000,000) in respect of 13,000,000% c(=ZZ =4 : 13,000,000%
financial guarantees given to bank for the banking facilities granted TO)SABE - RS QR ERRITRER
to associate. Total HK$12,967,000 (2023: HK$$12,879,000) has SRITIEH S ERBR - 63£12,967,0007% T
been unutilised by the associate. (ZZT =4 :12,879,000/8 7T ) (4 A &L ax B &
AEIBA o
The directors of the Company have performed as assessment on ARREZEZCHZEE QNRETTME YRR
the associate and considered there was a significant increase of ZE-MFEENZARMEREEM - Bt
probability of default in year 2024. Accordingly, HK$12,967,000 HEZZ-_MF+-_A=+—HILFEEFR
provision has been made for the year ended 31 December 2024 12,967,000 @B (Z T == : THIT) °

(2023: HK$Nil).
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43.RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.
Details of the balances between the Group and the related parties
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are disclosed in notes 27 and
28 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of transactions
between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties. In the opinion of the directors, the following
transactions arose in the ordinary course of the Group’s business:

(a) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and key management during
the year was as follows:

43. BB AR S

ARREAMBAR(RERBZ@E T M2
BERFGNEAREREE - WERAKER
B ZK%@E@EEH&%EEA_;_EE&_ =

TZA=t+—HZHBEFS

REFA P BRRME

27N 28WEE o ANRBHEEMEEN TR 2 X 5B

AT XAREE

FRAEEBRBABAETUNTRS - EER
B THRBDRAKEBREBHEL

(a) TEEEANEZ IR

FAEERE

2024
—E-mF
HK$’000

TET

23,709
251

12,708

Short-term benefits pSEEEER]

Share-based payments AR 4% 2 5/ 38

Retirement benefits and other post- RNEF R E B R
employment benefits

- Defined contribution plan —ERRHHKETE

- Retirement benefits —RKRER

18
12,690

36,668

The remuneration of directors and key management is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi i B IR A 7

BEBASZEHMOT :

2023
—T-=4F
HK$’000
FAT
18,763
211

13,888

18
13,870

32,862

BERERIEERBABZHHAOFNEES
BEREARBRTNEBBEET -
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HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

43.RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS  43.BEA X5 (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transaction with associates (b) EEE LG zX5
2023
o=
HK$'000
FHBIT
Purchase of consumables TR EREm -
Service expenses BRTsZ -
(c) Donation to Lee’s Pharmaceutical (c) IERAXER — FHEFS
- Kanya Lee Scholarship Limited BELHRA A ([ EHEFS
("Kanya Lee Scholarship”) B2 |)EL 15kt
During the year ended 31 December 2024, a total of REBEEZZT-_NE+_A=+—HLHF
HK$664,000 (2023: HK$1,650,000) was donated to Kanya B mEMES REEIBEE £664,000
Lee Scholarship. Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee and Ms. Lee BIL(ZFE==% :1,650,000/7T) ° &
Siu Fong, director of the Company, are also a member of RAEETER LT RBPNFLZTNAE
key management of Kanya Lee Scholarship and Kanya Lee HEBEFRES /7 FEZEEENKE @ MEL
Scholarship is considered as a related party to the Group. FEREBSWRANEE 2 M o
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HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

44.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

In November 2023, the Group, through an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (HK) Limited, subscribed and Lee
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ("Lee Thailand”) issued 50%
of the total issued share capital of Lee Thailand. Lee Thailand is
engaged in trading of drugs. Upon completion of the subscription,
Lee Thailand became a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.
The transaction has been accounted for by the acquisition method of

44. B —BHELQFE

RZZEZ=F+—-—A FEEHEB—HEHEE
2EMBARIEIEE (FB)BRIAREM
Lee Pharmaceutical Company Limited([Lee
Thailand |) #77Lee ThailandE & 778 AN 458
250% © Lee Thailandt F&ERE HER - X
REEEEN % © Lee Thailandi BA%LE 2 3E
2EMBAR - ZIERHEEARBEHEALR -

accounting.
Consideration transferred EEZEAE
HK$'000
FHT
Cash consideration BeRE 780

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised
at date of acquisition

RWIE AN IE 2 BERBERZ
BE

HK$'000
FAT

Non-current asset FREEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BER&E 4
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 205
Other receivables H A EUGRIR 361
Bank balances RITHEER 780
Current liability REAE
Other payables H R RIE (723)
Net assets recognised EHRREEFE 627

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interest (50%) in Lee Thailand recognised at the
acquisition date was measured by reference to the proportionate
share of amounts of net asset recognised and amounted to
HK$313,000.

218 Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K34 A% A R A &)

IR FE 2

MU BE B BAFE 32 2 Lee Thailand 3F 4% A% # 25
(50%) h2BHHEREEFESELHIF
£ A#313,0008 7T °
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HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

44.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 44, Wi —RIRT A 7 ()
(CONTINUED)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEELZHE
HK$’000
FHET
Consideration transferred BHEEAE 780
Add: Non-controlling interest N ek 313
Less: Net assets recognised B EEREEFE (627)
Goodwill recognised B REREE 466
None of the goodwill arising on acquisition is expected to be BB A 2 PR TR —BE AT 07 ©
deductible for tax purpose.
Net cash inflow on acquisition WBELZRERAFE
HK$’000
FHEIT
Cash consideration paid BENRERE 780
Less: Cash and cash equivalent acquired of B BB ESRESEE (780)
Impact of acquisition on the result of the g g E5-prd 7 4
Group
Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 is HE-Z-=F+=-RA=+—HIEFEZ&HNF
approximately HK$Nil result attributable to the additional business BN Lee ThailandFTE£FEINETS 2 @ REA R
generated by Lee Thailand. THIT ©
Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2023, in the RAREERE  WMZERER-_T_=F—A
opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s revenue and —HEZX - AEEZFAKE K aFTEXE
profit for the year would not be materially impacted. BATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

45.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

1.

General information of subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2024 are set out as follows:

Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered
subsidiary operations share capital
FRERL/ HRERT/
WEAREE B/ mend R85 e
Lee's Pharmaceutical British Virgin Ordinary USs$1
International Limited Islands
Lee's Pharmaceutical RERTHS Lak e
International Limited
LPH Investments Limited Cayman Islands ~ Ordinary US$100
LPH Investments Limited  fI&E& Lak 10057
LPH II Investments Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$100
Limited
LPH II Investments HEHE LR 100X
Limited
China Cardiovascular British Virgin Ordinary US$1
Focus Limited Islands
HELNERERRAA HBEIES LER 1=n
Guangzhou Zhao Kang ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$19,000,000
Hospital Co. Ltd*
(Note a)
BMERERARLE HE #RRA 19,000,000% 7T
(Ffzxa)
Lee’s Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Ordinary HK$18,400,000
(HK) Limited
FRAEH(BH)ERAR B8 LER 18,400,000/ 7T
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000
(HK) Limited
KHEE(FR)ERAR A LR 1,000,000/7C
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$2,000,000
(Hefei) Co. Limited*
(Note a)
kEx(AE)ERAR  HE ARMBA 2,000,000

(Hfta)

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]

45. X R BT EMB R EFE

1. HEBAAZ—KEH

ARRFEMBRARIN-_Z-_NF+_A
=+—BZFBHINT

Proportion ownership interest

Directly
Ef

2024
“BomE

100%

held by the Company

RRAFHE 2 ARERL A
Indirectly
GE]

2024
ZBIpE

2023
ZEI=F

Principal
activities

TEER

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Investment holding
REER
Investment holding
RERKR
Investment holding

RARR

Investment holding
RERR

Hospital and medical
care

I

Investment holding
and trading of
pharmaceutical
products

RERRREEER

Investment holding

Manufactures and sale
of pharmaceutical
products

REREEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-_A=1+—HIFE

45.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45. AR R X EME A RS (&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries 1. WEBRAEZ—REF (&)

(Continued)

Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/

Name of registration/ Class of registered Proportion ownership interest Principal

subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company activities

ML/ ARERT/
WEARER R/ mgnd RAER EfRA KARFHE 2 ARERLA FEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# Gt
2024 2024 2023
L -3 = by —T-=F

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$16,000,000 - 100% 100% Trading of
(Guangzhou) Limited* pharmaceutical
(Note a) products

KHEZ(BENERAR  ©E BRRA 16,000,000% 7T EE4R
(Hfsta)

Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$1,000,000 100% Trading of
Fa Pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
Limited* (Note a) products

BMARBEBEERAT  HE BRRA 1,000,000%7C EEEqm
(Kiska)

Zhaoke Lian Fa PRC Paid-up capital RMB900,000 100% Not yet commenced
(Guangzhou) business
Biotechnology Limited*

(Note a)

KRB (BN EDRBER B BRBRA ARH900,0007 HARRERE
Ra)(fitzra)

Zhaoke Lian Fa PRC Paid-up capital RMB500,000 100% Not yet commenced
(Guangzhou) Logistic business
Limited* (Note a)

KRB (BN IRERAR HE BRRA ARH500,0007 HARRERHE
(Hita)

Zhaoke Lian Fa PRC Paid-up capital RMB1,500,000 100% Not yet commenced
(Guangzhou) Business (2023: business
Services Limited* RMB500,000)

(Note a)

BB (BN EBRSRER HE ARMBA AE1,500,0007 HARRER

PEIGEE) (=% : AR%

500,0007c)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fre MRS ERER MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

45.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries
(Continued)
Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered
subsidiary operations share capital
HRAL/ ARERT/
WEARER R/ mgnd RAER e
Lee’s Pharmaceutical Taiwan Ordinary NTD1,000,000
Taiwan Limited*
(Note a)
REFREXERAR A LRk #75%1,000,0007
(fitsta)
Lee's Pharm Genomics Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1
Lab Limited
FRAEHEREREER B8 LR AT
A7
Dreamboat Ventures British Virgin Ordinary US$1
Limited Islands
Dreamboat Ventures HBRIES LER 1En
Limited
Lee's Keno Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1
Limited
PRAHBERRAR B LR 1B
Beijing Keno PRC Paid-up capital Nil
Pharmaceutical
Technology Limited*
(Note b)
PRUFBERRARAA  HE #RRA z
(FizEb)
CVie Therapeutics Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$135,000
Company Limited
REAGEMAEERAT  REES LEk 135,000% 7T

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A ZEE2 it AR A 7

45. A AR EEWE L RS (&)

Proportion ownership interest

~BopE

held by the Company

RAFFEE 2 FARERL A
Directly
E#

2024

1. HBRAZ—KEX (&)

Principal
activities
FEEH
Indirectly
i
2024 2023
b kY —2-=F
100% 100% Trading of
pharmaceutical
products
BE4m
100% Drug development and

100%

100%

51%

56.26%

56.26%

service
EnRE kRS

Investment holding

RERR

Not yet commenced
business

HARGRET

Marketing and selling
of pharmaceutical
device

BRSNS RERAE

Development
and trading of
pharmaceutical
products

EPEEE



45.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements \'_"/

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

c

e ABAFERE I N

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

45. A AR EEBWE L RS (&)

(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries 1. WBREZ—MREF (&)
(Continued)
Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered Proportion ownership interest Principal
subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company activities
TR/ AR/
MEARER R/ mgnd RAER EMRA NG ie=2 = PeAiig =y 3 ad ] TEEHR
Directly Indirectly
B i
2023 2023
—ET--F —2--F
China Oncology Focus British Virgin Ordinary US$226,200 = 65% Development of
Limited Islands oncology products
HEREREERAT EBRUES Tk 226,005 FREEEER
Zhaoke (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 65% Development of
Oncology oncology products
Pharmaceutical Limited
KEHER)ERENERAR &% LR 10,0007 REBEER
Zhaoke (Guangzhou) PRC Paid-up capital US$9,640,000 = 65% Development of
Oncology oncology products
Pharmaceutical Limited*
(Note a)
KEHEM)BRENERAR HE BRBA 9,640,000%7T REEEER
(Fizra)
Lee Pharmaceutical Thailand Ordinary THB5,000,000 - 51% Trading of drugs
Company Limited
Lee Pharmaceutical el D 5,000,000k ERE5
Company Limited
i3 For identification purpose only £ [ELeE9]
Notes: BEx -
a. These are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises. a. UL RINGBE R
b. These are sino-foreign equity joint enterprises. b. HARPINGERERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

45.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

2. Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests
The table below show details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests at the

end of the current year:

Proportion of

zzx; Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. A AR EEWE L RS (&)

2. BEEAHZKEZZ
HEEWBLAZFE

TRERAEERAFEREEERIFZE
s 2 JERAMBRRZFHS -

Place of ownership interests and
incorporation/ voting rights held by Profit/(Loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary operations non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
FRRERFEE
WEAREE BaAVE S-Sk FERERRREELS ARTFFERER BN/ (HB) ZitFERER

2024

2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

—E-ME “E-=F k- 112 ZTZ=F k- S 13 “E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiET TR T

China Oncology Focus Limited British Virgin Islands 35.00% 35.00% (23,011) (66,861) (43,700)

("COF") (Note)
PEREERARLAF(COF)) (M) HERKES

Note: Include its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Summarised financial information in respect of Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is
set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

fis: BEHZAMBRE -

BRBRAEAERER  AKEHER
AZHMBERBERINNT - ATHBE
K2 AR EE AN A RIS HAT 2 258 -

COF and its subsidiaries
COFRHEMBEATR
2024 2023
—EoME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx AT

133,516

217,519 170,933

530,598 348,448

11,469

(124,171) (81,157)

Current assets MENEE

Non-current assets B EE

Current liabilities mEEE

Non-current liabilities JEMEBE

Equity attributable to the owners of the  ANAFHA AEGREZ
Company

Non-controlling interests PR i

(66,861) (43,700)

224  Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEmRis it AR A &



45.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

2.

Details of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (Continued)

BHE_T-NF+_A=1+—HILFE

45. A AR EEBWE L RS (&)

BEEAHZRER ZHE
ERB LAl ZF1E ()

COF and its subsidiaries
COFREMEATR

Year ended Year ended
2024 2023

BZE BZE
—E_MF —E_=4F
WHFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx THETL

Revenue ez 68,705 23,179
Expenses sz (134,452) (12,614)
(Loss)/Profit for the year REE (F18) SwF (65,747)

(Loss)/Profit attributable to the owners
of the Company

(Loss)/Profit attributable to the non-
controlling interests

AARGER AL (B51R), 5 F]

TR R (S (B51R), s T

(42,736)

(23,011)

Loss for the year

REREIR

(65,747)

Other comprehensive expense
attributable to the owners of the
Company

Other comprehensive expense
attributable to non-controlling
interests

KRR AELEMEEFX

IR RS L 2R

(278)

(150)

Other comprehensive expense for the
year

AEZEMPEAX

(428)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income
attributable to the owners of the
Company

Total comprehensive (expense)/
income attributable to non-controlling
interests

AREHEE ARERE(FR), W
R

IR R S 2 mE (A s) Was
B

(43,014)

(23,161)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income
for the year

AEEEE(FRX),MameE

(66,175)

Dividend paid to non-controlling
interests

[EENE ZES e 3wl &)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating
activities

rEEBRe(RH) MAFE

(62,941)

Net cash outflow from investing
activities

REABDRSMHIFR

(43,860) (6,125)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing
activities

METBHREMA(ORh)FE

137,132 (5,775)

Net cash inflow/(outflow)

REMA/ ) FE

30,331
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARe SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

45.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

3.

Change in ownership interest in
subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2024

In February 2024, the Group sold 1,000 shares in Lee Thailand
to a third party for a consideration of US$4,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$31,000) and upon completion, the Group’s
shareholding in Lee Thailand in decreased from 51% to 49%.

Although the Group has only 49% equity interests in Lee
Thailand, the directors of the Company conclude that the
Group has control over the board of Lee Thailand in directing
its relevant operating and financing activities on the basis
of the Group’s shareholding. The 51% equity interest in Lee
Thailand are owned by few individuals with none of them is
holding more than 40%.

As the Group retained control Lee Thailand, the Group
recognised a gain on partial disposal of interests in a
subsidiary of approximately HK$22,000 under “other reserves”
within equity, and an increase in non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$9,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

In December 2023, the Group further acquired 1% equity
interest in Lee Thailand from the existing non-controlling
interests for consideration of US$2,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$15,000) and upon completion, the Group’s
shareholding in Lee Thailand is increased from 50% to 51%.

As the Group retained control over Lee Thailand, the Group
recognised a loss on acquisition of additional interest in a
subsidiary of approximately HK$9,000 under “other reserves”
within equity, and a decrease in non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$6,000.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]

45. A AR EEWE L RS (&)

BB 1 A R 2 B

BE-Z-_NF+-A=+—HL
EE

RZZEZWFEZA  AEBRA—BEFE=H
{1 £1,000/%Lee Thailandifn @ RIEA
4,000 (HHSH#31,000%7T) - N7
g - AEERLee Thailand 2 # i E
51% T FEZE49% °

BENEBEE B Lee Thailand 2 49%
B ARREERA  ERAEEZ
iR E - AEBETEERLee Thailand 2 48
i kB /EE) S M¥Lee Thailandz
EFSHAEHE - ®Lee Thailand
51%MEHVEEARE - MESWET
A —F A BIBA0%HE

AR ANEERELee Thailand Z {251 -
AEEEERZAZ[ G RS —
I BT BB 1 R B D 25 2 UK 25 #922,000 7%
TC v JEFERRRERS RIE AN499,00078 T -

BE-Z_=F+=-HA=+—HL
£

RZTB-_=F+—"F  AEBERIRAEIFE
i Lee Thailand 2 1%M%#E - £
8/2,0003% T (1851 4715,00087T) -
Rk » AEERLee Thailand Z #A%
2H50%-HZ%E51% °

BN AEERE Lee Thailand Z il -
REEERER N 2 [ AR R
BRA ez 2 B1E 49,0008 7T © JFiE
Pz AIlR 496,000/ 7T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

46.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

( o

RE R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-_A=1+—HIFE

46. A2 R BARR R K B

POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE

COMPANY

2024 2023
—EomE —Eo=fF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHExT FHTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHB ARz s 690,365 718,621
Investment in associates REEE QR ZRE 4,206 5,045
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEEBERIIRZMBEE
profit or loss 8,325 8,264
Financial assets at fair value through other 1R A V(&% BH M 2 E U5 8R 2 B 75
comprehensive income BE 103,991 136,897
806,887 868,827
Current assets REEE
Amount due from a subsidiary FEUR— B BB A R ZIE 34,981 -
Other receivables, deposits and HAnfEUWGRIR - =e RIBNRIE
prepayments 16,298 14,526
Tax recoverable ATYEIRE IR - 522
Cash and bank balances R RRITEH 497 7,586
51,776 22,634
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals HA e RIE R ERE A 12,048 16,036
Financial guarantee liabilities MBEREE 12,967 -
Tax payables FERLIE 125 -
25,140 16,036
Net current assets REEEZRE 26,636 6,598
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRARBARS 833,523 875,425
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital (&N 29,442 29,442
Reserves L] 666,110 718,635
Total equity s 695,552 748,077
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Other payables and accruals HibENFIERESER 15,181 17,248
Retirement benefits BIRIEF] 122,790 110,100
137,971 127,348
833,523 875,425

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2025 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Siu Fong
FNF
DIRECTOR
X

RRAFBRRARER T AF=A=++tH
REFSERREAM  THTIIEFRRE
E

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
ZEHEYE
DIRECTOR
EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NWFE+-A=1+—HIFE

46.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

46. 71 T B HEAR R 2= I A 48 (7

Movement in the Company’s reserves AREZ B EZE
Share-based Investments
Share Merger  compensation revaluation Retained
premium difference reserve reserve profits Total
NRBEHZ
RiEE AltEE Hekk REERRE REwEd 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin T i i Thn Fin
At 1 January 2024 RZZ-mF-A-A 720,091 52,138 (132,237) 718,635
Employee share option benefits [EEERERT 406 = 406
Share options lapsed BAERE (5,581) - -
Profit for the year TFEE = o 4,746
Other comprehensive expenses forthe  AEEEHZEFT
year
- Fair value changes of financial -RATERAE M2 LT
assets at fair value through other R OBAE ATEED
comprehensive income (40,012) (40,012)
Total comprehensive (expenses)/income  AFE2E(Fx) /WE4E
for the year (40,012) 4,746 (35,266)
2023 final dividend paid BNZE-=EXKEkS (5,888) (5,888)
2024 interim dividend paid BR-2-MERERE - (11,777) (11,777)
At 31 December 2024 R-F-RE+-A=1-A 720,091 (172,249) 62,105 666,110
At 1 January 2023 R=E-=%-A-H 720,091 9,200 61,792 (144,945) 39,450 685,588
Employee share option benefits [BEERERR = = 793 = = 793
Share options lapsed BRMERE = - (10,447) - 10,447 -
Profit for the year TERRT - - - - 30,145 30,145
Other comprehensive income for the year  AEE 2%
- Fair value changes of financial -RATERALHZERES]
assets at fair value through other B OKEELATERD
comprehensive income = = = 12,708 = 12,708
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ A£E2ANEEE - - - 12,708 30,145 42,853
2022 final dividend paid BHZZ-ZExERs = s = = (5,888) (5,888)
2023 interim dividend paid BR-2-=FHRE i : = = (4711) (4711)
At 31 December 2023 RZF==F+=A=1-A 720,091 9,200 52,138 (132,237) 69,443 718,635

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K ZEEZE AL A R A 7]




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-NWF+-_A=1+—RHIFE

47.0PERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 47.&%&HE%RH

The Group as lessor AEBERLHFAA
The Group usually, as a lessor, entered into leasing arrangements AEB—RUEAEBEAIIAB—ZE=F 27
for a period of 1 to 3 years. ExHE -
Undiscounted lease payments receivables by the Group in future AEERARREEARZEETR ST 2 A
periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as LERSEU RFEEERNZET ¢
follows:
2023
T4
HK$’000
FHET
Within one year —FR 3,016
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Definition
Ex

“AGM”
[BERAFAE]

“ANDA”
[{cHgEmss

“Audit Committee”
[EZZEE

“Board” or “Board of Directors”
=

“CDE”

[BEEdhL ]

“CEQ" or “Chief Executive Officer”
[1TEAREL ]

“CG Code”
[fbxER<FAI]

“China”, “Mainland China” or
“the PRC”
[P 5] A B AR |

”ow

“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”, “we” or
“Lee’s Pharm”

(AR [FAM I3 R AREER
“Director(s)”
(&%)

“GMP”

[GMP]

“Group”, “our Group”,
“the Group” or “we”

[RE=E sk FiF]

“HKFRS”
[ BB HEER]

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$"
[%7T]

the annual general meeting of the Company
RRFBRFBEFRE

abbreviated new drug application, an application for a generic drug to an
approved drug in China
fEbRTE: E G - A B B R S e BB R S

the audit committee of the Board
EEEE TNEZZEE

the board of directors of the Company
RRRESS

the Center for Drug Evaluation of NMPA (BIR#mE B EIE RERFIH 1), a division
of the NMPA mainly responsible for review and approval of IND and NDA
BREMEEEERERFTTL  BREERN BN  TZATNEARAERNER
At

chief executive officer
THAEE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
EWARAERCLAE S B A T A

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

MEARAME - AFHRMNE I REES  RPISHITHRRAE

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited

FRAEHIZRER AR
the director(s) of our Company, including all executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors

ARREE  BER2ENTES  FATEERBEVIIRNTES

good manufacturing practice
BEoAEESEERE

the Company and its subsidiaries
ARRREHRE AR

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BB HREER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEFEBRRITRR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEEEERET

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= R ZEERZE AL A R A 7]



“IDL”
[ O 2R e |

“Listing Rules”

[ LRl

“Main Board”

2

”

“Management Committee
[EREEg ]

“Model Code”

“NDA”

[HrEeess ]

“NMPA”

“Nomination Committee”
[REZE®

“NRDL”

[ B {850 B 8%

“R&D"
(73 )

“Remuneration Committee”

[FriNEE =]

“Reporting Year”
[HREFE ]

“RMB”
TAR¥]

“SFO”

(&7 R G5B

Import Drug License
HEOZE RS

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended
or supplemented from time to time
B FTRE S ETARE - NEHERT AT

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the
Stock Exchange

B FTBIEMNEFRR ST (T RIEHETS) - BRI TGEMIT B 2 WTEE

the management committee of the Board
EFeRTHNERZES

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
R BIMERCIFE LM BT ABRETEF R ZHIZESTH

new drug application, an application through which the drug sponsor formally
proposes that the relevant regulatory authority approve a new drug for sales and
marketing

SR - MEMBEERABRBZRR ERER AR ERIBERSHER W

National Medical Products Administration, the institution that performs the
functions of China Food and Drug Administration instead according to the
Institutional Reform Plan of the State Council of the PRC

BREMREEEERR  BETFHEBEKROREBERESR  REERRAEREEEEREITH
BEEVHIE

the nomination committee of the Board

EEEETHIREZES

National Reimbursement Drug List issued by the China National Healthcare
Security Administration
BB R ERRE B 2 ERERNBRRE - THERERAES R EEM B 85

research and development
ISk

the remuneration committee of the Board
EZeRTHFMEES

the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_NWF+=-A=1+—HILFE

Renminbi
AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEREEPIESTIEEF RPEED - LTRRHERT - FFT kAR X B2k
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Definition

“Share(s)”
[ &1 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
(A& 3R

“Stock Exchange”

[ B 22

“United States”

[Z<E ]

“US dollars”, “U.S. dollars”,
“US$” or “USD”

[ZT]

“WBP”
[BamEsR]

“Zhaoke Guangzhou”

RN J

“Zhaoke Hefei”

ke he]

“ZKO"”

[JERLAR R

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company of HK$0.05 each
RRFRAH EAREEO.05E Ty AR

holder(s) of Shares
IR FFE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
BEBMERSMABRAT - REBXGREEMERARNLENEAR

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction
ENBRETE - HEL B ERIHRZEENMEHE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EREERMEET

volume-based procurement
SRR R

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited (JKFIZ52 (EM) AR R A]), a limited
liability company established in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary

of our Company
R (BN ARAR > RPBEKIZEREMEAT - RARANEEEEWNBR A

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited (JKFIZZ (A ) ER A A]), a limited
liability company established in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of our Company

KRHEZE(SIE)ARAR - RPBERI 2 BEREMEAT - RARANEEEEWER A

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands on 20 January 2017 and redomiciled to the Cayman Islands on 2
June 2020 with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 6622)

KEHRRIERAT  RZZE—+F - A+ RAEEBELZESHMKIZERAT TR
“ZFRAZHEBMERSHERERAR] - HROPBRZ IR LT (RHHSE - 6622)

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= R ZEERZE AL A R A 7]
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